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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in
the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report misleading and that all opinions expressed in this report
have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are
fair and reasonable.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
D FET

China CBM Group Company Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) currently conduct the
business of manufacture and sales of liquefied coalbed gas
whose operations are located in the PRC. The Company was
incorporated in Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability in July 2002 and continued in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liabilities in accordance with the
Company Act 1981 (as amended) of Bermuda. It was initially
listed on the GEM (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 12 August 2003.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liquefaction production and sales of natural gas in the PRC.
Headquartered in Beijing. The Group's production of liquefied
coalbed gas is in Shanxi Qinshui Basin which boasts the richest
liquefied coalbed gas, while its distribution network extends to
Shanxi Provinces, etc..

In order to stabilise our natural gas supply and hence raise the
utilisation of our liquefied natural gas (“LNG") plant, the Group
has made significant investment in resources exploration and
exploitation at the coalbed methane blocks located in
Yangcheng, Shanxi since July 2011. The Group had successfully
supplied gas to the LNG plant. The commercial production of
coalbed gas has transformed our Group into a vertically
integrated natural gas company and continued to enhance our
leading position in China’s unconventional gas market.

The Group will adhere to the principle of “social responsibility is
of overriding importance” while exploring and developing in the
new energy sector with an aim to provide the world with high-
quality clean energy and keep improving and promoting the
harmonious coexistence of man and nature.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2024
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the audited financial results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

OVERALL BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, we have achieved the goal of turning
ourselves into a vertically integrated natural gas producer with
complete value chain businesses. We have established a
complete business process covering Coalbed Methane (“CBM”)
extraction, liquefaction, pipelines and highway transportation,
distribution network and technical services. As at 31 December
2024, we have completed the groundwork and drilling of 235
wells in the Yangcheng gas block which resulted in stable
increase of the number of production wells and gas output.

EXTRACTION AND PRODUCTION BUSINESS
REVIEW

During 2024, the construction of new wells was somewhat
affected by our focus on improving capabilities of production
wells. As at 31 December 2024, we have completed the ground
work and drilling of a total of 235 CBM wells, of which 170 wells
were operating wells with stable production since they had been
put in operation. Thanks to the stable gas output in gas blocks,
the Group has generated revenue, profit and cash flow from the
business of exploitation of natural gas, and its profitability and
cash flow position will be further improved as the number and
capabilities of production wells further increase.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRE®|E

LNG BUSINESS REVIEW

As at 31 December 2024, the production capacity of the Group’s
LNG plants remained unchanged at the level of approximately
500,000 cubic meters per day. The average daily production
was only around 260,000 m? for the year. The Group will try the
best effort to stabilised the gas supply from suppliers and
increase the utilisation rate of our LNG plants in 2025, and which
will continue to increase the income, profit and cash flow
contribution to the Group.

MARKETING BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, the Group has developed a
diversified customer base comprising industrial, commercial and
resident customers and established complete distribution
channel and network. In addition, we have also taken different
measures to maximise the profitability of our gas sale. In 2024,
we used different sales mix and flexibly selected various
equipment such as pipeline and cylinder group, to sell gas to
our customers. With commencement of the related work, we will
be able to reduce the uncertainty in future natural gas sales and
optimise our sales mix, i.e. shifting towards a balanced mix from
a residential user dominated mix.

EMPHASIS ON TECHNOLOGIES ADVANCEMENT

In order to ensure the smooth development of our exploration
and production business and the continuous improvement of
technologies, and to maintain our leading position in
technological advancement, we actively worked with research
institutes to build and expand our professional technical team,
so as to provide professional and advanced technical services
to our exploration and liquefaction production business. In the
future, we will be investing heavily in developing and advancing
our CBM extraction technology and techniques.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
observing its environmental and social responsibility, in order to
ensure sustainable development of its business. To the
knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied with all
material relevant applicable laws and regulations in relation to its
business including employment and the environment. The Group
encourages employees, customers, suppliers and other
stakeholders to participate in environmental and social activities.
The Company as a leading CBM company will seize
opportunities to grow our CBM business on a long term
sustainable basis.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The bye-laws provide that the directors shall be indemnified out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for the directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRE®|E

OUTLOOK

To carry through the Group's spirit of advancement by
innovation, in 2016, the Group commenced the research and
development (R&D) on C-H to Synthesis of natural gas
production (temporarily named as ultra-high-temperature steam-
induced coal mineral transformation and evolution technology,
previously known as the “High temperature-water of Activate C-H
to Synthesis of natural-gas technology”), and entered the
commercialized design and scaling phase in the second half of
2019. As a result of the pandemic between February 2020 and
December 2022, however, our R&D scaling efforts progressed
slower than anticipated, with the first pilot unit only undergoing
pilot operations in June 2021. Based on the pilot results, we
proposed an improved design in November 2021. Due to
constraints on importing high-temperature-resistant special steel
from overseas, the Group completed a small-scale pilot unit
using domestically produced heat-resistant steel in June 2024.
By the end of 2024, the pilot operations of the small-scale pilot
unit revealed that domestically produced heat-resistant steel
consistently failed to achieve stable long-term operation at
1,100°C. In January 2025, the Group shifted its technological
research focus to reducing reaction temperatures and has since
achieved a basic operating environment of 1,000°C. Currently,
the small-scale pilot unit remains under construction. Once the
small-scale pilot unit is completed, the Group will promptly
conduct advanced demonstration trials overseas (including but
not limited to Hong Kong) and invite international experts to
evaluate the Technology. As the Technology matures, besides
the supply of feed gas to the Group’s liquefied natural gas
projects, the Group will utilize the Technology to collect fees
from customers (including natural gas liquefaction plants, city
gas companies, and other industrial users) and market raw
materials related to such technology.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2024
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During the development of the Technology, the Group
discovered a technology for hydrocarbon evolution, enhancing
reserves, and increasing production through the thermal
transformation of underground coal minerals in coalbed methane
fields, referred to as the “thermal extraction technology.” This
discovery is expected to bring positive impacts on the Group's
upstream wellhead gas output. As of the date of this report, the
thermal extraction technology is still in the preparatory stage.
Once the thermal extraction technology matures, the Group will
apply it to another development project. The thermal extraction
technology will not only increase the upstream wellhead
production but also enable the Group to provide thermal
extraction services and market related equipment to coalbed
methane exploration companies.

As the thermal extraction technology matures, it will lead to a
stable increase in upstream wellhead production and gas output.
The successful development of this technology will ensure a
stable gas supply for the Group’s liquefied natural gas plants,
reducing the impact of external factors and operational risks that
are beyond the Group’s control. This will enable the liquefied
natural gas plants to achieve full production capacity and realize
their intended commercial value. Furthermore, both the
Technology and the thermal extraction technology are expected
to become new drivers for the profitability of the Group.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to thank our team for
all their hard work in the past years for turning the Group a better
enterprise than | have ever seen. Going forward, | believe that
our team will pay more efforts in making the Group a leading
enterprise in China’s CBM industry and other innovative
industries.

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

26 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ‘

BEEEFNMRE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded a consolidated turnover of approximately
RMB243,568,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing an increase of approximately 1.73% compared with

that of the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 of
approximately RMB34,645,000 compared with that of profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 of approximately RMB2,530,000. The

reasons for the losses are as follows:

In 2024, construction in progress to approximately
RMB22,427,000 was written off due to the well drilling
development project has been terminated. It is unlikely that
the Group will recover any returns from such project in the
foreseeable future, as a result, the related construction
works are deemed unfeasible and be written off during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

The value-added tax refund and Government grant were
decreased from RMB7,723,000 and RMB3,607,000 to
RMB2,439,000 and RMB1,014,000 respectively in 2024.

Income tax expenses of RMB4,863,000 in 2024 because
our profits were generated by our natural gas exploration
and extraction business, therefore, an income tax expenses
was increased to RMB4,863,000 this year.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT
PROSPECTS

Resources and reserves

Yangcheng Huiyang New Energy Development Company Limited
(hereinafter referred to as “Yangcheng Huiyang”) has interest in
certain CBM properties located at Shanxi Province, the PRC. The
Yangcheng area is approximately 96 km? in the Shanxi Province,
the PRC. Development within the Yangcheng gas block is
focused on the#3 and#15 coal seams. These CBM properties
are located at various coal mine areas owned by Shanxi
Yangcheng Yangtai Group Industrial Company Limited. 100% of
Yangcheng Huiyang's equity interests is held by one of the
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group.

The movements in the reserves of certain CBM properties as of
31 December 2024 are set out below:
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Reserve Reserve
evaluation evaluation
of the CBM of the CBM
properties properties
as at as at
31 December 31 March
2024 BCF 2012 BCF
i 11 3 R=-FB-—Z=F
+=-—A=+-—H =A=+—8
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27 fit B 5V {h
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Total original gas in place on FrERBHRIERARME
all blocks BEE 193.6 272.4
Net 1P (Proved) reserves BEP)FHE 108.9 35
Net 2P (Proved + Probable) reserves B & E MR (2P)FHE £ 154.7 27.7
Net 3P (Proved + Probable + Possible) B % & j0 B i0 7] 42 (3P)
reserves FREE 193.6 205.0

The change in the 1P, 2P and 3P is based on the professional
advice by the Engineer of our Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ‘

BEEEFNMRE DM

The reserve evaluation of the CBM properties as at 31 March
2012 is the results of evaluation conducted by an independent,
US-licensed natural gas reserve engineer, Netherlands, Sewell &
Associates, Inc. (“NSAI”) engaged by the Company in 2011 to
evaluate the CBM properties reserves.

Due to continued development of the gas field blocks by the
Company, the number and scope of the gas production wells are
relatively increased as compared with that of 2012, enabling the
Company to collect more data about the CBM properties to
evaluate the CBM properties more accurately. Accordingly, the
Company engaged an independent professional valuer in the
PRC in July 2014 to evaluate certain CBM properties of
“Yangcheng Huiyang” in terms of net 3P (Proved + Probable +
Possible) reserves, net 2P (Proved + Probable) reserves and net
1P (Proved) reserves based on substantially the same definitions
and guidelines as that of NSAI in 2012. According to the results
of the evaluation, the total original gas in place on all blocks was
generally unchanged as compared with that of NSAI in 2012.

Gas volumes are expressed in billion of cubic feet (BCF) at
standard temperature and pressure bases. The reserves shown
in the above table are estimates only and should not be
construed as exact quantities. Proved reserves are those
quantities of oil and gas which, by analysis of engineering and
geoscience data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to
be commercially recoverable; probable and possible reserves
are those additional reserves which are sequentially less certain
to be recovered than proved reserves. Estimates of reserves
may increase or decrease as a result of market conditions, future
operations, changes in regulations, or actual reservoir
performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Natural Gas Exploration and Extraction

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has completed the ground
work and drilling of 235 CBM wells, among which 170 wells were
in production. The operating wells with stable production since
they had been put in operation.

Liquefaction operation

As at 31 December 2024, the production capacity of the Group's
LNG plants remained unchanged at the level of approximately
500,000 cubic meters per day. Due to the insufficient raw gas
supply, the average daily production was only around 260,000 m?
for the year.

Marketing and Sales

During 2024, the marketing and sales systems did not change
significantly and the personnel structure and sales strategies
basically remained the same.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net assets of
approximately RMB123,052,000, including cash and bank
balances of approximately RMB48,484,000. To minimize financial
risks, the Group implements stringent financial and risk
management strategies and avoids the use of highly-geared
financing arrangements. The Group’s gearing ratio, calculated
by the Group’s total external borrowings divided by its
shareholders’ fund, was approximately 20.98% as at 31
December 2024 (2023: 11.78%).

The Group is opportunistic in obtaining financing to further
improve the cash position given that the natural gas drilling
program is capital intensive. If the Group has adequate financing
in the future (whether it is from internal cash flow due to
increased gas sales, or from fund raising), the Group will
accelerate the drilling program. Apart from the intended
investment in upstream CBM exploration and extraction, the
Group does not have any other plan for acquisition or investment,
disposal or scale-down of any current business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFNMRE DM

The Employees

As at 31 December, 2024, the employees of the Group totaled
246, among which 20 were R&D staff and 128 were engineering
and customer service staff; 93 were administration staff and 5
were marketing and sales staff. During the year, the total cost of
staff (including the remuneration of the Board Directors)
recognised in profit or loss account was approximately
RMB26,001,000 (2023: approximately RMB25,612,000). The
remuneration and salary packages and dividend policy of the
Group were determined based on the individual performance of
staff. The Group will continue to offer professional further studies
and training to staff.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment and
Right-of-use Assets

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no impairment loss
was recognised in respect of certain property, plant and
equipment of the Group.

Risk in Foreign Exchange

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The
Directors consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency
exchange is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s
transactions are denominated in the functional currency of each
individual group entity.

Significant Investment, Material Acquisitions and
Disposal of Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
significant investment, material acquisition of subsidiaries and
associated companies by the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

To carry through the Group’s spirit of advancement by
innovation, in 2016, the Group commenced the research and
development (R&D) on C-H to Synthesis of natural gas
production (temporarily named as ultra-high-temperature steam-
induced coal mineral transformation and evolution technology,
previously known as the “High temperature-water of Activate C-H
to Synthesis of natural-gas technology”), and entered the
commercialized design and scaling phase in the second half of
2019. As a result of the pandemic between February 2020 and
December 2022, however, our R&D scaling efforts progressed
slower than anticipated, with the first pilot unit only undergoing
pilot operations in June 2021. Based on the pilot results, we
proposed an improved design in November 2021. Due to
constraints on importing high-temperature-resistant special steel
from overseas, the Group completed a small-scale pilot unit
using domestically produced heat-resistant steel in June 2024.
By the end of 2024, the pilot operations of the small-scale pilot
unit revealed that domestically produced heat-resistant steel
consistently failed to achieve stable long-term operation at
1,100°C. In January 2025, the Group shifted its technological
research focus to reducing reaction temperatures and has since
achieved a basic operating environment of 1,000°C. Currently,
the small-scale pilot unit remains under construction. Once the
small-scale pilot unit is completed, the Group will promptly
conduct advanced demonstration trials overseas (including but
not limited to Hong Kong) and invite international experts to
evaluate the Technology. As the Technology matures, besides
the supply of feed gas to the Group’s liquefied natural gas
projects, the Group will utilize the Technology to collect fees
from customers (including natural gas liquefaction plants, city
gas companies, and other industrial users) and market raw
materials related to such technology.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ‘

BEEEFNMRE DM

During the development of the Technology, the Group
discovered a technology for hydrocarbon evolution, enhancing
reserves, and increasing production through the thermal
transformation of underground coal minerals in coalbed methane
fields, referred to as the “thermal extraction technology.” This
discovery is expected to bring positive impacts on the Group's
upstream wellhead gas output. As of the date of this report, the
thermal extraction technology is still in the preparatory stage.
Once the thermal extraction technology matures, the Group will
apply it to another development project. The thermal extraction
technology will not only increase the upstream wellhead
production but also enable the Group to provide thermal
extraction services and market related equipment to coalbed
methane exploration companies.

As the thermal extraction technology matures, it will lead to a
stable increase in upstream wellhead production and gas output.
The successful development of this technology will ensure a
stable gas supply for the Group's liquefied natural gas plants,
reducing the impact of external factors and operational risks that
are beyond the Group’s control. This will enable the liquefied
natural gas plants to achieve full production capacity and realize
their intended commercial value. Furthermore, both the
Technology and the thermal extraction technology are expected
to become new drivers for the profitability of the Group.

As there are growing concerns over the environmental issues, it
is foreseen that the highly-polluted energy will be eliminated from
the market more rapidly and the use of replaceable clean energy
will be more popular, resulting in a keener market demand for
natural gas. The demand growth of natural gas market will
continue to retain its strong momentum. Management of the
Company will spare no effort in overcoming difficulties and be
devoted to making contribution to the Company’s profit margin
and long-term development.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s building held for own use
and the leasehold land use right with carrying amounts of
approximately RMB8,885,000 (before impairment) and
RMB7,907,000 respectively (2023: Nil and Nil) were pledged to
secure bank borrowings granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(a)

(b)

Application of Corporate Governance Principles

The Group is committed to promoting good corporate
governance, with the objectives of (i) the maintenance of
responsible decision making, (ii) the improvement in
transparency and disclosure of information to shareholders,
(iii) the continuance of respect for the rights of shareholders
and the recognition of the legitimate interests of
shareholders, and (iv) the improvement in crisis
management and the enhancement of performance by the
Group. The Group has applied the principles set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules with these objectives
in mind.

Promulgation of Company’s Corporate Governance
Code

To this end, the Group has promulgated a set of code on
corporate governance (the “Company Code”) which sets
out the corporate standards and practices used by the
Group to direct and manage its business affairs. It is
prepared by reference to the principles, code provisions
and recommended best practices set out in the Code,
which came into effect on 1 January 2005. In addition to
formalising existing corporate governance principles and
practices, the Company Code also serves the purpose of
assimilating existing practices with benchmarks prescribed
by the Code and ultimately ensuring high transparency and
accountability to the Group’s shareholders.
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(¢) Compliance of Company Code and the code
provisions under the Code (the “Code Provisions”)

The Group has complied with all provisions in the Company
Code and the Code Provisions under the Code during the
year ended 31 December 2024 save for code provisions
A.2.1 and A.4.1 of the Code, details of the derivation and
reason for derivation are set out in the paragraphs headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive” and “Appointment term of
Non-executive Directors” of this corporate governance
report.

The Company Code contains all the Code Provisions of the
Code and other provisions.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
those as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have
complied with the required standard of dealings and code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors as set out
in the Company’s code of conduct for the year 2024.

BOARD COMPOSITION, ROLE AND FUNCTION

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for
promoting the success of the Company through direction and
supervision of the Company’s business and affairs.

The Board comprises a total of nine Directors, comprising five
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman),
Mr. Chang Jian, Mr. Wang Chen, Mr. Tan Ye Kai, Byron, and Mr.
Leung Chi Ho, one non-executive director, namely, Ms. Li Siliang
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Xu
Yuan Jian, Mr. Wang Zhi He and Mr. Lau Chun Pong. Mr. Lau
Chun Pong has appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting and financial management expertise as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

During the year ended 31 December 2024, each of Mr. Tan Ye
Kai, Byron, Mr. Leung Chi Ho and Ms. Li Siliang, who was
appointed as a Director during the year, had obtained the legal
advice referred to in Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules prior to
their respective appointments as regards the requirements under
the GEM Listing Rules that are applicable to him/her as a director
of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of making a
false declaration or giving false information to the Stock
Exchange, and each of them had confirmed he/she understood
his/her obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
Independent Non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

The Independent non-executive directors have provided open
and objective views to the management and have brought
informed insight and responses to the management. The Board
has assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive directors and concluded that all independent non-
executive directors (including those independent non-executive
director(s) who have served more than nine years) are
independent within the definition of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and
5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31
December 2024, there were three independent non-executive
Directors in the Board and the number of independent non-
executive Directors represents at least one-third of the Board.
The Company has also complied with Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM
Listing Rules, which stipulates that one of the independent non-
executive Directors must possess appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The Board considers that the independent non-
executive Directors are all independent persons with appropriate
qualifications or expertise and the Company has complied with
the relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the
Code. In 2024, the Board has reviewed and monitored: (a) the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, (b)
training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, (c) the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
(d) the Company’s code of conduct and (e) the Company’s
compliance with the Code disclosure requirements.

Appointment Term of Non-executive Directors

Non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. Currently, the independent non-executive
Directors have no fixed term of office but are subject to
retirement by rotation at annual general meetings of the
Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association.

Roles of Directors

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the management of the Company and is collectively responsible
for appointing and supervising senior management to ensure
that the operations of the Group are conducted in accordance
with the objectives of the Group. The principal roles of the Board
are:

° to lay down the Group's objectives, strategies, policies and
business plans;

o to monitor and control operating and financial performance
through the determination of the annual budget; and

° to formulate internal control policies and set appropriate
policies to manage risks in pursuit of the Group’s strategic
objectives.

The Board is directly accountable to the shareholders and is
responsible for preparing the accounts.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management
responsibility to the management staff under the instruction/
supervision of the Board.

The management staff of the Company are principally
responsible for:

1. exercising all such other powers and perform all such other
acts as may be exercised and performed by the Directors,
save and except for those that may specifically be reserved
by the Board and/or the committees set up by the Board for
decision and implementation; or those that may only be
exercised by the Board pursuant to the Articles of
Association, the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable
laws and regulations;

2. formulating and/or implementing policies for business
activities, internal controls and administration of the
Company;

3. planning and deciding the Company’s strategies on its
business activities; and

4.  keeping proper written records of its decisions taken which
may be inspected by any members of the Board or the
Board committees upon request.

The Board will review the above arrangements on a periodic
basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the
Group.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Prior to the retirement of
Mr. Feng San Li on 26 November 2012, Mr. Feng San Li was
holding the title of CEO. Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is the chairman
of the Board. After Mr. Feng'’s retirement, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng
continues to act as the chairman and the duties of the chief
executive have been undertaken by the other executive
Director(s). The Board meets regularly to consider major matters
affecting the business and operations of the Group. The Board
considers that this structure will balance the power and authority
between the Board and management and believes that this
structure enables the Group to make and implement decision
promptly and efficiently.
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BOARD OPERATION EEgEF

Regular Board meetings are held normally every three months, §$A*ﬂﬁ —EAEHEgE —X
with additional meetings arranged, if and when required. In IEﬁ ﬁVl\zﬂiF%\ﬁ i%@ A
2024, the Board held 8 meetings. S /1% E ﬁiﬁ8?’/¥@§% °

The attendance record of each member of the Board at board BEZEZE@KEHEARAANEETS € H

meetings and general meeting of the Company are set out BREARZHAEMT

below:

Attendance of
Board Meetings

Attendance of
General Meeting

ExggdlE=x RRAXEHER
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman) 8/8 11
TRBRE(EE)
Mr. Chang Jian 8/8 11
BREEE
Mr. Wang Chen (re-designed from non-executive director
to an executive director on 1 November 2024) 8/8 1/1
FREAR_ZF_MF+—-—HA-—BHIERITES
ERERMITES)
Mr. Tan Ye Kai, Byron (appointed on 1 September 2024) 2/2 0/0
BRI EER_ZE_OFAA-—BREZE)
Mr. Leung Chi Ho (appointed on 1 November 2024) 1/1 0/0
REZEEVRZ_ZT-ZNF+—A—BEZF)
Non-Executive Directors
FHITES
Mr. Duan Shi Chuan (retired on 11 June 2024) 5/5 11
BEINEERZZE_OFEA+T—BERE)
Mr. Liang Feng (resigned on 1 November 2024) 717 11
B4t (R_ZE-_mMF+—R—HBEE
Ms. Li Siliang (appointed on 1 November 2024) 1/1 0/0
Pt (R-_Z_MOF+—HA—-REZE)
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. Lau Chun Pong 8/8 1/1
2R #B 52 4
Mr. Wang Zhi He 8/8 1/1
TzMmELE
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian 8/8 11
REAR LA

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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Directors are free to contribute alternative views at meetings and
major decisions would only be taken after deliberation at Board
meetings. Directors who are considered having conflict of
interests or material interests in the proposed transactions or
issues to be discussed would not be counted in the quorum of
meeting and would abstain from voting on the relevant resolution.

All Directors have access to the company secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are complied
with, and advising the Board on compliance matters.

Directors’ Duties

Every Director is required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as
a director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities
and development of the Company:

° A comprehensive director's handbook is issued to every
Director, which sets out guidelines on conduct by making
reference to the relevant sections of the statutes or the GEM
Listing Rules, and reminds Directors of their responsibilities
in making disclosure of their interests and potential conflict
of interests.

° Orientation programmes are organised for providing
induction to new Directors to help them familiarise with the
Company’s management, business and governance
practices.

o Management provides appropriate and sufficient information
to Directors and the committee members in a timely manner
to keep them apprised of the latest development of the
Group and enable them to discharge their responsibilities.
Directors also have independent and unrestricted access
to senior executives of the Company.

EREREE
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as
well as his responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws, rules
and regulations. Directors’ training is an ongoing process.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, Directors are
provided with monthly updates on the Company’s performance,
position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties. In addition, all Directors are
encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Company updates Directors on the latest development
regarding the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices.

Attending seminar(s)

or programme(s)/

reading relevant materials
in relation to the business,
GEM Listing Rules or
directors’ duties (Yes/No)

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Yes
Mr. Chang Jian Yes
Mr. Wang Chen
Mr. Tan Ye Kai (appointed on

1 September 2024) Yes
Mr. Leung Chi Ho (appointed on

1 November 2024) Yes
Ms. Li Siliang (appointed on

1 November 2024) Yes
Mr. Duan Shi Chuan (retired on

11 June 2024) Yes
Mr. Liang Feng (resigned on

1 November 2024) Yes
Mr. Lau Chun Pong Yes
Mr. Wang Zhi He Yes
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian Yes

The briefing sessions covered topics including the Code, listed
company regulations and disclosure obligations in Hong Kong,
discloseable transactions and connected transactions etc.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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EREREE

REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF KEY ENFETEEE ASNH M
MANAGEMENT
Details of remuneration paid to member of key management Y FEXZEBAB(FTBREEE)NH
(exclude Director) fell within the following band: B E g FLATEE :
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE A B
Nil ~ HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to £ %1,000,000 7% 7T (18 & 1
approximately RMB924,000 # A R 924,000 7T
(2023: RMB906,000) (Z2=Z=%F: AR®
906,000 7T) 1 2
New Share Option Scheme S R AE ST &
The New Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Company in 7K A & A = & — F F 5 4 37 ¥ B% k& &F

2015. The New Share Option Scheme allows the Company to
grant share options to eligible participants who has contributed
or may contribute to the growth and development of the Group in
recognition of their contribution to the Group.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the terms of the New
Share Option Scheme. In addition to the review of the New Share
Option Scheme terms, as disclosed above, the Remuneration
Committee also reviewed the grant of options to the Directors
and senior management and corporate financial advisor during
the year. The Remuneration Committee considers that the grants
of options are fair and reasonable in recognizing their
contributions to the Group and are in the interests of the Group
as a whole. The Remuneration considers that the grants of share
options align with the purpose of the New Share Option Scheme.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the
Directors’ Report and note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia,
the following purposes:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on policies and
structure for remuneration of directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing such policy on
remuneration;

(b) to make recommendations to the Board the remuneration
packages for executive Directors and senior management
and to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Chun
Pong (Chairman), Mr. Xu Yuan Jian and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The
duties of Remuneration Committee is to review and make
recommendations to the remuneration policy and packages of
the executive Directors and executives and reviewing and/or
approving matters relating to the share schemes under Chapter
23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

In 2024, the Remuneration Committee held four meetings. The
attendance record of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out below:

YMWEES

rprrmFmMEzeae(FmMEZae e
R-EETRFNA+_HKIY &+ H
B BLFE -

(a) REZELSREEENFMERERLK
RiE KRR IERAMAERED
RBFEAGIELEFHER RAES
SRHER:

(b) RATEERSREEZENMERF
BREFEROER LR IEATT
ExmMeREFTeRLEZS -

FMZEehARAEBUIFNTE
EHEK BRIERALEE(ERE) HFRE
FEREZMEE -FHEZEGCRE
BB RRATESERITHRABRZFHM
BRERRGFBROZZERENR St E
GEM LM I 238/ T A B & &l

Attendance
HE=R
Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman) 4/4
BRI (E /)
Mr. Wang Zhi He 4/4
FzMEAE
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian 4/4
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During the meeting, members of the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the remuneration packages and overall benefits of the
Directors by taking into account factors (such as remuneration
packages and benefits offered by comparable companies, the
respective contribution of each of the Directors to the Group and
the business objectives of the Group).

The executive Directors are responsible for reviewing all relevant
remuneration data and market conditions as well as the
performance of individuals and the profitability of the Group, and
proposing to the remuneration committee for consideration and
approval. The Remuneration Committee performed the major
work as below:

1. reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company and the remuneration and
performance of duties of the executive Directors and senior
management in the year under review;

2. made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management; and

3. reviewed the share option scheme and the grant of share
options.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia,
the following purposes:

(a) to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship; and

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or reappointment of directors
and succession planning for directors.

EREREE
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In August 2013, the Board has adopted its board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”). All Board appointments will be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against selection criteria based on a range of diversity
perspectives, which would include but not be limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board. There is no fixed timeline
when gender diversity will be achieved in respect of the Board,
but selection of candidates for the Board membership will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives as mentioned above.
The Company has appointed at least a director of a different
gender on the board.

In determining the optimum composition of the Board, diversity
of Board members will be considered from a number of factors
in order to maintain an appropriate range and balance of talents,
skills, experience and knowledge on the Board. The Company
will also take into account its own business model and specific
needs from time to time. For the purpose of implementing the
Board Diversity Policy, the Board has set the following
measurable objectives: (1) the Board will ensure there is a
balance of male and female representation at Board level by 31
December 2024; (2) the Board will continue to comprise of
members with working experience in various industries and
knowledge and skills in different aspects; and (3) the Board will
continue to comprise of members from different age groups.

The Board currently consists of nine (9) Directors are at ages
ranging from 38 to 77 years old with three (3) of them between
the age group of 35-50, four of them between the age group of
51-60 and two of them between the age group of 60-80, serving
on the Board for different tenures. The current Board members
are well-experienced in different areas including natural gas,
engineering, industrial production and safety, corporate
management and accounting and finance. In view of the present
size of the Board and the Group’s operations and the nature of
the risks and challenges it faces, with the appointment of female
director, the Board considers that the Company has achieved
diversity with a right balance of skills, experience and knowledge
among the present Board members, and that there will be
sufficient diversity in the Board for the Company’s corporate
governance and business development needs.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group has an approximately 2:1
ratio of male and female in the workforce. The Group will strive to
maintain a balance of gender diversity when recruiting and
selecting key management and other personnel across the
Group's operation.

The Nomination Committee will review, as appropriate, to ensure
the effectiveness in the Board Diversity Policy and monitor its
implementation.

The Nomination Committee is made up of all of the Company'’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Zhi He
(Chairman), Mr. Xu Yuan Jian and Mr. Lau Chun Pong.

In 2024, the Nomination Committee held three meetings. The
attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee
is set out below:

EREREE

RZZE-_NMF+_A=+—H A58
EIM%#&W%%Mo$%IE%g
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%ﬁ%%ﬁm%&% T o
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k%éfaﬁ T_MELRT=KRE
CREZBEEMENBFELENT

Attendance
HE=R
Mr. Wang Zhi He (Chairman) 3/3
FzMEE(FEE)
Mr. Lau Chun Pong 3/3
B4R Fp oL &=
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian 3/3
RREREAE

At the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Company’s Board of
Directors, made reference to criteria including,
reputation for integrity, accomplishment and experience in the
relevant industry, professional and educational background, and
commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest.
The Nomination Committee was satisfied with the existing
composition of the Board and recommended no change in the
near future, and performed the major work as below:

inter alia,

1. examined the structure, size and composition of the Board,
to ensure the Directors have the expertise, skills and
experience required to meet the Company’s business;

EeslE REZEgRNT TALQA
EEeNRE RERANK BHFIT22E
HAUEPBEEBALOBE  HER
MITEORRERER EEXLRHES
BEURERANEE  BREEHNTHD
RELEEHERNEIZ -REEE
ERBEEFENHRAHESG BEEROHY
NBEEFHWAITERTENT

1. REEFENRBE - RENEX
NHEREZAEBNEARBEBKH
FHER  RERER

B AR A A
—E-mEER

| 31



32 |

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREREE

2. assessed the independency of all independent non-
executive Directors; and

3. made recommendations to the Board in this regard.

AMENDMENT TO THE TERMS OF REFERENCE
OF NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The terms of reference of the nomination committee of the
Company was amended on 14 August 2013 to include the review
of the Company’s Board Diversity Policy and the progress on
achieving the objectives set for implementing the said policy as
one of its duty.

Workforce Level

The Group is engaged in a wide range of gas related activities.
Due to the uniqueness of the industry, most of the employees are
men, with a minority of women. In order to handle the machine
operation and manual work, the proportion of the Company’s
employees is mostly men. Setting a measurable objective for
achieving gender diversity at workforce level is not suitable for
the business of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 28 July 2003 and currently comprises all three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Chun
Pong (Chairman), Mr. Xu Yuan Jian and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are (a) to review the
Group’s annual reports, financial statements, half year reports
and quarterly reports; (b) to serve as a focal point for
communication between Directors, the external auditors and
internal auditors; (c) to assist the Board in fulfilling its
responsibilities by providing an independent review and
supervision of financial reporting, and the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control and risk management system; and (d) to
review the appointment of external auditors on an annual basis
as well as to ensure independence of the continuing auditors.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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In 2024, the Audit Committee held two meetings. The attendance
record of each member of the Audit Committee is set out below:

EREREE

EREREEeR S _NEERITMAE
HoERZESSKENEFLENT

Attendance
HE =

Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman) 2/2
B AL E(EE)
Mr. Wang Zhi He 2/2
FTzMmELE
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian 2/2
RFRER St &
At the meetings, the Audit Committee has carefully reviewed the HE&#HHIHE BEXZE S HFMEH A
Company's quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and its 2R AMNZFE - ﬁlﬁifﬂiiV%F LX&
system of internal control and has made suggestions to improve HEHHE YEREXEEZ T

them. The Audit Committee also carried out and discharged its
other duties set out in Code. In the course of doing so, the Audit
Committee has met the company’s management several times
during year 2024. Each member of the Audit Committee has
unrestricted access to the Group's external auditors and the
management.

During the financial year 2024, the Audit Committee has held two
meetings. The Group’s results for the year 2024 have been
reviewed and commented by the Audit Committee members,
and performed the major works as below:

1. reviewed the annual financial results and report for the year
ended 31 December 2023, interim financial results and
report for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

2. reviewed the internal audit department’s report regarding
the reviewing and procedures of the internal control and
risk management of the Company; and

3. provided opinions to the Board in respect of the terms of
appointment of external auditors.
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The Group’s result for the year ended 31 December 2024 have
been reviewed and commented by the audit committee
members, which was of the opinion that the preparation of such
results complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements as well as the GEM Listing Rules and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through mails whose contact details are
as follows:

Room 20, 19/F

Fortune Commercial Building
362 Sha Tsui Road

Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong

Tel No.: 2366 1613

Fax No.: 2366 1665

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, The Board
may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings.
Any one or more members holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person
other than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for
election as a Director at any general meeting unless a notice
signed by a member (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice
is given of his intention to propose such person for election and
also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office or at the registration office provided that the minimum
length of the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall
be at least seven (7) days and that the period for lodgment of
such notice(s) shall commence no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of
such general meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of
the annual accounts which give a true and fair view of the
Group'’s state of affairs of the results and cash flow for the year.
In preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December
2024, the Directors have:

o adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; and

o made judgements and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and ensured the accounts are prepared on a
going concern basis.

The Company recognises that high quality corporate reporting is
important in reinforcing the trust relationship between the
Company and the its stakeholders and aims at presenting a
balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the
Company's performance, position and prospects in all corporate
communications.
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Internal Control and risk management

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control and
risk management over financial, operational and compliance
issues for the year 2024. The Audit Committee concluded that, in
general, the Group has set up a sound control environment and
installed necessary control mechanisms to monitor and correct
non-compliance. The Board, through the review of the Audit
Committee, is satisfied that the Group in 2024, fully complied
with the code provisions on internal controls and risk
management as set forth in the Code. The Audit Committee also
concluded that the Group has employed sufficient staff for the
propose of accounting, financial and internal control. The Group
has internal audit department.

External Auditors

The Group’s external auditors are KTC Partners CPA Limited.
The Audit Committee is mandated to ensure continuing auditors’
objectivity and safeguard independence of the auditors, and it
has:

o determined the framework for the type and authorisation of
non-audit services for which the external auditors may
provide. In general, the engagement of the external auditors
to perform non-audit services is prohibited except for tax
related services; and

o agreed with the Board on the policy relating to the hiring of
employees or former employees of the external auditors
and monitored the applications of such policy.

During 2024, the remuneration payable to the Company’s
external auditors for audit and non-audit services were
approximately RMB1,250,000 and RMBNil respectively.
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The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2024 were
audited by KTC Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will
expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board
that KTC Partners CPA Limited be re-appointed as the auditors
of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

The Group has not employed any staff who was formerly involved
in the Group’s statutory audit.

Corporate Communication

The Group recognises the importance of shareholder feedback
and the need for ongoing communication with its stakeholders,
including the general public, investors, and the institutional and
individual shareholders. The Company published annual, interim
and quarterly reports which contained detailed information about
the Group. Inquiries by shareholders are directed and dealt with
by senior management of the Group.

Company secretary

Mr. Tse Chun Lai (“Mr. Tse”) has been appointed as the
Company Secretary and the Authorised Representative on
January 2020. For details, please refer to page 77 to this report.

The company secretary has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

INVESTORS RELATIONSHIP

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its Shareholders, investors and
other stakeholders. These include the annual general meeting,
the annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices,
announcements and circulars and the Company’s website at
https://hkirplatform.com/8270/en/index.php.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there had been no
significant change in the Company'’s constitutional documents.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES

The Group is committed to sustainable development while
operating in the natural gas sector. Its core business includes
the extraction, liquefaction, production, and sale of natural gas,
along with the distribution of liquefied coalbed gas, gas supply
connection services, and the manufacturing of polyethylene (PE)
gas pipelines. This Environmental, Social, and Governance
(“ESG") report (the “Report”) reflects the Board’s dedication to
minimizing environmental impact and addressing climate change
challenges.

To reduce its carbon footprint, the Group has implemented
strategies such as optimizing production processes for energy
efficiency, integrating advanced technologies to improve natural
gas utilization, and establishing a robust emissions monitoring
system. Additionally, the Group is investing in renewable energy
and exploring low-carbon innovations to further support global
climate goals.

Beyond environmental efforts, the Group is actively engaged in
fostering sustainable development within the communities where
it operates. It collaborates with local stakeholders to address
environmental and social concerns, including water
conservation, biodiversity protection, and economic growth. The
Group also partners with academic and research institutions to
advance climate change studies and develop innovative
solutions.

Through these initiatives, the Group reinforces its commitment to
environmental responsibility, social impact, and long-term
economic sustainability. By continuously improving its practices
and adapting to global sustainability trends, the Group aims to
remain a responsible industry leader in an evolving energy
landscape.
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Sustainability Statement of the Board

As a company engaged in the extraction, liquefaction, and sale
of natural gas, we are committed to operating responsibly and
sustainably. We recognize the critical role Environmental, Social,
and Governance factors play in driving sustainable business
performance and long-term value creation. Our commitment to
ESG is embedded within our corporate governance framework,
ensuring that we proactively manage ESG risks and
opportunities while aligning with stakeholder expectations and
regulatory requirements.

(i)

(i)

Board Oversight of ESG Issues

The Board maintains direct oversight of ESG matters. This
oversight includes monitoring emerging ESG risks,
reviewing regulatory developments, and integrating ESG
considerations into corporate strategy and risk
management. The Board also ensures that ESG priorities
are aligned with our corporate mission and stakeholder
interests, fostering a culture of accountability and
sustainability across the organization.

ESG Management Approach and Strategy

Safety and environmental protection remain top priorities in
our operations. Our ESG management approach is guided
by a structured process to evaluate, prioritize, and address
material ESG issues. This includes:

° Conducting materiality assessments to identify key
ESG risks and opportunities, taking into account
industry trends, stakeholder feedback, and regulatory
landscapes.

° Developing and implementing ESG policies and
frameworks that integrate sustainability considerations
into business operations, supply chains, and decision-
making processes.

R HEREREE

EEENTHEARREY

ERARERARFAE RIERBEENR
A EMABRORBEERAFELE
B-BHMEIIRE HEhE0FE
EHDIFEXBRAMRAEELE
FEEEN RIS - B AT ESGH &
AEMARPNEXEERER  UER
HPIEEEIEESGRE B KB - [ K
ERNENHENEERTE -

() EFEEHESGEENEE

EXSEREBESGEHE %EE
BREEMLBANESGRAR FE
EEERUNMBESGEEMALE
BERElEREE - EF S TER
ESGEXEZHERMAERE M KL
FOBEMNEFRET -5 £2EAH
BEMERAFEEROXL -

(i) ESGEEJ it R Ew

TERREBEREDAERMEED
ERzE - KMHWESGEE AN
EELERERES Ul B
BEF M BRIRE KESGRIRE - E A IE

o ETEEMANME ABHIESR
MESGHE R L& REEZE
TEBE FOHEREREE

BB IE o

e HIEREMESGH K MIER -
BAHEERZEMAEZLE
2 HEBEORRRE -

B AR A A
—E-mEER

| 39



40 |

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B HERERBE

° Establishing risk management protocols to evaluate
and refine our safety protocols and environmental
management frameworks, to prevent pollution,
promote responsible waste management, and mitigate
potential ESG-related risks that may impact financial
performance, operational resilience, or corporate
reputation.

(iii) Review of ESG Progress and Alignment with Business
Goals

The Board periodically reviews the company’s performance
against ESG-related goals and targets through detailed
reports and key performance indicators. This process
includes:

o Setting measurable ESG targets, such as carbon
reduction commitments, diversity and inclusion
benchmarks, and governance enhancements.

° Monitoring progress through periodic reporting,
ensuring alignment with regulatory expectations and
stakeholder interests.

° Evaluating the financial and operational impact of ESG
initiatives to ensure they contribute to long-term
business resilience and growth.

We place great importance on preserving biodiversity and
protecting water resources in the areas where we operate.
Through continuous monitoring and assessment, we ensure that
our activities do not disrupt local ecosystems or endanger water
supplies.

By integrating ESG considerations into our corporate strategy,
we strengthen our competitive position, drive innovation, and
create sustainable value for all stakeholders. The Board remains
committed to continuous improvement, transparency, and
accountability in advancing our ESG vision.

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman
China CBM Group Company Limited
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ESG Approach and Commitment

Understanding the critical influence of ESG factors on a
company’s non-financial performance, valuation, risk mitigation,
and regulatory adherence, the Group has adopted a holistic
approach to ESG reporting. This involves identifying and
analysing ESG-related risks, tracking performance metrics,
establishing strategic objectives, evaluating management
effectiveness, and ensuring full compliance with applicable laws
and regulations.

The Group remains committed to conducting its operations in a
responsible and ethical manner, prioritizing the well-being of its
employees, customers, investors, and the communities it serves.
This report provides both qualitative analysis and quantitative
data to demonstrate the Group’s ESG achievements and ongoing
dedication to sustainability.

ABOUT THE REPORT

This report highlights the Group’s strong commitment to
sustainable development and presents a clear strategy for
tackling climate change. It offers valuable information for
stakeholders interested in the Group’s sustainability efforts and
its ongoing initiatives to build a more sustainable future. Notably,
the Group has taken measures to ensure consistency between
the Chinese and English versions of the Report. The Board’s
review and approval of the Report on 26 March 2025 marked a
significant milestone in the Group’s sustainability journey.

Reporting Period

The Report showcases the Group’s strides toward achieving
sustainability goals through environmental and social
performance during the reporting period spanning from 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).
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Reporting Scope

The Report offers a comprehensive overview of the Group’s
performance across environmental, social, and governance
considerations. With investments in exploration and exploitation
businesses within the coalbed methane (CBM) blocks in
Yangcheng, Shanxi, the PRC. The Group operates from its
headquarters in Beijing, with additional offices in Hong Kong,
Tianjin, Jincheng of Shanxi Province, Cangzhou of Hebei

Province.

By spotlighting the Group’s policies, management approach,
and performance in its core business areas, the Report illustrates
the Group’s commitment to fostering sustainable development
amid a swiftly evolving landscape. Prepared in accordance with
reporting principles of materiality, quantitative analysis, balance,
and consistency, the Report reflects the Group’s dedication to
data gathering, analysis, policy formulation, implementation, and
progress monitoring.

Reporting Framework

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code (the
“ESG Reporting Code”) contained in Appendix C2 of the GEM
Listing Rules published by the Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited. For ease of reference, a comprehensive list of
ESG aspects, along with their corresponding key performance
indicators (KPIs) and relevant sections within the Report, is
provided at the end of the Report.

Stakeholder Engagement

Effective stakeholder engagement is paramount for the success
of any business, particularly in light of the pressing need to
address environmental and social issues. As a responsible
enterprise committed to sustainable development, the Group
acknowledges the significance of engaging with a diverse range
of stakeholders, including policymakers, regulators, employees,
investors, customers, suppliers, and community members. This
engagement allows the Group to comprehend its expectations
and concerns fully.
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By actively listening to and valuing stakeholder input, the Group
can identify potential risks and opportunities related to its
business development strategies, internal control systems, and
corporate governance, as well as assess potential ESG impacts.
The Group employs various communication approaches to
engage with stakeholders and gather their valuable thoughts and
ideas. This collaborative process enables the Group to shape
future business strategies that generate long-term value for its
stakeholders and contribute to a more sustainable future.

An overview of key stakeholders, their ESG concerns, and the
corresponding communication approaches utilized to engage
with them:
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2 - NZN ==
RIE HERERBRS \
/ ESG Concerns ESG BT &
/ o Workplace safety, diversity and inclusion o T{EHZ 2 - Z TR
e Rights and benefits of employees o EEMHEZKET
/ o Training and development o HHIEERE

(=]

Employees

Communication Approaches BEAR

Regular meetings and team briefings EH 2% & B X R
Performance appraisals BEREZ

Employee trainings & 853

Notices and circulars BARBS

Emails and other electronic B REME FBEA
communications

ESG Concerns ESG B/ %

o ESG performance, long-term sustainability e ESG#E X @ K Hi Al #HE % E
o Business strategies and performances o EBEBRKR

o Corporate Governance « BEER

o Investment returns o REMDER

RESE

Investors

Communication Approaches BEAR
Investor presentations, shareholder « WEEHNE WREKRE
meetings « BRRBEFARE
Annual general meetings o WBREK HMERAS
Financial statements, reports and
announcements

v " ESG Concerns ESG BISE %
— (/ o Product sustainability o EmAIFAN
o Service quality o RBEE
« Business credibility o BMEREE
o Ethical sourcing o ETHEERENKE

'5F

Customers

Communication Approaches BEAFRX
e Customer surveys « BEAE

e Feedback mechanisms o REEHET
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R HEREREE

ESG BX &

~ ESG Concerns

‘ e Supply chain sustainability o HEEMAEEN
o Responsible sourcing « BEMERE
o Financial stability o HIGTREM

¢ Demand stability

o BRIBEM

Supplier assessments
Engagement meetings
Contracts and agreements

Supplier conferences

Communication Approaches

A

& R K1
HEBRE

ESG Concerns ESG B &
o Environmental impact « RETE
o Employment opportunities o BEHKZ
o Social responsibility « HEEME

Communication Approaches

Corporate website h

Community forums Zau

KEEN
HERAASE

Media enquiry
Press releases and announcements

Through these collaborative efforts, the Group strives to foster
meaningful dialogue and partnerships with its stakeholders,
driving positive change and advancing its commitment to
sustainable development.

Stakeholders’ Feedback

The Group warmly welcomes stakeholders’ comments and
feedback regarding its approach and performance on ESG
aspects, recognizing their invaluable contribution to the Group’s
continuous improvement and sustainability efforts. If you have
any questions, suggestions, or recommendations for the Group,
please feel free to send them to:

Room 20, 19/F, Fortune Commercial Building, 362 Sha Tsui
Road, Tsuen Wan, N.T., Hong Kong

Email: admin@ccbmgroup.com
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To gain a thorough understanding of stakeholder perspectives
and expectations on ESG performance, the Group carries out an
annual materiality assessment. This critical process helps
evaluate the relevance of ESG issues to stakeholders and
identifies key risks and opportunities related to sustainability.

The Group assesses the significance of ESG concerns by
actively engaging with stakeholders through various channels,
such as management reviews, industry research, and direct
engagement initiatives. This collaborative approach enables the
Group to accurately gauge stakeholder priorities and concerns.
By focusing on the most pressing ESG issues, the Group strives
to generate long-term value while reinforcing its dedication to
sustainable development.
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Long-term financial sustainability & Hi1 7% Al 454 14 @
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Supply chain resilience and geopolitical risks £ f&## #]1E & & BoA RS @
Litigation risks and regulatory fines 3F AR & & =17 @
Consumer affordability and access to natural gas S5 & & H B EEE H RERK AR @

Gas safety in supply and distribution /& & D ECF A RELZE @

s Al

@ Compliance with energy sector regulations i& 57 8EJR1T 3% 45

@ Employee salary and working conditions {& & % % & T {E{§ 1+

Supply chain management B EIE @@

@ Community engagement and corporate social responsibility (CSR) 1[5 £2 8 [z 1> 3 1 & & {F(CSR)

@ Sustainable Investment A] #4515 &

@ Technological Innovation $4i7 &1l

@ Emergency response and disaster preparedness Jif 22 i & 5 B[ 6
@ Methane leakage prevention and monitoring B /8 /5 787 E2 258
@ Energy management AR & 12

@ Staff retention / talent management 3288 8 T /A7 &2

@ Regulatory risks from environmental policies %35 B 75 2K ) 25 [ b
@ Land rights and indigenous communities’ concerns = 34% K2 R+ At [& M B+

@ Waste management BEE )& 12

@ Ethical business practices and anti-corruption measures 7 3 818 {1l } & &5 18 6
@ Incident reporting and lost-time injury rates i ¥ &5 [z 18 KB T {5 %
[ ) Impact of operations on water quality & & ¥ /K& £ 5/ £

@ Occupational health and safety standards H; 3 fi fz £ %2 1224

@ Diversity, equity, and inclusion policies Z 1%/t « AF K& HEh R

Significance to China CBM
HHEEERNEEM

@ Environmental remediation costs and liabilities ¥% 5 {518 # fi &k & & @ Transparency in pricing and contracts {E1& &2 & #1695 &

@ Revenue dependency on fossil fuels AL ERAKEEKRE @) Energy Transition & Decarbonization &5B 87 & 8
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

Natural gas, renowned for its cleaner combustion compared to
coal or oil, stands as a pivotal resource in energy production.
Typically nestled underground within rock formations or CBM
pockets, it is extracted through meticulous well drilling
processes. As of 31 December 2024, the Group has successfully
concluded groundwork and drilling for 235 CBM wells, with 170
presently yielding natural gas.

Dedicated to fostering environmentally responsible practices,
the Group has integrated energy-efficient technologies,
sustainable materials, and waste reduction strategies into its
operations. Employees and contractors undergo rigorous training
to uphold stringent controls and monitoring protocols for
emissions and waste generation. Moreover, administrative tasks,
research and development endeavours, and trading activities
are predominantly conducted indoors to mitigate environmental
impact.

Upon extraction and treatment, the natural gas traverses through
underground pipelines to reach commercial consumers. The
Group remains steadfast in its commitment to upholding and
enforcing its environmental management policy, ensuring the
sustainable production and delivery of natural gas to meet the
escalating energy needs of its clientele.

Emissions Policy

To uphold the corporate principle that “Social Responsibility is of
Overriding Importance to the Group” and to reinforce its
dedication to long-term environmental sustainability, the Group
has placed paramount importance on environmental awareness
and sustainability within its operations, especially within the
burgeoning new energy sector. Throughout the Reporting Period,
the Group remained steadfast in its adherence to all relevant
government regulations and industry standards to guarantee the
secure transportation, storage, and distribution of natural gas.
These regulations encompass, but are not limited to:

° The Environmental Protection Law of the PRC.

o The Energy Conservation Law of the PRC.
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° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution.

° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Pollution
from Environmental Noise.

° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste.

By meticulously adhering to these regulations, the Group not
only safeguards the environment but also ensures the safety and
well-being of its employees and the neighbouring communities.

Carbon Footprint — Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Carbon footprint refers to the total amount of direct and indirect
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, measured in terms of
carbon dioxide equivalent (“CO,-e") emissions. During the
Reporting Period, the Group’s operations covered an area of
300,048.86 square meters (2023: 300,107.65 m?), including its
headquarters, offices, and subsidiaries, and accounted for 100%
of its GHG emissions.

The Group generated a total net of 88,920.88 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent (“tCO,-e”) emissions in the form of carbon
dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide during the Reporting Period
(2023: 80,754.01 tCO,-e). The primary source of GHG emissions
for the Group was electricity used for operational purposes. The
carbon emission intensity increased by 8.2% year-over-year to
365.08 tCOz-e/million RMB revenue (2023: 337.29 tCO,-e/million
RMB revenue). The heightened intensity was primarily
attributable to the decrease in natural gas prices during the
Reporting Period, resulting in lower revenue for the Group.
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The Group has implemented robust measures to manage its
emissions and resource consumption effectively. These initiatives
include the deployment of energy-efficient lighting, the practice
of turning off idle lighting, computers, and electrical appliances
and equipment, diligent monitoring of water consumption,
utilization of digital technology and recycled paper, promotion of
public transport usage, and adoption of teleconferencing or
video conferencing as alternatives to business travel. The carbon
footprint for the Group is provided in the following table:

Scope Sources of GHG emissions

g E BEREHERR

R HEREREE

AEBEEERRE NWEBAERE R
BMENERER FHEEERRELE
EIREMRA] B BERA  E BEHK
i BRERAKE  EH BB RN
REWHESE SZBEAAIRAZTBTA
UREREFERZIRBEGZRE L
ZEoAKENREFHN TX

2024 2023 2022
—EBEoNE —ZE-Z=F =—TB=-Z=

GHG” emissions (in tCO,-e)
BERB ERECIM_SFtBmEE)

1 Stationary (Natural gas)
& (RAR)
Mobile — Gasoline & diesel
BB — T h &5

2 Purchased electricity
SNEBE N
3 Disposal of paper waste
ZERER
Fresh water processing
B 32 RK
Sewage water processing
Bz 38 57K
Total GHG" emissions
BERB HAHENRE
Carbon Emission intensity per m?
BYLFARBHEREE
Carbon Emission intensity per million RMB revenue?
BEEARBUBABRBEREE!

The GHG is calculated according to the “Guidelines to Account for and
Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings
(Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong” jointly
published by Environmental Protection Department and Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department.

# During the Reporting Period, the total revenue of the Group was
RMB243,568,000 (2023: RMB239,421,000. 2022: RMB326,509,000).

5,173.24 5,881.82 15,280.46

158.73 197.92 159.76

83,632.12 74,591.67 59,068.57

14.04 15.03 15.91
28.83 45.57 41.84
13.92 22.00 21.07

88,920.88 80,754.01 74,587.61

0.296 0.269 0.248

365.08 337.29 228.44

8 BRERBIDREREFREZTLBETIEFTN
RERMMKEEEEY(BHEX EXTHALHA
B)NREREBHEMERBEOZENREE
S E -

# RBEHE AEBOHMRARKAAEARE
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Air emission

While natural gas is considered a cleaner fuel source compared
to other fossil fuels due to its combustion producing only carbon
dioxide and water vapor, it primarily consists of methane, a
potent greenhouse gas with 82 times the warming potential of
carbon dioxide. To mitigate methane emissions, preventive
measures have been instituted to address potential leakage from
CBM wells, storage tanks, pipelines, and processing plants.
These efforts involve the construction of preventive infrastructure
and the implementation of stringent monitoring protocols to
minimize adverse environmental impacts.

Additionally, the Group recognizes the significant contribution to
air pollution stemming from gasoline and diesel-powered
vehicles used for employee commuting and transportation. The
combustion of these fuels in vehicle engines emits various air
pollutants, exacerbating air quality concerns. To combat this, the
Group is dedicated to reducing air pollution by actively
encouraging employees to utilize public transportation whenever
feasible. The estimated air emissions for the Group are provided
in the following table:

REHK

MR RARMRE R E S — |k koK
RoRAEXARKES —ELLEMLEA
KRR E B R R - AR AR X
RAREEHMHEF R Fhl —ERIA
TERE ERERENR _ALHHS82
fEe BB R BN RMACEKIRAER
i MAKERK  FE EBRNT
BAEZRFRMNMEE - BREEBET N
j22 5 TR B 1 B AR B AT BR AR O BS OB
R UBRERLHRENIMNTZE -

AN AEB BRI ZRIGRANERR
FAE B T2 N & & A (£ A /) U S 5
HE) N AE e AESBREZERTE
BB =R SR BEEEZREE-
Bt AEEREBRBEEEATNG
MATNTERARERBITE  BHRLZER
R REBMMGEFTREHERINTE

Types of Pollutants SRR 2024 2023 2022
—EDME ZEZZ=F Z&=-C
Emission Data (kilogram) (“kg”)
FRBE(FR)TFR)D
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) R At (NOy) 173.71 197.64 196.65
Sulphur Dioxide (SO,) Z &AL (SO,) 0.98 1.23 0.99
Particulate Matter TR Y 15.94 18.20 18.21

Reducing Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

The extraction of natural gas often yields substantial volumes of
contaminated water alongside the gas, necessitating proper
handling, storage, and treatment to prevent land and water
source contamination. Wastewater extracted from CBM wells
undergoes meticulous processing at dedicated treatment plants
before disposal, reuse, reinjection into formations, or desalination
in evaporation ponds. During the Reporting Period, 25,891.00 m3
(2023: 24,000.00 m?®) of wastewater underwent treatment at these
facilities.
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Natural gas processing and purification entail the separation of
diverse hydrocarbons and fluids through chemical and
mechanical means, potentially generating hazardous waste
requiring specialized treatment and disposal. The Group
diligently tracks and documents the solid and liquid waste
produced by its operations, actively pursuing sustainable waste
management strategies to regulate, document, and oversee
overall waste generation and disposal processes.

Furthermore, the Group addresses non-hazardous waste, such
as paper and printed materials, which amounted to 14.04 tCO.-¢e
(2023: 15.03 tCO.-€e) in GHG emissions during the Reporting
Period. Employee-generated municipal solid waste is also
managed conscientiously. All non-hazardous waste undergoes
proper classification based on recyclability and is collected for
recycling and disposal in accordance with established protocols.

Promoting Sustainable Resources Use

The Group is committed to using natural resources responsibly
and efficiently as part of its environmental sustainability efforts.
Key initiatives focus on reducing energy and water consumption,
minimizing waste, and encouraging the use of recycled and
sustainable materials. Throughout the Reporting Period, the
Group’s primary resource consumption included electricity,
diesel, gasoline, natural gas, water, and paper, with no need for
packaging materials in its business operations.

Fossil Fuel Consumption — Diesel, Gasoline and
Natural Gas

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group utilized
2,759,279.00 m? of natural gas for operational purposes and
employee housing, constituting 5.8% of its total carbon footprint.
This marks a decrease from the consumption of 3,056,414.00 m?
in 2023. Additionally, the Group utilized 45,963.26 litres of
gasoline and 19,120.51 litres of diesel for its motor vehicles, with
a focus on regular maintenance to ensure optimal performance
and fuel efficiency.

Looking ahead, the Group remains committed to sustainability
and will explore the feasibility of transitioning to electric vehicles
as part of its ongoing efforts to reduce carbon emissions and
minimize environmental impact.
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Energy Consumption — Electricity

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total electricity
consumption was 88,685,426.30 kilowatt-hours (“kWh"),
representing 93.9% of its total carbon footprint. This
consumption was predominantly attributed to various operations,
including natural gas liquefaction, machinery and equipment
usage, lighting, air-conditioning, and electrical and thermal
appliances.

In the ongoing commitment to energy conservation and
sustainability, the Group remains dedicated to monitoring and
improving its performance in electricity consumption. By
implementing measures to enhance energy efficiency and
reduce carbon footprint, the Group aims to contribute positively
to environmental preservation and long-term sustainability.

Water Consumption

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group encountered no
challenges in sourcing water to meet its operational needs, with
a total freshwater consumption of 66,612.00 cubic meters (m?3).
Although specific water consumption data for office usage
couldn’t be disclosed due to inclusion in property management
fees and minimal usage, the Group maintains its dedication to
conserving the planet’s water resources and diligently avoids
unnecessary wastage.

Paper and Printed Matters Consumption

The Group's total paper consumption amounted to 2,924.17
kilograms during the Reporting Period, primarily utilized for
administrative, marketing, and report publication purposes.
Reduction of paper consumption within office operations stands
as a pivotal environmental objective for the Group, with all
employees actively encouraged to reuse and recycle paper to
minimize waste. Furthermore, the Group advocates for the
adoption of email and digital media for communication
endeavours, furthering its commitment to sustainability.
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Additionally, the following table provides a summary of the
Group’s resource consumption:

R HEREREE

AN PRERAEEEREEME

Scope Sources of GHG emissions 2024 2023

#E RERBREHRR “E-ME ZEC-=%
Consumption Intensity Consumption Intensity
HEE BE HEE RE
1 Stationary - (Natural gas) 2,759,279.00 m? 9.20 m¥m? 3,056,414.00 m? 10.18 m¥m?
BE-(XAR) 2,759,279.0037 J5 9.20 K/ FH K 3056414003 5% 1018 K/ F ik
Mobile - Gasoline & Diesel 65,083.77 litres 0.65 tCO,-¢ per capita 80,350.81 litres 0.82 tCO.-e per capita
BE- TR 65083777 AH06M -Gl kEE 80350817 AH0SM -G REE
2 Purchased electricity 88,685,426.30 kWh 295.57 kWh/m? 79,193,424.13 kWh 263.88 kWh/m?
NEEN 88,685,426 30 T LB 29557 FRLE/F Ak 7919342413 FRE 26388 F ALK/ TFHK
3 Disposal of paper waste 2,924.17 kg 0.06 tCO,-¢ per capita 3,132.04 kg 0.06 tCO,-¢ per capita
ZERR 292417FR A0 _EliKER 3,13204F5% A¥00H_EltHEE
Water processing 66,612.00 m® 0.17 tCO,-¢ per capita 104,758.73 m? 0.28 tCO,-€ per capita
RERAK 66612003 7k ABOITHB_ELHEE 10475873 U & AH028B_&LiKEE

Environmental Protection and Natural Resource
Conservation

As a steward of natural resources and the environment, the
Group is committed to responsible and sustainable business
practices. Environmental considerations are embedded into
every stage of its operations, ensuring compliance with industry
standards and regulatory requirements. The Group continuously
reviews and refines its environmental and safety objectives to
align with evolving best practices.

Efforts to minimize ecological impact focus on mitigating
disruptions to local ecosystems, surface water, noise levels, and
solid waste generation. The Group implements standardized
restoration measures to preserve the natural landscape and
rehabilitate sites following well excavation. Notably, during the
Reporting Period, the Group did not undertake any new well
developments, reinforcing its dedication to environmental
conservation and sustainable resource management.

Through proactive environmental initiatives, the Group remains
committed to reducing its ecological footprint while fostering
long-term sustainability.
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Climate Change Risks

Climate change presents a range of complex risks to the Group,
categorized into physical, transitional, and reputational risks.
Addressing these challenges is critical to ensuring long-term
resilience and sustainability.

° Physical Risks: The increasing frequency and severity of
extreme weather events — such as floods, droughts, and
storms — pose a direct threat to the Group’s operations.
These disruptions can affect the availability and quality of
coalbed methane and natural gas resources, leading to
reduced production, higher operational costs, and potential
revenue losses. Additionally, changing climate patterns
may impact infrastructure reliability and supply chain
stability.

o Transitional Risks: The global shift toward a low-carbon
economy, reinforced by stricter government policies and
international climate commitments, may require significant
adjustments to the Group’s business model. Emerging
regulations, carbon pricing mechanisms, and renewable
energy incentives could drive up compliance costs, alter
market dynamics, and necessitate increased investment in
cleaner technologies.

° Reputational Risks: As the energy sector faces heightened
scrutiny over environmental impact, the Group must
navigate rising expectations from stakeholders, including
investors, customers, and regulators. Failure to demonstrate
a strong commitment to sustainability and emissions
reduction could damage the Group’s reputation, weaken
stakeholder confidence, and hinder long-term business
growth.
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Strategic Response and Risk Mitigation

To effectively manage climate-related risks, the Group has
implemented a comprehensive strategy focused on adaptation
and mitigation. Key initiatives include:

° Emission Reduction Efforts: Investing in energy-efficient
technologies, optimizing production processes, and
exploring carbon capture and storage (CCS) solutions to
lower greenhouse gas emissions.

o Business Model Adaptation: Expanding investments in
renewable energy and low-carbon alternatives to align with
global sustainability trends and regulatory expectations.

o Supply Chain Resilience: Enhancing supply chain flexibility
and infrastructure resilience to minimize disruptions from
climate-related events.

° Stakeholder Engagement: Strengthening communication
with investors, regulators, and local communities to
increase awareness of climate risks and sustainability
efforts.

° Integrated Risk Management: Embedding climate risk
considerations into corporate decision-making and
continuously reviewing risk management strategies to
ensure adaptability to evolving climate challenges.

Through these proactive measures, the Group reaffirms its
commitment to sustainability, resilience, and long-term value
creation in an evolving energy landscape.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment Policy

At the core of the Group'’s ethos lies the corporate philosophy of
“establishing trust worldwide and fostering wisdom in our cities.”
Embodying this ethos, the Group invests in cultivating a
committed and skilled workforce, nurturing a culture of positivity
and productivity conducive to high performance and excellence.
Through the creation of a stimulating yet harmonious workplace
environment, the Group endeavours to attract and retain top
talent within the industry.

Adherence to the employment regulations is a cornerstone of the
Group’s operations. Acknowledging that employees are its most
invaluable asset and crucial to realizing the corporate vision of
low-carbon and clean energy development, the Group prioritizes
the promotion of corporate social responsibility and
sustainability.

In championing diversity and excellence, the Group ensures
equal opportunities across various facets of employment,
including recruitment, training, career progression, and
compensation and benefits. The Group’s performance
management framework aims to incentivize and acknowledge
employees’ contributions through a robust performance
appraisal system, evaluating job performance, skills, and
accomplishments.

Central to fostering a transparent and equitable work
environment is the Group’'s employee handbook - a vital
resource providing comprehensive guidance on employment
and labour standards, business ethics, workplace health and
safety, compensation and benefits, and management protocols.
Serving as a tool to delineate management expectations and
safeguard employees against unfair treatment and
discrimination, the handbook plays a pivotal role in fostering
mutual understanding and accountability within the workforce.
The table provided illustrates the Group’s employee
demographic breakdown.
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Employee Structure 2024 2023 2022
EBE#B —E-mE —E=-= —E-=
Total number of employees 246 240 238
EEAH
By gender Male 65.0% 66.7% 66.4%
B R & 2 S
Female 35.0% 33.3% 33.6%
g
By age 18-25 4.1% 7.9% 8.8%
RERE D 18 & 25%
26-35 31.3% 38.8% 39.9%
26 £ 357%
36-45 39.0% 28.8% 27.8%
36 £ 45 %
46-55 14.6% 14.2% 13.0%
46 &£ 5577,
56 or above 11.0% 10.4% 10.5%
56 5% & LA b
By employee category Senior Management 11.8% 12.1% 12.2%
RESER &2 =RERE
Middle Management 10.6% 10.8% 11.3%
PREERE
Junior staff 77.6% 771% 76.5%
MBET

The Group places a significant emphasis on managing employee
turnover and is committed to retaining its top talent to cultivate a
stable and productive work environment. Despite experiencing a
degree of turnover due to the disposal of a subsidiary, the Group
has proactively implemented various strategies to address this
challenge. To bolster employee retention, the Group has
prioritized enhancing employee engagement, providing
comprehensive training and development opportunities, offering
competitive compensation and benefits packages, and fostering
transparent communication between management and
employees. These initiatives are tailored to enhance employee
satisfaction and foster a positive work culture conducive to long-
term commitment. The Group remains steadfast in its dedication
to maintaining a highly skilled and dedicated workforce capable
of driving the organization’s long-term success.
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Percentage of Employee Turnover Rate 2024 2023 2022
BEERLAEEBSL —E-mE —=Z2=-= —s=-=
By gender Male 21.9% 17.6% 23.2%
&1 B & o S
Female 6.0% 17.5% 28.7%
pegi
By age 18-25 20.7% 25.0% 40.0%
BERE S 18 £ 25 7%
26-35 22.4% 13.8% 25.0%
26 = 3575%
36-45 13.3% 17.8% 24.6%
36 £ 455
46-55 2.9% 27.7% 9.8%
46 Z= 55 5%
56 or above 23.1% 12.0% 35.3%
56 5% M A E
By employee category Senior Management 6.9% 3.5% 16.9%
RESERE S BREEE
Middle Management 7.7% 30.2% 32.0%
PRER
Junior staff 19.1% 18.0% 25.5%
MHET
Occupational Health and Safety Policy BEREHEHZR2EHRER

The Group places the highest priority on occupational health and
safety to ensure a secure and healthy working environment for all
employees. In recognition of the inherent risks associated with
natural gas production, transportation, distribution, and storage,
the Group is committed to strict adherence to statutory and
industry-specific safety regulations, including compliance with
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases, and the
Measures for the Declaration of Projects with Occupational
Hazards in the PRC. Management holds the primary
responsibility for maintaining a safe workplace and ensuring all
operations meet relevant legal and regulatory requirements.
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To safeguard employee well-being, the Group’s Occupational
Health Management Team plays a proactive role in monitoring
compliance with occupational health standards and disease
prevention guidelines. Employees are provided with appropriate
personal protective equipment (PPE), including protective
gowns, helmets, gloves, eyewear, and face masks, reflecting the
Group’s unwavering commitment to workplace safety. Regular
inspections and supervision of safety procedures are conducted
to reinforce compliance and mitigate risks. Additionally, safety
education initiatives are carried out to promote a culture of
awareness and prevention throughout the organization.

In response to ongoing public health concerns, the Group has
continued to implement precautionary measures introduced
during the COVID-19 pandemic. These include the provision of
surgical masks and alcohol-based hand sanitizers at operational
sites, as well as support for remote work arrangements and
virtual meetings to reduce physical contact and maintain
business continuity.

To ensure employees remain well-informed and prepared, the
Group conducts ongoing health and safety training, briefings,
and internal communications. These efforts are designed to
reinforce safety practices and keep employees updated on any
changes in policy or procedure. During the Reporting Period,
there were no reported incidents of non-compliance with
occupational health and safety laws and regulations,
underscoring the effectiveness of the Group’s safety governance
framework.
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2024 2023 2022
Occupational Health and Safety Data BX(R@FEHEZ2EHE —E-NE —ZEC-= —E-_-
Number of work injury cases TERERHE 2 0 0
Number of work-related fatalities TYEMRBEILT AE 0 0 0
Lost days due to work injury TEBAXTHERH 207 0 0
Work injury rate ITEX 8.13 0 0
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Employee Development and Training

Employee development and training are core pillars of the
Group's human capital strategy, particularly within the highly
specialized natural gas industry. The Group is committed to
nurturing talent and supporting employees in achieving their full
potential through structured learning and professional growth
opportunities.

To build a skilled and future-ready workforce, the Group offers a
comprehensive suite of in-house training programs designed to
enhance technical competencies, leadership capabilities, and
operational excellence. In addition, employees are encouraged
to participate in external professional and certification courses,
sponsored by the Group, to further advance their careers and
stay abreast of industry developments.

Promoting a culture of continuous learning, the Group supports
lifelong education by providing educational allowances and
learning resources. These initiatives are intended to encourage
employees to expand their knowledge base, develop new skills,
and improve both personal and professional outcomes.

During the Reporting Period, the Group systematically tracked
and recorded average training hours per employee, as
presented in the accompanying data table. To ensure relevance
and impact, the Group regularly reviews and refines its training
and development framework, aligning learning programs with
evolving workforce needs and organizational goals.

By investing in its people, the Group aims to attract, retain, and
develop high-calibre talent, strengthening its long-term
capabilities and contributing to sustainable business success.
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Training Hours 2024 2023 2022
3Z 3| B B —E-ME —E_-=HF =t —
Total (hours) 13,992.0 13,772.0 13,125.0
MR

Average (per employee) (hours) 56.9 57.4 551

BEEFHEIRH

By Gender (Average training hours and percentage of
employees who received training)

BB E D (FHEIFBERZIEERT D)

Male By hour 65.7 65.3 63.1
E=R N
By percentage 100% 100% 100%
RADL
Female By hour 41.0 41.5 40.0
z AN
By percentage 100% 100% 100%
BrASH

By Employee Category (Average training hours and
percentage of employees who received training)
RESEMNES (FTHBEIBERZIEETD L)

Senior management By hour 45.9 45.6 43.3
EREERE RN
By percentage 100% 100% 100%
EADL
Middle management By hour 55.3 57.6 57.3
HPREEE 12N B
By percentage 100% 100% 100%
ZES L
Junior staff By hour 58.9 59.2 56.8
/BT 17N B
By percentage 100% 100% 100%
ZARS L
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Labour Practices and Compliance

The Group is committed to upholding fair labour practices and
ensuring compliance with all applicable employment laws and
regulations, including those concerning child labour, forced
labour, and employee rights. Maintaining a lawful, ethical, and
supportive workplace is central to the Group's social
responsibility framework.

To communicate employment standards effectively, the Group
has developed a comprehensive Employee Handbook. This
document outlines key policies and procedures related to
remuneration and benefits, leave entitlements, training and
development, occupational health and safety, business ethics,
and codes of conduct — ensuring all employees are informed of
their rights and responsibilities.

Recruitment practices are governed by a structured recruitment
policy designed to attract qualified talent in accordance with
relevant labour laws, job criteria, and candidate expectations. All
hiring processes are conducted with a focus on fairness,
transparency, and legal compliance.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded no incidents of
non-compliance with labour-related laws or regulations that
would have had a material impact on its operations. Key
employment areas — such as compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours and rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and employee
welfare — remained fully aligned with statutory requirements.

OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management and Supplier Engagement

The Group is committed to maintaining transparency, integrity,
and ethical conduct across its supply chains. As part of our
governance framework, we have established a stringent
procurement policy to ensure the fair, honest, and competitive
sourcing of goods and services. This policy is designed to
optimize cost efficiency, support uninterrupted operations, and
uphold our standards of responsible procurement.
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Supplier selection is conducted based on the principle of
‘competitive and merit-based procurement.” In alignment with
this, the Group follows a structured tendering process that
includes preparing procurement plans, issuing bidding
documents, publishing tender notices, collecting and evaluating
submissions, shortlisting qualified suppliers, conducting
inspections and assessments, selecting successful bidders, and
formalizing contractual agreements.

The Group recognizes that strong supplier partnerships are
integral to improving operational efficiency and delivering long-
term value. To that end, we seek to establish strategic
collaborations, provide performance-based incentives, manage
operational risks proactively, and implement robust emergency
response mechanisms within our supply chain.

Suppliers are evaluated on a comprehensive set of criteria,
including corporate reputation, financial soundness, product
quality, and pricing stability. In line with our environmental
objectives, preference is given to suppliers who hold certified
environmental management systems. As part of our sustainability
efforts during the Reporting Period, the Procurement Department
oversaw a network of 689 approved suppliers across Hong Kong
and Mainland China. Regular supplier performance reviews were
conducted to ensure continued compliance with our procurement
standards and sustainability goals.

In addition, the Group incorporates environmental considerations
into supplier selection. When all other qualifications are met,
priority is given to suppliers with strong environmental
credentials. These evaluations cover factors such as
environmental management system certification, eco-friendly
product design, application of green supply chain decision-
making methodologies, emission reduction performance, energy
efficiency, and environmental cost management.
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Product Responsibility and Quality Assurance
Process

The Group is committed to delivering a reliable and high-quality
supply of natural gas to its customers. To uphold this
commitment, a comprehensive product responsibility and quality
assurance framework has been established to ensure that all
products and services meet stringent safety and performance
standards.

Regular maintenance and inspection protocols are in place,
including routine checks of pipeline pressure gauges to
safeguard the integrity and reliability of the natural gas supply
chain. In addition, semi-annual gas quality analyses conducted
by the Municipal Bureau of Quality and Technical Supervision in
the PRC help verify compliance with established specifications.
Daily monitoring of production capacity further supports the
consistency and stability of gas supply.

To ensure accuracy in billing and metering, gas measuring
instruments and related components are subject to annual
calibration and testing. These quality control measures
collectively contribute to operational excellence and enhance
customer satisfaction.

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any
complaints related to the quality of its products or services, to
the best of its knowledge. This reflects the effectiveness of its
quality assurance processes and its strong focus on customer
trust and service excellence.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

EmEERERARE

AEBBOSEPRERHEAEZEMEENX
AREE - RETE —A#H HMADE
YEHMNEMBEERERER  AER
PMBEMMRBTEEBN L2 RIMEEE

THeERREHHCI UL BRER
BAKHHTRE  AREXARHE
BHCTEMENRAEML - I PENH
BEERMEBRREFFET—RNX
AREENPMEIRNREESNARE
BRE-AERINAFTERE-—FPH
THAN-HERRBEN -

RERAERAENEREE REHNE
EREBTHASFETRELAR -
ZEHEENERARNEHRER = -
BENVRSEPMEE -

REEREHME BRAKEHRRAT K
SEYEZETNEBEERAREE
EMNERF - -ERATHERAENANR
MREHEFPEEREBRENHEERER
PR



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Consumer Data Protection and Privacy Policy

The Group places utmost importance on safeguarding the data
of its employees, customers, and suppliers, prioritizing their
privacy and confidentiality. To this end, the Group strictly
adheres to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong
and the Personal Information Protection Law (PIPL) in the PRC,
mandating employees to uphold the integrity and confidentiality
of data when utilizing company computers for data processing.
Comprehensive measures have been implemented, including
access passwords to secure servers and computers, with
employees tasked with the protection of personal data, trade
secrets, and proprietary information obtained from employees,
customers, and suppliers. The Group’s employee handbook
outlines detailed guidelines on document confidentiality and
computer security, ensuring that employees are fully aware of
their responsibilities in maintaining data integrity and privacy.

Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

The Group recognizes the importance of its corporate logo and
domain names in defining the Group’s brand and corporate
identity, the Group has diligently registered them and adheres
strictly to intellectual property (“IP”) rights regulations. Confident
in its comprehensive approach, the Group has implemented
robust measures to safeguard its own IP rights and respect
those of third parties.

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group has remained
vigilant in monitoring and protecting its intellectual property
assets. No significant instances of infringement of either the
Group's IP rights or those of third parties have been
encountered. This underscores the Group’s commitment to
upholding the integrity of intellectual property and preserving its
brand identity.
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Anti-corruption and Conflict of Interest Policy

In adherence to the highest standards of ethical corporate
conduct, the Group’s Code of Ethics mandates compliance with
applicable laws and regulations concerning corruption, extortion,
fraudulent activities, and conflicts of interest for all employees,
including Directors. Prohibiting the offering, solicitation, or
acceptance of anything of material value from colleagues,
customers, suppliers, or competitors, the Group ensures
business activities are conducted with honesty and fairness,
strictly adhering to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter
201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Criminal law of the PRC and the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC.

Directors and employees are obligated to act in the Group’s best
interests, mitigating conflicts between personal or financial
interests and official duties. Any instance wherein employees
leverage authority, influence decisions, or access valuable
information for personal or financial gain is strictly prohibited.
Annual disclosure of potential conflicts of interest is mandatory,
requiring Directors and employees to complete a disclosure form
to uphold transparency and integrity within the Group.

Preventive Measures and Whistle-blowing Procedures

The Group actively promotes a culture of transparency and
integrity, encouraging employees to report any suspected
instances of corruption, misconduct, conflicts of interest, or
malpractice through confidential whistleblowing procedures.
Reported cases are diligently investigated by the Group’s Audit
Committee, ensuring swift and impartial resolution. To reinforce
ethical standards, employees are provided with a copy of the
Group’s Code of Ethics, reaffirming their commitment to
upholding the Group's principles.

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group disseminated anti-
corruption information to its employees, fostering awareness and
adherence to relevant laws and regulations. Notably, no
instances of non-compliance were observed during this period.
Additionally, the Group and its employees have not been
implicated in any corruption litigation, underscoring the Group’s
steadfast commitment to ethical conduct and corporate integrity.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
Community Engagement

As a socially responsible organization, the Group recognizes the
importance of engaging with its stakeholders to address and
mitigate potential environmental and social impacts. In alignment
with this commitment, the Group actively participates in and
supports charitable events and community-based initiatives
aimed at promoting positive social outcomes. These efforts
reflect the Group’s dedication to creating shared value and
conducting business in a manner that benefits the broader
community.

Environmental Sustainability

In response to growing environmental challenges, the Group
continues to implement proactive measures to reduce its carbon
footprint and promote sustainable operations. These initiatives
include reducing energy consumption, minimizing waste
generation, and encouraging the use of environmentally friendly
materials. The Group also explores innovative technologies and
best practices to further advance its environmental performance
and reduce its ecological impact.

Employee Well-being

Recognizing that its workforce is integral to long-term success,
the Group places strong emphasis on fostering a safe, healthy,
and supportive work environment. A range of initiatives is in
place to promote employee well-being, including occupational
health and safety training, regular medical check-ups, access to
mental health resources, and counselling services. To support
work-life balance, the Group also provides flexible working
arrangements, contributing to a positive and productive
workplace culture.
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Community Support and Charitable Contributions

The Group is dedicated to making a meaningful and lasting
impact in the communities where it operates. In Qinchi, Shanxi,
the hub of its operations, the Group actively supports local
development through various social, educational, and
environmental initiatives. These include sponsorship of
educational programs and the provision of learning resources for
underprivileged children, aimed at improving access to quality
education and promoting long-term social upliftment.

In support of its environmental stewardship goals, the Group
also engages in afforestation initiatives to reduce air pollution. To
date, approximately 50 acres of green space have been
established through tree-planting efforts. Additionally, the Group
encourages environmental awareness among its employees by
organizing monthly “Environmental Protection Days” to promote
sustainable practices within the organization.

The Group acknowledges the critical role that the Qinchi
community plays in supporting its operations by providing
essential infrastructure, local talent, and a stable economic
environment. In return, the Group contributes to the socio-
economic development of the community through job creation,
environmental protection, and fiscal responsibility. By employing
local labour and actively addressing employment needs, the
Group plays a key role in supporting regional economic stability.
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KPIs REFERENCE TABLE

R HEREREE

BAREENERSZR

Reference KPIs of the ESG Reporting Code

ESGHETANBRANIEERESE

Corresponding KPIs
in the sections of the Report
AEEEHPHENBEREEREES

A. Environment

A RE

A1: Emissions Policies
and compliance

Al BEHRBERER

Al.1:
A1 BER8UE
A1.2:

Emissions Data

Greenhouse gas emissions

A1.2 B EREEHERR

A1.3:

Total hazardous waste

A13: BEEEYRE

Al.4:

Total non-hazardous waste

Al4: BEEYES

A1.5:

Measures to mitigate emissions

A15 R D BERR A FE B

A1.6:

How hazardous and non-hazardous

waste are handled

Al BEERBEREEVMNERIES N

A2: Use of Resources
Policies

A2 ERFERABE

A3: The Environment and
Natural Resources
Policies

A3 RIERRAERBE

A2.1:

A2.1:
A2.2:
A2.2:
A2.3:
A2.3:
A2.4:
A2.4 :
A2.5:
A2.5:
A3.1:

Direct and/or indirect energy
consumption
EERSEEEREE
Water consumption
PR 7KOH #
Energy use efficiency
B R A AR
Issue in sourcing water
SR ER KR ) )
Total packaging materials used
FTRABREMHEE
Significant impacts of activities on
the environment and natural
resources

A3 EBHRBERRAERNEAF

Py

- Emissions Policy
HERRIR

- Carbon Footprint — Greenhouse
Gas Emissions
iR B — R = R B HE X

- Air Emission
REBHH

- Reducing Hazardous and
Non-hazardous Waste
WMAOBEREEEY

—  Promoting Sustainable
Resources Use
RETFEERER

- Emissions Policy
PRI R

- Reducing Hazardous and Non-
hazardous Waste
WAOBENEEEY

- Promoting Sustainable
Resources Use
R A B ERE A

- Environmental Protection and
Natural Resource Conservation
BRERERBABERRE

B AR A A
—E-mEER
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Reference KPIs of the ESG Reporting Code
ESGHRETFANBRERERESZE

Corresponding KPIs
in the sections of the Report
ABEEHPHENBEREEREES

A4: Climate Change A4.1: Significant climate-related issues
Policies A4 B RS EHE R R

Ad : IR ER

B. Social
B.#%&
Employment and Labour
Practices
BER % TEH
B1: Employment Policies B1.1: Total workforce
and compliance B11: EB A
Bl EEEERER B1.2: Employee Turnover
Bl.2: EEmMAKLLX
B2: Health and Safety B2.1: Work-related fatalities
Policies and B2 : I UMM A
compliance B2.2: Lost days due to work injury
B2: BREHZZHERE B22:EAIBEXAIEAH
5] B2.3: Occupational health and safety
measures adopted
B23: MIERMABIRBERE L 21
B3: Development and B3.1: Employees trained
Training Policies B3.1: ZFEEBR
B3 : & RIFINBR B3.2: Average training hours completed
per employee
B3.2: @HE B e K Xl H) T 190 8
B4: Labour Standards B4.1: Measures to review employment
Policies and practices to avoid child and
compliance forced labour
B4 BITERBBERER Bi1:BABEEMNEHEUABREET

K58 il 85 T
B4.2: Steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered
B42: EEHIERB AT HBRABEBER
T ER X A9 25 B
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—  Climate Change Risks
RAR 1L = B

- Strategic Response and Risk
Mitigation
JIE S5 3R S I L I 4% R

- Employment Policy
EEEE

- Labour Practices and
Compliance
BTEMNRER

- Occupational Health and Safety
Policy
BERRETRBE

- Employee Development and
Training

REBEREEI

- Employment Policy
12 1R BUR

- Labour Practices and
Compliance
LTIEHINER
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Reference KPIs of the ESG Reporti
ESGHRETAMNBERERIERESZ

ng Code

R HEREREE

Corresponding KPIs
in the sections of the Report
ABEEHPHENBEREEREES

Operating Practices

EEEDH
B5: Supply Chain B5.1:
Management B5.1
Policies B5.2:
B5: ftESEEEBE
B5.2 :
B5.3:
B5.3 :
B5.4:
B5.4 :
B6: Product Responsibility B6.1:
Policies and
compliance B6.1
B6  EmMmBERABKRER
B6.2:
B6.2 :
B6.3:
B6.3 :
B6.4:
B6.4 :
B6.5:
B6.5

Suppliers by geographical region
SRR E S HERE A
Practices relating to engaging
suppliers
BB HEERNIED
Practices used to identify
environmental and social risks
BB RIRE Mt g = b #1E f
Practices used to promote
environmentally preferable
products and services when
selecting suppliers
EREHEEREESZBRRE
an N AR 75 69 18
Percentage of total products sold
or shipped subject to recalls
EEHCEXERBETADIK
EON=Ia s d
Products and service related
complaints received
PR E B RA O E i MR S B # B
Practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property
rights
HEENRENBEERBANE
il
Quality assurance process and
recall procedures
BEEmTBRENEMRDWRERF
Consumer data protection and
privacy policies

DHEEERRERLEBBRER

Supply Chain Management and
Supplier Engagement
HEEEE REtEHS N

- Product Responsibility and
Quality Assurance Process
EmBEERERTRE

- Consumer Data Protection and
Privacy Policy
HEEERRRE R AL BB

- Protecting Intellectual Property
Rights
R o8 1 B EE M

B AR A A
—E-mEER
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B HERERBE

Reference KPIs of the ESG Reporting Code
ESGHRETFANBRERERESZE

Corresponding KPIs
in the sections of the Report
ABEEEHPHENBEREREES

B7: Anti-corruption B7.1: Concluded legal cases regarding
Policies and corrupt practices
compliance B71 :  BEEEWNEGHALDEM

B7: RESHERER B7.2: Preventive measures and whistle-

blowing procedures
B7.2: [y #4855 B A2 Fr
B7.3: Anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff
B73: MEFRBEITRHHREIFTHE
Community Investment

HERE

B8: Community Investment B8.1: Focus areas of contribution
Policies B8.1: )X HERIE IS

B8 HEREME B8.2: Resources contributed

B8.2: FTBIAE R
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- Anti-corruption and Conflict of
Interest Policy
&5 RN w & RB R

- Preventive Measures and
Whistle-blowing Procedures
TabyHE b R B r

- Community Engagement
it

- Environmental Sustainability
RIFAFE M

- Employee Well-being
B E R

—  Community Support and
Charitable Contributions
HEXFHEIESEE



BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT
ESRTEEEERBREER

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, aged 62, has been appointed as
chairman of the Board, an executive Director and the compliance
officer of the Company since May 2006. From 9 January 2004 to
26 May 2006, Mr. Wang was an executive director of Tianjin
Jinran Public Utilities Company Limited (“Tianjin Jinran”)
(formerly known as Tianjin Tianlian Public Utilities Company
Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 01265, former stock code: 08290), and
was responsible for its business strategies. He graduated from
the University of Tianjin with a bachelor degree in engineering in
1984. Mr. Wang is also a director of Tianjin Leason Investment
Group Company Limited (KZME R EEB AR AR]). Mr.
Wang is a substantial shareholder of the company which holds
290,926,252 Shares in person or through controlled corporation,
representing approximately 74.51% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of this report.

Mr. Chang Jian, aged 60, was appointed as an executive
director on June 2019. Mr. Chang has previously studied in the
Safe Engineering department of Beijing Technical College of
Economics (3t 3 £ 7 2t ). Mr. Chang has over 30 years of
experience in industrial production and safety management. Mr.
Chang holds 2,500,000 Shares in person, representing
approximately 0.64% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this report.

Mr. Wang Chen, aged 39, was appointed as an non-executive
director on June 2019 and re-designated to an executive director
on 1 November 2024. Mr. Wang has previously studied in Tianjin
Bohai Vocational Technical College (KE#)/&/t T 82 R 1T E67).
He has over 10 years of experience in corporate management.
Mr. Wang is the son of the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Wang
holds 250,000 Shares in person, representing approximately
0.06% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of this report.

5=
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FTRBEE 62 B-_ZEZEXFAA
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(TRERRR] —RRBXAERETZ
ANAE DR 01265) (A8 K2 KB
AEAEERHERAE BHARSE:
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BEAEE 60 R_TE—NLFNAE
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ERARRIEAREFEAR 2B T
BE AR 490.64% ©

THREAE 9O RZE—NFAE
ZEAIPATEZTTR T _MF+—
A—BERATANTES - TLAEEH
EBERREDBLECIBERNSER #E
BRIOFZLEEELR TAEAAX
RAEFEZR T - TEENBARRE
B 250,000 &7 - 1B E R AR QR RERR
HETEHH 2 EITRAL0.06% °

B AR A A
—E-mEER

173



74 |

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT

EERTEEEEBEREH

Mr. Tan Ye Kai, Byron, aged 56, was appointed as an executive
director on 1 September 2024. Mr. Tan has been a director of
Capital 9 Limited, which is a corporate finance adviser licensed
by the Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) to carry
out Type 6 regulated activities (Advising on Corporate Finance)
since 2021. Mr. Tan graduated from the Deakin University of
Australia with a bachelor degree with major in information system
and finance in 1993. He was admitted as a member of the
Australian Society of Certified Public Accountants in 1995 and
was qualified as a Chartered Financial Analyst of the CFA
Institute in 1997. Mr. Tan has over 25 years of experience in the
investment banking and financial services industry and has
gained all-round experience through working for both
international and local financial firms including Carr Indosuez
Asia Limited, Dao Heng Securities Limited, First Shanghai
Securities Limited, Kingsway Financial Services Group Limited
and Convoy Global Holdings Limited.

Mr. Leung Chi Ho, aged 46, was appointed as an executive
director on 1 November 2024. He joined the Company as finance
manager in 2019. Mr. Leung graduated from the Swinburne
University of Technology with a Bachelor of Business in
Accounting degree. Mr. Leung has extensive experience in the
fields of audit, internal control, accountancy, taxation and
treasury. Mr. Leung is interested as a grantee of options to
subscribe for 800,000 shares under the share options scheme
adopted by the Company on 28 March 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT
ESRTEEEERBREER

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Duan Shi Chuan, aged 43, was appointed as an non-
executive director on July 2020 and retired as a non-executive
director on 11 June 2024, Mr. Duan obtained a master degree in
environmental sciences from the China University of Petroleum
(Beijing) (FF B A0 A2 (48 51)) in 2009. Mr. Duan has extensive
experience in production and liquefaction of coalbed gas. Mr.
Duan holds 125,000 Shares in person, representing
approximately 0.03% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this report.

Mr. Liang Feng, aged 47, was appointed as an non-executive
director on June 2019 and resigned as a non-executive director
on 1 November 2024. Mr. Liang has previously studied in the
Economic Development course offered by the School of
Economics and Management of Tsinghua University. He has
over 15 years of experience in corporate management.

Ms. Li Siliang, aged 38, was appointed as an non-executive
director on 1 November 2024. Ms. Li joined the Company as
chief representative of the Company’s Beijing Office in 2023. Ms.
Li holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Human Resources by Beijing
Institute of Petrochemical Technology. Ms. Li has extensive
experience in human resources and administrative works with
various corporations. Ms. Li holds 487,500 Shares in person,
representing approximately 0.12% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT

EERTEEEEBEREH

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Pong, aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on November 2017. Mr. Lau graduated
from the University of California, Los Angeles with a Bachelor of
Arts degree in Business Economics in 1997. Mr. Lau is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Lau has extensive experience in
accounting, auditing and corporate finance. He was (i) the
qualified accountant and company secretary of Shenzhen
Mingwah Aohan High Technology Corporation Limited (Il i
BB E R IR AR A F)) (listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 8301) from April 2005 to May 2006;
(ii) the financial controller and company secretary of We
Solutions Limited (former names: Ming Fung Jewellery Group
Limited and O Luxe Holdings Limited) (listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 860) from June 2008 and
November 2008 respectively to November 2017; (iii) the group
financial controller and company secretary of AV Promotions
Holdings Limited (listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange with
stock code: 8419) from June 2018 to June 2019; and (iv) the
company secretary of Grand T G Gold Holdings Ltd (KE &%
TR B R A A)) (listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange with
stock code: 8299) from January 2019 to February 2020. Mr. Lau
is currently the Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of
Clifford Modern Living Holdings Limited (listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 3686), and the
independent non-executive director of China Longevity Group
Company Limited (R El#E X EE B R A 7 (listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1863).
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT
ESRTEEEERBREER

Mr. Wang Zhi He, aged 77, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since August 2006. Mr. Wang
is a senior accountant. Mr. Wang graduated from Anhui
University of Finance and Economics in February 1972, and was
assigned to finance department of Anhui Huaibei Mining Bureau
and worked as a commissioner, deputy section chief, section
chief, deputy director and director. Mr. Wang was transferred to
the Ministry of Coal Industry in May 1995, and worked as a
director of Asset Capital Management Division and State-owned
Assets Management department. In October 1997, Mr. Wang
was re-designated as a chief accountant of China Coal
Construction Group Corporation, and worked as a deputy
general manager and chief accountant in May 1999. Mr. Wang
was transferred to Zhonglian Gas Company Limited and worked
as a chief accountant in March 2004. Mr. Wang has years of
relevant experience.

Mr. Xu Yuan Jian, aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on August 2019. Mr. Xu graduated from
Beijing Normal University with a bachelor's degree in Chemistry
in 1994. He pursued the doctorate in the National University of
Singapore from 1997 to 2000. Mr. Xu has years of working
experience in research areas of organic chemical technology as
well as in physiochemical treatment for organic pollutants.

Senior Management

Mr. Tse Chun Lai, aged 41, was appointed as the company
secretary and authorised representative of the Company on
January 2020. Mr. Tse obtained a degree of bachelor of arts in
Accounting and Finance from Leeds Beckett University (formerly
known as Leeds Metropolitan University). He is a certified public
accountant of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Tse has over 15 years of experience in
business and taxation advisory.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEGHRE

The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 101 to 102.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31
December 2024 are set out in the consolidated and company
statements of financial position on pages 103 to 104 and note 29
respectively. The cash flows of the Group are set out in the
consolidated statement of cash flows on pages 106 to 108.

The Directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of
a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 28(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year is set
out in page 105 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

EFEEUNREAEEHE_T M@
T A=T—HALFEZFHRELE
mAaMBEE-

FEXK

RRABRBREERRAR - LK B A
TEXBENGE M IERRMEEI7 -

Az

FRRDIK

AEBHEE T _NMF+_-_A=+—H
N FEZEEHNEI0NE102BEZ2H4
BHREAMGEABZLEM2EKRER -

REBRRARRAAR_ZE_MNFE+_A
EJr—EZ%@Hﬁ:/RD%‘J%mé%msi
104BE 2 e RARAZHMBRRAER K
MaEo9 e REE 2R € i = #H M F106
Z18E i REMER °

ARBEETERREHE T _IF
TZA=+T—BIEFENRKRE -

B A R fi e

KRBRERZ A E
Bt 75 ¥R = MY 5 28(a) °

HBEREZES

AEERFAZHBESHHNF1058
ZEAMB®ME -



PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out on pages 19 to 37 of this
annual report.

DONATIONS

Donations by the Group for charitable and other purposes
amounted to approximately RMB nil (2023: approximately RMB
nil).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 228.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the
Company’s articles of association, the Company's reserves
available for distribution to its shareholders comprise share
premium, contributed surplus and accumulated losses which in
aggregate amounted to approximately RMB14,853,000 as at 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB34,184,000). The distributable
reserves are available for distribution provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed, the
Company will be able to pay off its debt as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2024 were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman)

Mr. Chang Jian

Mr. Wang Chen (re-designed from a non-executive director
on 1 November 2024)

Mr. Tan Ye Kai, Byron (appointed on 1 September 2024)

Mr. Leung Chi Ho (appointed on 1 November 2024)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Duan Shi Chuan (retired on 11 June 2024)
Mr. Liang Feng (resigned on 1 November 2024)

Mr. Wang Chen (re-designed to an executive director
on 1 November 2024)
Ms. Li Siliang (appointed on 1 November 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Pong
Mr. Wang Zhi He
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian

In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Wang
Chen, Mr. Tan Ye Kai, Byron, Mr. Leung Chi Ho, Ms. Li Siliang
and Mr. Xu Yuan Jian shall retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

The term of office for each of independent non-executive
Directors is the period up to his retirement by rotation and re-
election at annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the provisions of the bye-laws of the Company.

Biographical information of the Directors is set out on page 73 to
page 77 of this report.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors have
remained independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND KEY MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION

Details of Directors’ and key management’s remuneration for the
year are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’
approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined
by the Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities
and performance and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No other contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business subsisted at the year-end or any time during the year to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes
or may cause any significant competition with the business of the
Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on Information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings
by directors of listed issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company

EERBSITBRAERKDG 4
ERORESF2EZIAKXR

RZZFEZWAF+ZA=+—8 &EXRQ
ARBEFLBAGBRIN(ERRBEK
Bl E2EMEMBFE 2 ELMATR
8% - SR % GEM L 71 #7 Bl 55 5.46 & BT it
FHBETAEFETXINAERED
MEARRARREBR EFRARDA&
BITHABEARRD A S E E R B AR
(EBEREBHFRBEBRMEXVE) B KR
D MHEKROERESFPz2EZEAEN
™

REAQXTFRMG HERORESZ

wR

Number of Approximate

shares/ %

underlying of

Name Capacity Nature of interest shares shareholdings

B %,/ FREL

%A 237 BEME HERGHE BOL

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Interest of controlled Corporate interest 2,264,812 0.58%
TRELEE corporation NI (Note 1)
REEEER (F3E1)

Beneficial owner Personal 299,028,739 76.59%
EnBEEA (EPN (Note 2)
(FiF&x2)

Mr. Chang Jian Beneficial owner Personal 2,500,000 0.64%
BEEE ERBEEA A (Note 3)
(P 3£ 3)

Mr. Wang Chen Beneficial owner Personal 250,000 0.06%
THREE EnlEAA A (Note 4)
(Pt 3 4)

Mr. Leung Chi Ho Beneficial owner Personal 800,000 0.2%
REZRKE BEREEA (EPN (Note 5)
(Fft 5% 5)

Ms. Li Siliang Beneficial owner Personal 487,500 0.12%
Tt ERBEEA & A (Note 6)
GEL)
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Notes:

Save

As at 31 December 2024, Jumbo Lane Investments Limited was interested
in 2,264,812 shares.

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng owns 100% interest in the issued share capital of
Jumbo Lane Investments Limited and he is taken to be interested in the
shares owned by Jumbo Lane Investments Limited pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng held 299,028,739 long
positions in shares and underlying shares, which are (i) a beneficial owner
of 288,661,440 shares of the Company and (ii) a holder of convertible
bonds convertible to 10,367,299 conversion shares, which has become
matured on 16 January 2025.

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Chang Jian is interested as a beneficial
owner of 2,500,000 shares of the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Wang Chen is interested as a beneficial
owner of 250,000 shares of the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Leung Chi Ho is interested as a grantee of
options to subscribe for 800,000 shares under the new share option
scheme adopted by the Company on 28 March 2022.

As at 31 December 2024, Ms. Li Siliang is interested as a beneficial owner
of 487,500 shares of the Company.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the

Directors or chief executive of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which were otherwise required, pursuant to
the required standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers
as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be

notifi

ed to the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Group

had not issued any debentures during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEGHRE

F5E -

1. RIZE-_NFE+-_A=+—H BEREHR
PR A HE A 2,264,812 R IR 19 2 #E 2% o
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K2100%#a  RIFFBEGIFESTNEF S
REEGOIEXVE  ERABRERGANRE
HRABRABDHEAEZBROPHEAER -

2. R-TBE-_mWE+-A=+—8B F&BLL
#5745 299,028,739 X iX 1n R AR EA MR (0 2 {7 & -
BN A& (i) A8 A 5] 288,661,440 % Bk 10 M B 25 lE A
A K (i) AT #5458 510,367,299 A% #2 IR % {5 (B 7
TE-RE—-A+ARNBIMNATBBRESE
BA

3. RZZE-_NMF+_A=+—H FELEME
BEZEEA A R R 72,500,000 8% B 7
HHER -

4. R-ZE-_WE+-_A=+—8 FZHELH®E

BEZEA A RAR F 250,000 8 5% 15 & 2
B

5. R -_mWE+-_A=+—08 2EF%4
BERAARAR-ZZFEZ_F=ZA=+\BEHK
R T EE AR #E 5T 2] - 1E B AT 58 8% 800,000 % A% 15
REREARABESER -

6. R-_E-_WNE+-_A=+—H FTHxt
ERERA A RA R A]487,500 8% i% 15 A
AR -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND PERSONS
WITH DISCLOSEABLE INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed above)
had an interest or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

FERRERE O RAEEKRD
BEREESRPERAEAT
RE2EERABEZAL

RZZEZWEF+ZRA=+—8 " ZIRE
BENEEEG FEIB6IERTEARGA
FrREz2ERfmes THAL(ER
EXBBEZEESH AR RSITHRAE
BRI R AR B BN RABBE AR D R B

Sz Y
MmIOKE

Long positions in shares of the Company REABDRGZEFR

Percentage of
Name Number of shares Nature of Interest shareholding
" & KROEE #EZEHEH ERES
Ms. Zhao Xin (Note) 301,293,551 Interest of spouse 7717%
2 2 (5L Ao B 2 #E et
Note: B 5F

Ms. Zhao Xin (the spouse of Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng) is deemed to be interested
in her spouse’s interest in the Company pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no other
person (other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had an interest or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under to section 336 of the
SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS
TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and Chief
Executive's Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above and in the section “Share Option
Scheme” below, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any Director or their respective
spouse or minor children or chief executive or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the Shareholders
on18 May 2011, the Company adopted the Previous Share
Option Scheme. Under the Previous Share Option Scheme, the
Board may offer options to the eligible persons prescribed in the
Previous Share Option Scheme in its discretion. The Company
had granted 32,119,074 options under the Previous Share Option
Scheme to subscribe for an aggregate of 32,119,074 Shares, of
which no options had been exercised and all the 32,119,074
options have been lapsed, resulting in no options remained
outstanding. The Previous Share Option Scheme has expired on
18 May 2021.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 28 March 2022, the
Company’s new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted which will remain in force for a period of
10 years from adoption of the New Share Option Scheme and
will expire on 27 March 2032.

For details of the New Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 10 March 2022.
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Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting
or by the Board, the New Share Option Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of 10 years from the date of its
adoption and the remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme
as at 31 December 2024 is approximately 7.24 years. The
number of options available for grant under the scheme mandate
of the New Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2024 was
zero shares (31 December 2023: Nil). The number of shares that
may be issued in respect of options and awards granted under
the New Share Option Scheme during the financial year divided
by the weighted average number of shares of the relevant class
in issue for the year was approximately 0%.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the New
Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue. Where any further grant of Options to a participant would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
Options granted and to be granted to such participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding Options) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the Shares in issue, such
further grant must be separately approved by the Shareholders
in general meeting with such participant and his/her associates
abstaining from voting, and the number and terms of Options to
be granted to such participant must be fixed before the
Shareholders’ approval.

Apart from the New Share Option Scheme, the Group have no
other share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules
during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 and as at the
date of this Annual Report.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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Information in relation to share options disclosed in accordance

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EEEHRE

R GEM £ 5 RI A 35 B8 B B R A A

with the GEM Listing Rules was as follows: BRI
Exercise price
Cancelled/ of per share
As at Granted Exercised lapsed As at Date of Exercise as at the date
Name and category of 1 January duringthe  duringthe  duringthe 31 December grant of period of  of grant of
participants 2024 Transfer year year year 2024 share options share options share options
i
R R a2 RERE
ZRIQE B/ t=A 1] BRE HLEH2
SRERLREN -A-H BE EFRERY HFREAE P =t-H REAH E8 SROEE
Executive Director
HITEE
Mr. Leung Chi Ho - 800,000 - - - 800,000 131002022  13/10/2022- 0456
RERRE 12110/2082
- 800,000 - - - 800,000
Employees 8,990,003 (800,000) - - - 8,190,003  13/10/2022  13/10/2022- 0456
E& 12110/2032
Corporate financial advise 1,875,000 - - - - 1,875,000 7/4/2022 T/412022- 0.448
CRUBER 6/4/2032
10,865,003 - - - - 10,865,003

B AR A A
—E-mEER

| 87



88 |

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEGHRE

Notes:

(i) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the year are as
follows:

Number of options

Vesting conditions

F5E -
() MEAFEFEZBEBERRGEHDT

Contractual life of options

BREHE HBEGH BRESHFY
Options granted:
BRI R
7 April 2022 1,875,000 Vest immediately 10years
—ZEZ_HFWMALA BB 57 8 104F
13 October 2022 24,100,003  Vest immediately 10years
—E_—%+A+=H B e 57 8 104
(i)~ The number and weighted average exercise prices of options are as (i) BREZEHE RNEFHITEEOT :
follows:
Weighted average Number of
exercise price options
EFIGTEE BRERE
HK$
BT
Outstanding as at 1 January 2024 RZZE-ZMWMF—-A—BRTE 0.455 10,865,003
Granted during the year FRERD - -
Outstanding as at 31 December 2024 WR_Z W&+ _F=+—HAKTF 0.455 10,865,003
Exercisable as at 31 December 2024 W -_Z-WME+ - A=+—HA{T{E 0.455 10,865,003

The subscription price per share under the Share Option Scheme
is solely determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
higher of:(i)the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer to grant
option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the
closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the date of offer to grant option; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share on the date of offer to grant option, provided
that in the event of fractional prices, the subscription price per
share shall be rounded upwards to the nearest whole cent.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, since there is no
share option granted, no material matter relating to the share
option scheme has been reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no subsequent events between the end of the
reporting period and the date of this annual report that would
have a material impact on the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year under review, the top five customers of the Group
together accounted for approximately 43.3% of the Group’s total
sales for the year while the single largest customers accounted
for approximately 10.6% of the Group’s total sales during the
year.

The top five suppliers of the Group for the year under review
together accounted for approximately 79.9% of the Group’s total
purchases for the year and the single largest supplier accounted
for approximately 31.5% of the Group's total purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or any
shareholders of the Company who owns more than 5% of the
issued share capital of the Company has any interests in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers above mentioned.

AMOUNT OF CAPITALISED INTEREST

Save as disclosed in this report, no interest has been capitalised
by the Group during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particular of the retirement benefits schemes of the Group are
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

As at the date of this report, the Company had outstanding
options to subscribe for 10,865,003 shares under the share
option scheme adopted on 28 March 2022. As at 31 December
2024, outstanding convertible bonds convertible to 10,367,299
conversion shares. Those outstanding convertible bonds were
matured on 16 January 2025, no conversion of such convertible
bonds were executed.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws
of the Company or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the listed securities of the Company nor any of its subsidiaries.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Company are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Shanxi Qinshui
Prefecture Chengrong Investment Limited (“Chengrong
Investment”) has provided financing to the Group in the sum of
RMB10,400,000. As Chengrong Investment owns 17% equity
interest in Shanxi Wanzhi Logistics Limited (a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company), Chengrong Investment is a
connected person of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules.
As the financing is financial assistance provided by a connected
person for the benefit of the Group on normal commercial terms
(or better to the Company) where no security over the assets of
the Group is granted in respect of the financial assistance, the
transaction are exempt from the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval under Rule 20.65 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Save as
disclosed above, The Directors consider that those material
related party transactions disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements did not fall under the definition
of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules during
the year under review.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes
or may cause any significant competition with the business as of
the Group.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Declaration of dividends by the Company is subject to
compliance with applicable laws of Bermuda and the Bye-laws.
In determining whether to propose a dividend and the dividend
amount, the Board will take into account a number of factors,
including but not limited to the Group’s financial performance
and cashflow, distributable reserves, operation and liquidity
requirements, current and future development plans and funding
needs, restrictions under any loan covenants as well as
prevailing economic and market conditions. The distribution of
dividends to Shareholders can be by way of cash or scrip or
partly by cash or scrip or in such other manner as determined by
the Board from time to time.

Subject to the factors described above, there is no assurance
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount or manner for
any period and the dividend pay-out ratio may vary from year to
year. The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and, if
considered appropriate, may modify, amend and change the
Dividend Policy at any time.
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AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2024 were
audited by KTC Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will
expire upon the annual general meeting. A resolution for the
reappointment of KTC Partners CPA Limited as the auditors of
the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

26 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

KTC Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

T M E S MEFEMERAE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY
LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 101 to 227, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B M B BUAT 3R &

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that as at 31 December 2024, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately RMB111,169,000. This condition, along with other
matters as set forth in note 2, indicate that a material uncertainty
exists which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

In addition to the matters described in the Material Uncertainty
Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the
matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as

follows:

Valuation of property, plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets

Refer to notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter
HREREER

B XA RS
REMOEZFHNNOBEREZETEMR
aan T

%¥ BERKBEUARERAEEE
+F &

2HEGREMBEBRRWE17R18

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMNERNABERZEARERER

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
before current year’'s impairment were approximately
RMB214,039,000 and RMB19,427,000 respectively.
These assets mainly belonged to two cash generating
units (“CGUs") — Shanxi Qinshui and Yangcheng Huiyang
and are assessed for impairment when indicators of
impairment loss existed at the end of the reporting
period. The Group has incurred loss for the current year.
This situation indicates that the carrying value of these
assets may be impaired.

RZZF-_ME+-_A=1T—H X BIRKRBEAK
ERREENREEJFIRAFEREN 2NAOSAR

# 214,039,000 7T & A R#19,427,000 L - 2 EEE X Z
FENMERCELEM(ReEEEM]) - WAL K
B EGBERNREHRERERESERTRKETRE
it BEEBERAFEELEEBR ZARBRIZFE
ENREEXRS HRE-

Our procedures in relation to the impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets included:
BB - HEE KRR
THREFERE:

S A N A B E R BB

o We have reviewed the management'’s
assessment of the recoverability of these
assets and the reasonableness of the
judgements and estimates used by the
management in the value-in-use calculations
made by the independent valuer.
BUEEEEREHZZTEEN A MO E
EERFEAREEELE R LA ER#ET
WEREBEER ARG sE
M o

o We have discussed the indication of possible
impairment with the management and,
assessed the impairment testing performed
by the management.
BMCREREEN® A DR R ER
R RAHEEEETHRERNS -

o We have tested the cash flows projections on
whether they were agreed to the budgets
approved by the directors of the Company
and compared with actual results available
up to the report date.

ﬁ{ﬁem?ﬁfﬁimuil’ﬁ H'J Eﬁﬁi gﬁji
ERENBE B YHEBEZEREANER

RERETHR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B ZHEARE

Key Audit Matter
HREEZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMWERNNBERZBEARERER

Impairment tests require the estimation of recoverable
amounts of the relevant cash generating units using a
discounted cash flow approach, as detailed in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements. Management
concluded its impairment assessments and determined
that no impairment losses of property, plant and
equipment were recognised in profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

BMENARERMBERSR %ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁi 5 i
MATKRE SR FEHENGa M BRRMT17 - EBE
HEBETGEEFLAGERETTERBE _T_HF
T_A=T—"BLEFEREZHERYWE BISLRED
A B -

We have identified the impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as
a key audit matter because of the significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the involvement of
a significant degree of judgements made by the
management and the estimation uncertainty involved in
the cash flows projections and other key inputs for the
value-in-use calculations for determining the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs as at 31 December 2024.

BAIAG 5~ # 28 N aR 1 DA K A R B B R (B AT 14 5 B
REAREZETE REARHYUGAVBHRRNEZ N
WirkEEEFELAERHEAKRREREEE R EA
ARERAEBEFEUNEER _E_OF+_-_HA=+—H
ReEABUNAWE©RENEEEAZBEY MEEET
HEE K -
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We have challenged the appropriateness of
the management judgements and estimates
used in the cash flows projections, including
the sales growth rates and gross profit
margins.
BMUEHREREBEAMERNEEE A
R (BREEERENENR)NEE
MEIR B &R

We have engaged an independent expert to
assist us in challenging the discount rates
adopted in the value-in-use calculations by
reviewing its basis of calculations and
comparing the input data to market sources.
Our independent expert also assisted us in
assessing the valuation methodology used
and the appropriateness of the key
assumptions and checked on sample basis,
the accuracy and the relevance of the input
data adopted in management’s value-in-use
calculations.
RMEZEBYUER B RMEEERE
B & B E T3 A BUE BT 5 KR
THE AERFAHEMEKANME X - M
MBIERTHORMAFEEEEXBE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B M B BUAT 3R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981 and our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B M B BUAT 3R &

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

KTC Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Chow Yin Kwan, Yvonne
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number: P07989

Hong Kong
26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

— = 32
mEBEmE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE
2024 2023
—EBE-NgE T =F
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®TR AR%Tr
Revenue W £ 6 243,568 239,421
Cost of sales 85 KA (217,230) (213,046)
Gross profit EF 26,338 26,375
Other income and gains or losses Hin g A R s sk E 8 8 (18,662) 11,581
Selling and distribution costs HE RS KA (3,699) (2,932)
Administrative and other expenses THREAMRY (32,670) (38,870)
Reversal of impairment on property, %1% ~ # 23 & &% &5 B # B
plant and equipment - 6,853
Reversal of impairment under EHEEBEERX TRAE
expected credit loss model, net BB 9 9 351
Finance costs MBER 10 (1,099) (1,259)
(Loss)/Profit before taxation BRB AT (B 1R), % F 11 (29,783) 2,099
Income tax (expense)/credit FTEf(Ax) &% 12 (4,863) 56
(Loss)/Profit for the year KEE (BB BT (34,646) 2,155
Attributable to: RZE-0:0
Equity shareholders of the Company 78 A 7] # 25 I 3R (34,645) 2,530
Non-controlling interests FETE AR = 1) (375)
(34,646) 2,155
RMB RMB
AR AR
(Loss)/Earnings per share sR(EE)BR
— Basic —E R 16 (8.87)cents &  0.69 cents &
- Diluted —#8 16 (8.87) cents #  0.68 cents &
FEEEREEBRA A

—E-mEER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GREBERREMEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

2024 2023
—E-mE T =fF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARTR ARETx
(Loss)/Profit for the year REE(FE)ER (34,646) 2,155
Other comprehensive (expense)/income Hfth 2 H (B8 %), K 3%
ltem that may be reclassified Higrp EHoEEE=
subsequently to profit or loss: RIEE :
Exchange differences on translation of REBINEE B BEREKZ
financial statements of M H Z R
foreign operations (3,103) 8,197
Total comprehensive (expense)fincome AEEXEFAX) WEBHE
for the year (37,749) 10,352
Total comprehensive (expense)iincome T3 & FEEZE(BAX),
attributable to: W 4o sE .
Equity shareholders of the Company ZIN/NECTE: g (37,748) 10,727
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR = (1) (375)
(37,749) 10,352

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A BB AR R R

At 31 December 2024

R-F-mFE+-A=+—H

2024 2023
—R_ME —T-=F
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B 5 ARBTRT AREFTT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment I T N 17 214,039 225,170
Right-of-use assets CREEE 18 19,427 19,966
Deposits and prepayments e R KIE 19 3,727 6,444
237,193 251,580
Current assets REBEE
Inventories BB 20 11,273 7,631
Trade and other receivables JE U BR 3R K% E b JE Ug FR IR 21 28,590 31,474
Tax recoverable A Y [B] 5 18 2,209 2,209
Bank balances and cash RITEHRKIRS 22 48,484 45,444
90,556 86,758
Total assets wEE 327,749 338,338
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables J& 11 BR 3R % EL b JE < SR IB 23 160,408 141,387
Bank and other borrowings RIT R E M fE R 24 23,400 16,500
Provision for production safety TEEERE 26 11,471 13,306
Convertible bonds AR E S 25 3,296 -
Income tax liabilities FTigfi&aE 3,150 =
201,725 171,193
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (111,169) (84,435)
Total assets less current liabilities 2 & E B A& & 126,024 167,145

B S A TR A A
—E-mEER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A B RO R

At 31 December 2024 R-Z_MF&+=-A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-mE T =fF
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB'000

Bt 5 ARBTR AR®TRT

Non-current liabilities REBEME
Convertible bonds Al R B & 25 - 2,944
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE 27 2,972 3,400
2,972 6,344

Net assets EEFE 123,052 160,801
Capital and reserves BEXK#E
Share capital g 2= 28(a) 26,305 26,305
Reserves i1 100,964 138,712
Equity attributable to equity RARIERREEGER

shareholders of the Company 127,269 165,017
Non-controlling interests FE 12 A 2= (4,217) (4,216)
Total equity R 123,052 160,801

The consolidated financial statements on pages 101to 227 were ZEZ @R _ZE_-_RAF = A -+ /~NHH#LE
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on KR #E T E 101 HE 2227 B 2 &R & B 15

26 March 2025. Wk o
Wang Zhong Sheng Chang Jian
T BB EE
Director Director
EFE EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREDBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-F+-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RRARERRER
Accumulated
Share  Convertible losses and Non-
Share Share General  Translation ~ Contributed option bonds Other retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve reserves earnings Total interests equity
BRE EE:1 it EER

Rx  RHEE -REF  BERE  E4ER fif  REEE  HpEE  EEEW &t FERER agn
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTT ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARETz ARMTR ARETR AR%T:R

Balance as at RZBZ=F

1 Jantary 2023 -B-Rgs 7133 14208 182 (10493) 584838 6,468 . S (et 25981 (51970) 244011
Profi(loss) for the year REEER) (B8 - - - - - - - - 2530 2530 (375) 2,155
Other comprehensive income A FE £t 2 A&

for the year - - - 8,197 - - - - - 8,197 - 8,197

Total comprehensive income/ A FE 2 M/
(expense) for the year (FAx)eg - - - 8,197 = = = = 2530 10,727 (375) 10,352

Acquisition of additional equty RE—FRKBAFZ
interest of a subsidiary BoMRE

(note 36(0) (H33610) 6421 105145 - S (150497) SoNes (5494 S B0 8™ (1489
Issue of new shares Bk

- Conversion of convertible - B Tk Es

bonds (note 25) (Hz2s) 169 5107 - - - S ) . . 5713 - 5713
-Exercise of share options - 17 (F E FfE

(note 30(0) (HEE300) 1112 8,861 - - - (3.654) . - . 6339 . 6339
Share premium reduction Bl RRH £ fE

(note 38) (Hz3s) S (a74) . S ) . YT I 7 X7 . - -

Special dividends approvedin F A% # K E
respectof the currentyear 558

(note 15) (M #£15) - - - - - - - - (90,721) (90,721) = (90,721)
Balance at RZBZ=Zf

31 December 2023 TZA=t-H

3] 26,305 33,998 1,892 (2,296) - 2814 9,820 (31,012 123,496 165,017 (4,216) 160,801

Balance as at RZF-ME

1 Jantry 2024 -B-Age %305 3399 1,892 (2296) - 2814 9820 (31012  1234% 165017 (8216 160,801
Loss for the year TEEBE - - - - - - - - (34,645) (34,645) 1) (34,646)
Other comprehensive expense AEEE M2 AR X

for the year - - - (3,103) - - - - - (3,103) - (3,103)

Total comprehensive expense AEE 2 AT EE

for the year - - - (3,103) - - - - (34,645) (37,748) (1) (37,749)
Balance at RZZ-MmE
31 December 2024 tZA=t-H
g8 26,305 33,998 1,892 (5,399) - 2,814 9,820 (31,012) 88,851 127,269 @217 123,052

B S A TR A A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE
2024 2023
—E-mE T =fF
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Bt 5 AR®TR AR%®Tr
Operating activities REEK
(Loss)/Profit before taxation B B AT (B518),% 7 (29,783) 2,099
Adjustments for: TS IEAE
Depreciation of property, plant ME - R RBREITE
and equipment 17 20,724 31,909
Amortisation of right-of-use assets  f&f F3 #£ & &= # $4 18 557 549
Reversal of impairment on N TN
property, plant and equipment BB 7 1] - (6,853)
Written off of property, plant W) - MRS RS
and equipment 22,427 1,456
Interest income FE WA (25) (16)
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of HEME - Has k&
property, plant and equipment ZFEE () 8 (679)
Reversal of impairment loss on BEHEEBEEREAXT
trade receivables and other JE Wt B 3k % A
receivables under expected FEW SR IE 2 B E
credit loss model, net B 18 B )5 &R 9 9) (351)
Reversal of prepayment S BRE 2 T 3R IE
previously impaired B[O - (246)
Written-off of other receivables E th FE U 5K TR i 8 - 71
Waiver of trade and P E BRI R H A
other payables JE < 3B = (39)
Finance costs B ER 10 1,099 1,259
Provision for production EETERAEE
safety costs 26 994 207
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE
2024 2023
—R_ME —T-=F
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB'000

Bt ARBTRT AR®TR

Operating cash flows before EEESEEA
movements in working capital ZREFESRE 15,992 29,366
Changes in working capital EEELEE
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 17 & (3% in), 8 4 (3,642) 3,201
Decrease/(increase) in trade and & U BR 30 & E th f& W 308
other receivables L, () 3,105 (6,441)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and  J& < BR X & E 4th f& 5 OB
other payables 0,/ Crl 2) 7,210 (28,217)
Decrease in provision for EEZEBRERL
production safety (2,829) (1,438)

Cash generated from (used in) REXBEE(FAZRE
operations 19,836 (8,529)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid EHPEEEMRED (2,146) (264)

Net cash generated from (used in) REXKEEX (A 2B £

operating activities FE 17,690 (3,793)
Cash flows from investing RETBHELEZREERE

activities
Payment for purchases of and BERAEME HIR

additions to property, plant R 2T

and equipment (23,333) (7,223)
Payment for purchase of BEFERAEEE MK

right-of-use assets (18) (540)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME HERFZBEZ

property,plant and equipment Fr 5 338 65 805
Payments for property, plant RBEFEREBEYE -

and equipment acquired in %5 & &% 2 A 3

previous year (695) (14,813)
Repayment from a related company B 8 2 7] & % - 6,000
Interest received B2 W F B 25 16
Net cash used in RETHRAZ

investing activities ReFE (23,956) (15,755)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE
2024 2023
—E-NE T =F
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B 5 ARTR ARETx
Cash flows from METHEE2RERE
financing activities
Issue of ordinary shares BT E B - 6,339
Proceeds from new bank and other #T3Z R 17 & &
borrowings FT15 718 18,000 =
Repayment of bank and BERITREMES
other borrowings (11,100) (3,000)
Interest paid on bank and RITREMERZENFE
other borrowings (852) (8,523)
Advance from/(repayments to) Ei E*m? Hx?i*’“ / EiE
ultimate controlling party S WAl 3,529 (717)
Advance from/(repayments to) 5] %%ﬂm/ 1;5& VE
directors KIE 499 (5)
Dividends paid to shareholders A A% BRIk 151 AR B 15 - (90,721)
Net cash flow from acquisition of W iE — M B A A 58 IR fE
additional equity interest of EXZHReREFHE
a subsidiary 36(d) - (6,724)
Net cash generated from (used in) Bl EEZBEE(FTA)2HE &
financing activities FEE 10,076 (98,351)
Net increase (decrease)incash BRERBLSEEYWEM
and cash equivalents (Rl 2) F 5 3,810 (117,899)
Cash and cash equivalents at R—A—BzEER
1 January ReZEEY 45,444 150,434
Effect of foreign exchange ExgsoTE
rate changes (770) 12,909
Cash and cash equivalents at RT-—A=+t—HZzHEK
31 December REZEEY 22 48,484 45,444
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman lIslands on 15 July 2002 under the
Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands and continued in
Bermuda. The change of domicile of the Company from
Cayman Islands to Bermuda was effective on 23 April 2014.

The director of the Company, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, who
is the Chairman and Executive Director of the Company, is
the ultimate controlling party of the Group.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information”
section in the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the business of
exploitation, liquefaction production and sale of natural gas
and coalbed gas in the People’s Republic of China (the
“‘PRC”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is different from the Company’s
functional currency of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). For the
convenience of the financial statements users, the
consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, as
the Company’s principal subsidiaries and operations are in
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) where the functional
currency of these subsidiaries is RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
Going concern basis

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that as
at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB111,169,000. This condition casts significant doubt on
the Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In order to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial
position, the directors of the Company have been
implementing various measures as follows:

(1) Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (“Mr. Wang”), the ultimate
controlling party of the Group and the Chairman and
executive director of the Company, has confirmed that
he will provide continuing financial support to the
Group to enable it to continue as a going concern and
to settle its liabilities as and when they fall due in the
foreseeable future;

(2) The directors of the Company anticipate that the
Group will generate positive cash flows from its
operations in the foreseeable future;

(83) Subsequent to 31 December 2024, certain
construction suppliers and material suppliers of the
Group whom the Group owed an aggregate amount of
approximately RMB63.7 million as at 31 December
2024, which were included in payables for acquisition
of property, plant and equipment and trade payables
under trade and other payables as set out in note 23,
have agreed not to demand for repayment for the
amounts due to them before 31 May 2026; and

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Going concern basis (Continued)

(4) Subsequent to 31 December 2024, the lender of an
unsecured loan of approximately RMB10.4 million as
at 31 December 2024 which was included in amount
due to a non-controlling shareholder of PRC subsidiary
under bank and other borrowings as at 31 December
2024 as set out in note 24, has agreed to extend
repayment period up to 31 May 2026.

Provided that these measures can be successfully
implemented by the Group to improve the liquidity of the
Group, the directors of the Company are satisfied that the
Group will be able to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due for the foreseeable future. According,
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis. Moreover, the eventual outcome
of these measures cannot be estimated with reasonable
certainty. Hence there exist a material uncertainty that may
cast significant doubt about the Group'’s ability to continue
as a going concern and that the Group may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the value
of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”") for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's
annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretations 5 (2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants
Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback
Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity®

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification

and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards - Volume
113
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2025.
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to
present specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs
have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation of
the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of
assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE
BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4. #EMBHRIRGFHEERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EEHREER
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
4.1 Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 41 RENBHRREREE

Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”).

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

4.2 Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

4.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EHZ—Z

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

THE+TZA=+—HLEFE

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date
the Company gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting
policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
Information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to contracts with customers is provided in
Note 6.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of buildings or other underlying
assets that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are

adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line

item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the leasee, the contract is classified as a finance
leases. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EHZ—Z

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

—HE+=—A=1+—HLEE

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

(a) Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

4.

REMBEBREREERE
BT ERRER(B)

42 EEESTHEER (&)

EHITHE)

BERMERLABFTE—BHemE
EXcBBEZEHERARIZ
BREEE S RA B KA KT E
MY zhke BRAERXAR
CRHEELCRABEBE B
FERFHR(NEGE)KEH
B BT RETRARER W
ARNZ(BEBRERF X
RIS ZAIBEMNEE K
EARNE RIRAREAM
mEXITE)EV L ERER
EE -

(a) =HEE
CRMEESEREBEANE

HANTHENSBEE
ERSTEE T e

e HHMAKRMAEAOR
TMREMREXH IR
ARFBEEREE:
54

. /\Z’Jﬂ%fk&f@lﬁé\%

TEHMEEANRSE

mEREREXN
BAE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4. #IR&

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on
financial assets (including deposits, trade and
other receivables and bank balances) which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)
Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the
expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within
12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for
trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

HE-_Z-_NWF+=-A=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

REMBEBREREERE
EEHRERER(E)

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)
(iy  Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
o significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment
of the debtor that result in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

HE-_Z-_NWF+=-A=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

REMBEBREREERE
EEHRERER(E)

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(iy  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

(i)  Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(i) Definition of default (Continued)
Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that
a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the
following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)
° the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

° it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

HE-_Z-_NWF+=-A=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

REMBEBREREERE
EEHRERER(E)

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a
default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience and forward looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes
into consideration the following characteristics
when formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status:

° Nature, size and industry of debtors;
and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping i s regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

REMBEBREREERE
EEHRERER(E)

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible bonds
Convertible bonds that can be converted to
equity share capital at the option of the holder,
where the number of shares that would be issued
on conversion and the value of the consideration
that would be received at that time do not vary,
are accounted for as compound financial
instruments which contain both a liability
component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible bonds is measured as the present
value of the future interest and principal
payments, discounted at the market rate of
interest applicable at the time of initial
recognition to similar liabilities that do not have a
conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over
the amount initially recognised as the liability
component is recognised as the equity
component. Transaction costs that relate to the
issue of a compound financial instrument are
allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible bonds (Continued)
The liability component is subsequently carried
at amortised cost. The interest expense
recognised in profit or loss on the liability
component is calculated using the effective
interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the
note is converted or redeemed.

If the note is converted, the capital reserve,
together with the carrying amount of the liability
component at the time of conversion, is
transferred to share capital and share premium
as consideration for the shares issued. If the note
is redeemed, the capital reserve is released
directly to accumulated losses.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
and cash equivalents as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-
term borrowings in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EHZ—Z

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

—HE+=—A=1+—HLEE

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position (other than
construction in progress) at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing
costs.

Construction in progress represents property, plant
and equipment under construction and pending
installation and is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of
construction of the buildings, the costs of well drilling
and fracturing, the costs of exploration with testing
and surveying, the costs of plant and machinery and
interest charges arising from borrowings used to
finance these assets during the period of construction
or installation and testing. No provision for
depreciation is made on construction in progress until
such time the relevant assets are completed and are
available for their intended use. When the assets
concerned are brought into use, the costs are
transferred to other property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated
below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Expenditure on the construction, installation or
completion of infrastructure facilities such as
platforms, pipelines and the drilling of commercially
proven development wells but do not include
geological and geophysical costs which are expensed
directly to profit or loss as they are incurred, is
capitalised as coalbed methane development costs
within construction in progress. Coalbed methane
development costs are stated at cost less any
identified impairment loss. Coalbed methane
development costs are classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
on these assets, on the same basis as other property,
plant and equipment assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

Tangible assets acquired for use in well drilling works
of ground drainage activities are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

When the Group makes payments for a property
interest which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements
in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant
payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold
land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
the leasehold land and building elements, the entire
property is generally classified as property, plant and
equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of the assets, less their estimated useful lives, using
the straight line method over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

— Buildings held Over the shorter of
for own use unexpired term of

the leases or 20 to
30 years

— Leasehold improvements 2-5 years

— Pipelines 5-20 years

— Plant and machinery 3-20 years

— Computer equipment 3-5 years

— Furniture and equipment 3-10 years

— Transportation and 4-10 years

motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amounts of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
relevant corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit)is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit or group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on
a weighted average method.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make
the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the period in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

(ii)  Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Funds required
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance and mandatory central
pension schemes organised by the local
government of the PRC government are
recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

4. HEVBBEREREERE
EEBERER(E)

42 EEESTHEER (&)

ESEF

(i)

(ii)

G HE B 18 7

e FEREAL AFF
R~ EBEEFCRKET S H;
HKRIFEERBMEA T
R1E 8 e B B R 2
RAFE - WKL EE
ERIZEEHEXEZES
R AZFEeBERERE
5 B -

B AR 18 T KA
REFBRIMELESE
ElRPIZARBRGIEATES
tEH 2 5K A K@ A B
b 75 BT BT 86 3 2 o I 1
RRRKEFEMELZH
FoRNEBRERBKRA
T W BR 4t SR RE RS B
& o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of share options granted to employees
is recognised as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a share option reserve
within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
using the Binomial option pricing model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. Where the employees have to
meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options, the total
estimated fair value of the share options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for
the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.
On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to
the share option reserve) except where forfeiture is
only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate
to the market price of the Company’s shares. The
equity amount is recognised in the share option
reserve until either the option is exercised (when it is
transferred to the share premium account) or the
option expires (when it is released directly to the
accumulated losses).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EHZ—Z

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information

—HE+=—A=1+—HLEE

(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transaction
(Continued)

Share options granted to nhon-employees

Share options issued in exchange for goods or
services are measured at fair values of the goods or
services rendered, unless that fair value cannot be
reliably measured, in which case the goods or
services received are measured by reference to the
fair value of the share options granted. The fair values
of goods or services received are recognised as
expenses immediately, unless the goods or services
qualify for recognition as assets. Corresponding
adjustment has been made to equity (share option
reserve).

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before
taxation because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4. G AWM BEHRRFREER S
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL S BERER(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information 42 EZEHEEKRER (&)
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued) BB (E)
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences BEMEDZER G TBEBRE
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities NWEENBERAEESRRBRNE

in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary difference.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EHZ—Z

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

—HE+=—A=1+—HLEE

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to the
leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on
right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the
principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB.

The functional currency of the Company is HK$ and
the presentation currency is RMB. The reason for
using RMB as a presentation currency is that the
functional currency of the principal operating
subsidiaries within the Group is RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items, are translated
into RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the
translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale
is included in the general borrowing pool for
calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

152 ‘ CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

4.

REMBEBREREERE
EEBERER(E)

42 EEESTHEER (&)

BEAL

(a)

MEBATAL  BIZAL
mmiz MEREH
B REE

(i) =5k F % R
£5:

() HAEEEEARY
%

(i) AASEEHAKE
BARMNETEER
B8 o

A& NI ﬂMﬁF g
AL EARE

/E H>

(i) EZE $EIJ%H
(Eﬂ%’&ﬁj : W%
NCIDSACEN )= NG|
RULE B REE)

kmﬁ

m)—f%%ﬂﬁ%—gﬁ
MBS DT RA
(55— K BAR
BAFZEER TR
BARZBEARDL

>

i
iy
ol
[

it

=

mi |

| fE =B

o S
m I

e OB g
S I;I\P F—>
bl %?ﬁ

[ 3 S

\
/
e
K

S NI
it

i

S

il

By N



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT-NF+-A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4. AWM BHERGHREERE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EEMBRRER(Z
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
4.2 Material accounting policy information 42 EZEHEEKRER (&)
(Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BEAL (E
(b) (Continued) (o) (#&)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan v) EBRAKHEH
for the benefit of employees of either the AEEEHECZE
Group or an entity related to the Group; BoEEM&mE®KL

) Bk B 1% e N 5T &

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled (viy BB X@FA#HR A

by a person identified in (a); T kX R T
)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant (vii) R (a)(i)FT # Bl A L
influence over the entity or is a member of HEBEEATE
the key management personnel of the entity NBEZERB(HKZ
(or of a parent of the entity); and ERWNERRDEE

BEEXE &

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of (i) ERRKEFB &
which it is a part, provides key management Z KB R A MR
personnel services to the Group or to the rEBESIXEERZ
Group's parent. ARIRHEEEE

BAB R

Close members of the family of a person are those &l A BY 3 $R K BE K B 18 £ B 3%
family members who may be expected to influence, or ERETRIFEHRAILE -
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the IXZEATENRENXE -
entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

()

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

The Group assessed whether property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets have suffered any
impairment in accordance with relevant accounting
policies. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use
calculations require the use of estimates such as the profit
forecast, cash flows projections and pre-tax discount
rates. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
amounted to approximately RMB214,039,000 (2023:
RMB225,170,000) and RMB19,427,000 (2023:
RMB19,966,000) respectively, net of accumulated
impairment losses recognised of approximately
RMB185,736,000 (2023: RMB185,736,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The
Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provisions are set-up
accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is
reconsidered periodically to take into account
changes in tax legislations. Deferred tax assets are
recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE
6. REVENUE 6. W=
(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (a) BREFEzWEDE
with customers
2024 2023
—E-NFE T =F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%Tx
Type of goods or services ERdRBERE
Sales of liquefied coalbed gas BICKEERIES 207,873 173,613
Sales of piped natural gas BEBARAARBEE 21,109 50,054
Provision of coalbed gas R E RRE TR
liquefaction processing
services 14,586 15,754
243,568 239,421
Timing of revenue recognition W 2 7R 52 B R
On point in time basis 1 B ] Bh E 243,568 239,421
Over time basis RERREE - -
Total B 243,568 239,421
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

6. REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

()

(i)

Sales of liquefied coalbed gas and piped
natural gas

Revenue from Sales of liquefied coalbed gas and
piped natural gas is recognised when customers
obtain control of the liquefied coalbed gas and
piped natural gas, which is when the gas is
delivered to customers’ specific location.
Invoices are usually payable within 30 days.

Provision of coalbed gas liquefaction
processing services

The performance obligation is satisfied of a point
in time when the liquefaction processing services
are completed and the liquefied coalbed gas are
accepted by customers.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts
for its products and services such that
information about revenue that the Group will be
entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts that
had an original expected duration of one year or
less is not disclosed.

BE-_E-_mME+-—A=+—HILEE

6. WE(E)

(b) BEEFEHNZENER

()

(i)

BRIERERREEXAR
HE

ERFEGSHABRLAER
REBRARWES - B
EHREETPHNEEM
BoBLEREREEERX
AREHE W s ERER
*RBEENORAZIA -

EHEERANENT R

B %) B AER AL I T AR
TR ABREKERGIE
FPEXORREEZEX -

AEBECHREERLERY
MIHESNERBEEYE
MEEBFI5HFE 121K
Fre Al #EE 5% Bt
REBBREAHNMRLTE
ARERBEAE—FHUA
B -ERTEARBER
RERNEB R EEER 2
& :0k= =0

B S A TR A A
—E-mEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

7.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker
(the “CODM"), being the Company’s board of directors, for
the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment. The CODM reviews the Group’s internal
reporting, assesses the performance and allocates the
resources of the Group as a whole, as all of the Group’s
activities are considered by the CODM to be primarily
dependent on the performance of exploitation, liquefaction
production and sale of natural gas in the PRC. Therefore,
the Group has only one operating segment under the
requirements of HKFRS 8 Operating Segments. In this
regard, no segment information is presented.

Additional disclosure in relation to segment information is
not presented as the CODM assess the performance of the
sole operating segment identified based on the consistent
information as disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements.

The total segment result is equivalent to the loss for the
year as shown in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and the total segment assets and total segment
liabilities are equivalent to total assets and total liabilities as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(a) Geographical information

For the two years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
all of the Group’s revenue were derived from
customers in the PRC (country of domicile), hence no
further analysis of the Group’s geographical
information of revenue is disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Geographical information (Continued)
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is
presented based on the geographical location of the

assets.

Non-current assets by geographical location

7.

DEER(E)

(a) HEER (&)
AMAEERRDEEN AR
TOIR A R R B 2 5 -

BBV ESTHHFREEE

2024 2023

—E-mEF —E - =4F

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AREBTRT ARETIT

PRC s 236,268 251,580
Hong Kong BB 925 =
237,193 251,580

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of corresponding years
contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group is

(b) TEFXFHNEH

RERFE KEHAEEE
WEBERBREI1I0% TP 2K

as follows: FEWE :
2024 2023
—E-_E —Eo=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR T T ARET T
Customer A B2EA 25,738 N/AT@EMA'
Customer B ZFB 25,438 32,967
Customer C ZFEC N/AFE A1 24,764
Customer D ZFED N/AFE A 24,339

0 The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more of
the total revenue of the Group.

g HE FE ) Uk 35 3 S i AN £R B AR e 2
) 10% 8k A £ ©

HERERERERA T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE
8. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS OR LOSSES 8. HMWARWKEHNEIR
2024 2023
ZEZNFE T =F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETx
Other income Hib WA
Interest income from bank deposits MITERZFEWA 25 16
Rental income A2 WA - 141
Value-added tax refund (note (i)) B B AR B (BT 5E (1)) 2,439 7,723
Government grant (note (ii)) B 478 B (B &2 (i) 1,014 3,607
Sundry income HIERA 291 657
Exchange gain bE 5, U 2= 4 —
3,773 12,144
Other gains or losses Httlh == E B
(Loss)/Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  HERREZ
plant and equipment (B518), W= (8) 679
Written-off of property, 3 - HER KRB
plant and equipment (note 17) (f3E17) (22,427) (1,456)
Written-off of other receivables H b & LS5 T8 H 8H = (71)
Waiver of other payables A % H b 8 BR K - 39
Reversal of prepayment 5‘6 A BB /Y TE A OB A
previously impaired - 246
(22,435) (563)
(18,662) 11,581
Notes: Hd 5

(if)

The amount is primarily associated with the PRC Government’s
value-added tax policy reform under the principle of “Pay first,
Refund then”. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the amount
of approximately RMB2,439,000 (2023: RMB7,723,000) represents
the eligible value-added tax payment for the year 2023 (2023: for the
years 2021 and 2022). There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to such refund.

The amount mainly included the unconventional subsidy granted of
approximately RMB950,000 by the County Industry and Information
Technology Bureau as industry support awards (2023:
RMB3,496,000 by the Central Finance Bureau to Yangcheng Huiyang
as awards for its production activities). There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to such subsidy.
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(i) Ei@%ﬁi%éﬁwﬁmﬁgﬁﬁﬁw%%ﬂé
BOR) EERBRRERSR -HE
T_WNE+-_A=F+—HLEE" %
BAHANRBE2439000T (=T = =4:
AR¥77230007) 4 & —
T _=F B —FR_T-_F)
HERBIGGENEBERB R BB
PFEERERGHSHAEIE -

(i) ZeEFXZPEHBIERETHEE
BB A RB950,0007 : IEAE %
SEHEHCEZ=F HPRUBER
M5 B 5 B T A R 3,496,000 7T
EAHEETHMER) MEFBEX
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-F+-_A=+—HILFE

REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT UNDER 9. FHIFEEFEEX NRER
EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET B 5 58
2024 2023
—E-NE T =F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
Impairment losses reversed on: LWTIEBRERERD :
— Other receivables —H b ' W FRIE 9 351
9 351
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 33(b). BB R E B R 15 =R BT 3£ 33(b) ©
FINANCE COSTS 10. % EH
2024 2023
—E-_E —E-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
Effective interest on convertible bonds A # & &% 2 B F 2 247 430
Interest expenses on bank and RITREMERZFERAX
other borrowings 852 829
1,099 1,259
FEEEREEFRA A

—E-mEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE
11. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 11.

(Loss)/Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

BRBLAT (B 18), i A

BRiia (B8 aMEMBRIATE
I8 :

2024 2023
“E-mE —E-=fF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR®TR

(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a)E TR A (BEMTISHE

and chief executive’s ERERTHRAEHME)
emoluments in note 13)
Fees, salaries and other benefits we FekEMmERN 21,914 22,424
Retirement benefits schemes BRIREFE SR

contributions 4,087 3,188
Total staff costs 28 T A 26,001 25,612

(b) Other items (b) Hftt18 B

Cost of inventories recognised as BRAAI ZIFEXAR

expense (note (i) (B =E (i) 215,417 211,411
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B5 BD 37 B 1,328 1,250
Depreciation of property, plant and Y B RRBETEFTA

equipment included in
— Cost of sales —HEKAR 14,893 26,217
— Selling and distribution costs —HE RS HEKAR 2,663 2,733
— Administrative and other expenses ~ — 1T & H b 5 &% 3,168 2,959
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEEFTEA

included in
- Cost of sales —HEKR 236 228
— Administrative and other expenses ~ — 17 B & £ b 5 &% 321 321
Research and development costs it 7% K [ B Ak AR 14 187
Rental on low value/short-term leases KEE S HEE 2B S 1,181 1,158

Note: H =

(i) Cost of inventories recognised as expense mainly included the cost
of direct materials purchased, and electricity and fuel charge
amounting to approximately RMB126,129,000 and RMB50,683,000
(2023: RMB122,195,000 and RMB46,781,000) respectively during
the year ended 31 December 2024, and included the staff costs,
depreciation of right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment
which are disclosed separately in above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:

12. FTEHEAX (ER)

RAEERRAZRIALRE

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%Tx
Current tax — PRC Enterprise BB E-—PELEMSH
Income Tax (“EIT”) (TeEmBHI
Provision for the year NEEEBE 3,553 17
Underprovision in prior years LAEFERETR 1,739 247
Deferred tax i 3 B E
Origination and reversal of EREHEESREE
temporary differences (429) (320)
Income tax expense/(credit) FT8RiMAY(ER) 4,863 (56)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company
under the laws of Bermuda and, accordingly, is
exempted from payment of the Bermuda Income Tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits for both years. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group has no estimated assessable profits arising
in or derived from Hong Kong for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January
2008 onwards.

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the
relevant countries.

ARRERERSEMKMLIL
REBREZINRBREFSE
REHBRRR] RILEHREH
MBRERSH -

Wi FE 2 BB NGB RM
TR R N 2 16.5% 5 & °
HRAEEREE_T_IF
T =F+=ZA=1+—H
EFETEREBEALLRA
ERNMHTERB AR - g
BERBEANGHELEME
1 o

RETEEEMGIAEILEE
FIEBED REEMBREE
eEf - FERBARE —F
FENF-A—BEZBEEXRB
25% °

BN B A m R B IE Th iR AR
BRI 1T B R -

TEEEREEAR QA
“E-NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued) 12. Fi8 8B X% (&) (&

164 |

(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense/(credit) (b) HERHEFTE 25 RHF
and accounting profit at applicable tax rates: X (%) Bestnf 2 iR
LU
2024 2023
—E_NE —E =4
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%Tr
(Loss)/Profit before taxation B & AT (B518), i F) (29,783) 2,099
Notional tax on loss before taxation, %18 B8 & 15 7 % # [& i@ B
calculated at the rates applicable i R+ & 2 B 5 5l B 18
to the tax jurisdictions concerned % % {18 (6,961) 1,319
Tax effect of non-deductible AAMBRAI BT E
expenses 6,848 1,944
Tax effect of non-taxable income  HEBZRWA Z H T E (2,245) (2,833)
Tax effect of unrecognised AERERERIUBTE
temporary differences 2,341 (4,686)
Tax effect of tax losses not RERMBEB BT E
recognised 3,251 4,045
Utilisation of tax losses previously ) A 5 8l A& #E 3R 2 T 75 5 18
not recognised (5) (18)
Underprovision in prior years NEFERERBE IR 1,739 247
PRC withholding tax Hr B T8 0 B (105) (74)
Income tax expense/(credit) FiSfAS(Ee) 4,863 (56)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

12. iBHAX(ER) (&)

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued)

(c)

Pursuant to the EIT Law in the PRC, from 1 January
2008, non-resident enterprises without an
establishment or place of business in the PRC or
which have an establishment or place of business in
the PRC but whose relevant income is not effectively
connected with the establishment or a place of
business in the PRC, will be subject to withholding tax
at the rate of 10% (unless reduced by tax treaty) on
various types of passive income such as dividends
derived from sources within the PRC.

Pursuant to the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax
Arrangement and the related regulations, a qualified
Hong Kong tax resident will be liable for a reduced
withholding tax rate of 5% on dividends from a PRC
enterprise if the Hong Kong tax resident is the
“beneficial owner” and holds 25% or more of the
equity interest of the PRC enterprise. A withholding tax
rate of 5% is applicable to entities held by a qualified

Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary.

(c)

BEPBRCEMRBRE A=
TN NFE—F—A EFH
BB AR 5% ST MRS ok B b B
o & B TE P B3R AR 7 MRS ok
EEMBEARNSZWABREE
Hr B 3% X BT 5% M 1S 2k S B
REBERBMEZEERDE
1% 78 T % 1B B WA (2R R
RE R A K]RE)E10%H X
(BrIEIR B W 1% & Rl &) B AN T8
HEL o

BERBSEEHHLHEREH
ME WEBSERER AT H
TrENEZEEAl UFE
2B 1 ¥ 25% 3k BA AR AN
wm AEREABFRERES
B ERSHRERTZERL
FARBHBREE% - HNFH X
5% BAREEBFMALZ
RERMBRARZEZERE-

B S A TR A A
—E-mEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE—ZT -G +-_A=+—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors
and the chief executive of the Company were as follows:

13. EER

ENHENARAEERES

ABEBEAZHZIT

BETHRAEME

1T

Salaries, Retirement Equity-settled
allowances benefits  share-based
and benefits Discretionary schemes payment 2024
Fees in kind bonuses contributions expenses Total
DEREE
e 2HR BHRERN NRGAER -—E-mE
we  BUEN  BBRAL HEMER  Z6OFEX EH)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTn AR¥TR ARETR AR®Tn AR%TR ARETx
Executive directors BTES
Wang Zhong Sheng Ik 1,385 600 - - - 1,985
Chang Jian BR - 240 - 49 - 289
Wang Chen (re-designated  TH(R-T-W#F
from anon-executive drector +—A—HETA
on 1 November 2024) BITES) 55 1 - 10 - 76
Tam Ye Kai, Byron (appointed 5| (R —F — W E
on 1 September 2024) NA—BEZE) 1,078 - - 4 - 1,082
Leung ChiHo (appointedon  2ER(R-F -4
1 November 2024) +—A—-BEZ{T) - 68 - 3 - 71
Non-Executive Directors ~ FHTEE
Li Siiang (appointed on RN NmE
1 November 2024) - H H?%é{ ) - 23 - 8 - 31
Wang Chen (re-designated ~ THR(R=T-M%
0 an executive director T-A—-HALA
on 1 November 2024) %ﬂﬁ%%) 194 103 - 55 - 352
Duan ShiChuan (retredon BRI (R=Z =M%
11 June 2024) ~NAT-AERA) - - - - - -
Liang Feng (resigned on RER=T-MEF
1 November 2024) T—A—HE&) - - - - - -
Independent non-executive BYFHTEE
directors
Lau Chun Pong ARA 111 - - - - 111
Wang Zhi He TZA 46 - - - - 46
Xu Yuan Jian fREE 120 - - - - 120
2,989 1,045 - 129 - 4,163
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 13. EERBRSTHAEME

EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (4
Salaries, Retirement  Equity-settled
allowances benefits  share-based
and benefits  Discretionary schemes payment 2023
Fees inkind bonuses  contributions expenses Total
IEREE
e 2ER BREFN URHAER Z—T-=F
e ENREH BiEta FEMY  ZARAX @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARET:
Executive directors YIES
Wang Zhong Sheng Tk 1,358 600 - 20 - 1978
Chang Jian FR 1,239 240 - 88 - 1567
Non-Executive Directors ~ ¥ HTES
Duan Shi Chuan B/ - - - - - -
Wang Chen 5 - 252 - 92 - 344
Liang Feng 2ig - - - - - -
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
Lau Chun Pong 2R 109 = = = = 109
Wang Zhi He T2M 45 - - - - 45
Xu Yuan Jian REE - - - - - -
2,751 1,002 - 200 - 4,043
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, REBEE_ZT_MOMFEFER_FT ==
since the appointment of the chief executive officer of the +—A=Z=+—BLFE BRAR
Company remains outstanding, there was no emoluments Bl AR E AT &R AR
paid in respect of the chief executive officer of the RATHEBER NS -
Company.

XA TFTATEZTRFATEETRA
HXNMOFHE 2 REMENS

Salaries, allowances and other benefits paid to or for the
executive and non-executive directors are generally

emoluments in respect of those persons’ other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Neither the chief executive officer nor any of the directors
waived any emoluments in the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023. No inducement payments to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office were
paid or payable to any director or the chief executive officer
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

ERABZZEALTHARR RHEK
BRAAMNEBEEMRHEEMRY
MBS e

RBE_TE_NFER_FT_=F
+ZA=+—BLFE BETK
RESIAMESTHREEANE - X
HE_Z-_MNFR-_T_=F+=
A=+—BLFE YEREHAHE
ERITRABE N ENERMA
ANE BN A K B R 2 R E o B

BAfE -
TREEREMRERA T
—E_NEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

14. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 4. REEFAL
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEBRAE&ZRFALTH HE(Z
Group, four (2023: three) are directors whose emoluments T_=F ZR)REF BFEOM

are disclosed in note 13. The aggregate of the emoluments ERMEF SRR A —H(ZF
in respect of the other one (2023: two) individuals are as TEFERB)ATZHMEeREN
follows: N

2024 2023

—E-mE —Eo=F

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARE TR ARET T

Salaries and other emoluments e hEMBe 240 652
Retirement benefits schemes R OKE A FF 8 R

contributions 51 16

291 668

The emoluments of the one (2023: two) individuals with the

—H(CE=F MB)RBHFA

highest emoluments are within the following bands: TZMENFUATEHE :
2024 2023
—E-E —ET-=F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to = % 1,000,000 7 (#8 & %
approximately RMB924,000 # A R #924,000 7T
(2023: RMB906,000)) —E - =4
A R #906,0007T)) 1 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

15. DIVIDENDS

15. R E

2024 2023
—EBEoMFE T =F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT

No dividend was paid, declared or WES T TIRSER
proposed (2023: Special dividend B(ZE-=%:

2 {4 R
& R 5

declared of HKD0.2576 (equivalentto % B &% 0.2576/8 7Tt (A&

RMBO0.233) per share) MAR¥0.2337T))

= 90,721

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during 2024, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period.

Pursuant to the board meeting held on 19 June 2023, a
special dividend of HK$0.2576 per ordinary share of the
Company was proposed and paid to the ordinary
shareholders of the Company. With the exception of the
special dividend declared, the Board did not recommend
payment of any dividend during 2023.

TN FE AR EIEX A
i/ﬁi@nﬁa/ 1—JL ﬁﬂx%ﬂxg ’ Q
¥ & B BA R DA SR 75 MR 2 5 R N (2 4R

QL
18 o

m%

ﬁﬁﬁ_?_fiﬂﬂ+ha
WEFEEE BERAAR
%%%&H%%Wéﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ%
BRO27T6FB T E LS - BREE
KA RIREIN - EEETEZM
TEZ=FRMNEMRKE -

TRERAEREEERA
—ZE= Iﬂifﬁiﬁ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

16. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 16. BR(E#E) BF

ARm DB REETRERNRE
BOBR),/BATERIAT8UERE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share attributable to equity shareholders of the Company is

based on the following data:

(Loss)/Earnings figures are calculated as follows:

At

=

(B8R BFFENT

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2024 31/12/2023
BE-T-_F BHE_ZT_=F
+=—B=+—-H +=-—A=+—8H
LFE EFE
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBT T
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable < A =1 & A FE1h
to owners of the Company RNEE(EBE), 5 (34,645) 2,530
Number of shares i g=
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2024 31/12/2023
BE-ZT-_OF BHE_ZT_=F%
+=—BA=+—-8 +=ZA=+—8H
LFE EFE
000 ‘000
TR T &
Weighted average number of R EEREAR(EE),
ordinary shares for the purpose BAmE TRR
of basic (loss)/earnings per share  fi#EFH & B 390,451 367,723
Effect of dilutive potential MEEELTRR 2 ZE
ordinary shares:
Share Options i iR - 4,273
Weighted average number of R EEREE (FE),
ordinary shares for the purpose BAmE TR
of diluted (loss)/earnings per nEFEHIEE
share 390,451 371,996
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SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

16. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
dividing the (loss)/earnings attributable to equity
holders of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 367,723,000 in
issue during the year had been retrospectively
adjusted to take into account the share consolidation
(the “Share Consolidation”) on the basis that every
eight issued and unissued existing shares of HK$0.01
each would be consolidated into one consolidated
share of HK$0.08 each, which was completed on 5
January 2023.

16. BR(E#H) B (&)
(a) BERER(EFE) BRI

BREA(ER) BFNHE
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16. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation for diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is based on the loss
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
and the denominator used are the same as for the
basic loss per share.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, diluted
earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume exercise or conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares, after taking into
account the effect of Share Consolidation mentioned
above. As at 31 December 2023, the potential dilutive
ordinary shares of the Company are share options.
The calculation of anti-dilutive effect of the share
options is determined by the number of shares that
could have been acquired at fair value (determined as
the average annual market share price of the
Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of
the subscription rights attached to the outstanding
share options. The number of shares calculated as
above is compared with the number of shares that
would have been issued assuming the exercise of the
share options.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the assumed
exercise of potential ordinary shares in relation to the
share options has anti-dilutive effect to the basic loss
per share.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the effect of
potential ordinary shares from the conversion of
convertible bonds is anti-dilutive (2023: anti-dilutive).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-F+-_A=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. 1%  HBERRZHE

Buildings
held for
own use Plant and Furniture Transportation Construction
(Note ()  Leasehold ~Pipelines  machinery ~ Computer and  andmotor in progress
and (ii)) improvements  (Note(iii))  (Note(iv))  equipment  equipment vehicles  (Note (v)) Total
KEER
BT HE EE  HEREM ERIR  KEIE
(BEORG)  #BIE (WG (WEw)  EERE  FERRE ERE  (WEW) &t
RNB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RNB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETr ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR
Cost RE
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%F-A-H 120,040 2,070 123,301 514981 42 1,941 10,667 164,634 938,059
Additions AE 163 1,081 - 1321 82 93 489 23,626 26,855
Disposals il - - - - - (1) (2.281) = (2.304)
Transfer g3 - - - 3401 - - - (3427) -
Wrten off i . (7%) 2 (6.229) = . . . (6957)
Exchange adjustments EXA% - 15 - - 1 3 50 = 69
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZA=1-A 120,208 2,438 123,301 513,500 508 2,020 8,919 184,833 955,722
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZZ5+ZA=1-A
1 January 2024 R=E-m%-5-A 120,203 2438 123,301 513500 508 2,020 8,919 184,833 955,722
Additions hE 401 1,09 - 636 226 135 1,167 28479 32073
Disposals & - - - (84) - (1) - - (85)
Transfer gz - - - 467 - - - (32.467) -
Writen of i - (930) - - - - - (2241 (23357
Exchange adjustments LS - 16 - - 1 4 60 4 8
At 31 December 2024 RZZZMETZR=+-H 120,604 2,553 123,301 546,519 735 2,158 10,146 158,422 964,438
Accumulated depreciation and ZiHERAE
impairment
At 1 January 2023 RZF-Z%5-5-A 100,655 1,884 61,612 460,790 219 1,808 10,173 75,965 713,106
Charge for the year KERTH 3,065 m 2733 %40 12 il 36 . 31909
Reversal of impairment HERE (3,243) - - (2.89) - 9 - (T14) (6,853)
Writien back on disposals HERM - - - - - (1) (2.161) - (2.178)
Witten of i = (728) - (47m) . . - - (5501)
Exchange adjustments EXA% - 15 - - 1 3 50 - 69
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZE+ZA=1-A 100477 1343 64,345 478,634 32 1862 8,398 75251 730552
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZ=%+ZA=1-A
1 January 2024 R=Z-RE-A-H 100477 1,343 64,345 478,534 342 1,862 8,398 75,251 730,562
Charge for the year AEEXH 37 354 2,663 13,300 137 80 43 - 0724
Written back on disposals HERE - - - (1) - (1) - - (12)
Writien off i - (930) - - - - - - 930)
Exchange adjustments EXA% - - - - 1 4 60 - 6
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+=A=1-A 104,254 T67 67,008 491,823 480 1,945 8,871 75,251 750,399
Carrying amount BEE
At 31 December 2024 RZEZMETZA=1-B 16350 1,786 56,093 54,69 25 213 1,275 8,174 214039
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+Zf=1-A 19,726 1,09 58,956 34,966 166 158 521 109,582 225,170
HTREEREEFRA A

—E-mEER

1173



174 |

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)
(iv)

The buildings held for own use are situated on land held under
medium-term leases in the PRC.

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s building held for own use with
carrying amount of approximately RMB8,885,000 (2023: N/A) (before
impairment) was pledged to secure bank borrowing granted to the
Group.

The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

Included the production wells (including costs of well drilling and
fracturing, exploration with testing and surveying) with carrying
amount of approximately RMB54,546,000 (before impairment) as at
31 December 2024 (2023: RMB25,305,000).

Included accumulated coalbed methane development costs (the
costs of well drilling and fracturing, exploration with testing and
surveying) capitalised with carrying amount of approximately
RMB66,338,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB85,543,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, certain
construction in progress cost belonging to the Yangcheng
Huiyang CGU with carrying amount of approximately
RMB22,427,000 was written off due to the well drilling
development project has been terminated. It is unlikely that
the Group will recover any returns from such project in the
foreseeable future, as a result, the related construction
works are deemed unfeasible and were written off during

the year ended 31 December 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

In view of the operating losses of certain subsidiaries
operating in the PRC during the year ended 31 December
2024, the directors of the Company have performed
impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets in these identified subsidiaries
based on cash-generating units (“CGUs") as at 31
December 2024. For the purpose of impairment testing, the
identified subsidiaries in the PRC are grouped under two
CGUs - (i) Shanxi Qinshui CGU and (ii) Yangcheng
Huiyang CGU. The principal activities are manufacture and
sales of liquefied coalbed gas for the Shanxi Qinshui CGU
and exploration, development and production of coalbed
methane for the Yangcheng Huiyang CGU. The recoverable
amounts of Shanxi Qinshui CGU and Yangcheng Huiyang
CGU have been determined by independent professional
valuers, Win Bailey Valuation and Advisory Limited (“Win
Bailey”) (2023: Asset Appraisal Limited (“Asset Appraisal”)
and Win Bailey respectively) based on value-in-use
calculations as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

17. W% - #BER

R (E)

ME BERRBREAESR
EZmERNR

EREPRLENETHBERAAR
 E-_T-_MF+-_A=+—H1
FEHBALEEBE ARFESE
RZZEZWMFE+—_A=+—HRE
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE_T_MN&+_A=1t—RHLFE

(Continued)

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

17. Y13 - BBERRE(E)

ME BERRBREAESR
EZRENRGE)

CGU Shanxi Qinshui Yangcheng Huiyang Total
BEeEEEN 75 3 2k BHER H)
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZE-_ME —E-=F ZB-NE -—F-=F —E-_ME -—T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT AR%TR ARBTR AR®TR ARETR
Property, plant and equipment  #1% - & k& 27,607 26,020 172,859 178,066 200,466 204,086
Right-of-use assets RRESE 7,907 8,127 1,209 1218 9,116 9,345
Carrying amount before XEERBE
impairment loss for (kR EEEA)
the respective years 35,514 34,147 174,068 179,284 209,582 213,431
Reversal of impairment on nx BERXERE
property, plant and e
equipment - 6,853 - - - 6,853
Net carrying amount REFE 35,514 41,000 174,068 179,284 209,582 220,284
Recoverable amount ek 36,000 41,000 174,000 181,000
Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations: EREEHEREANEZEMR
CGU Shanxi Qinshui Yangcheng Huiyang
BeELEN 78 5 7k CE N
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZBRCDWE —To=F ZBE-WNFE —T_=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TT AR®TR AR®TTX
Projection period 7881 5 years 5 years *6 years *7 years
58 5% *6 4 T
Growth rate after projection period ~ FEBI Hi% 2 & X 0% 0% *NA*FBR *NA*TiEf
Pre-tax discount rate BR % A BH 3R & 16.0% 22.8% 24.5% 18.5%
* Based on the operating lease term to 2030 and no terminal value * ERE_ZT=FTFIHNKLEHARR
after the projection period TE ORI HA 1% fE 4R B

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined
based on certain similar key assumptions. The management
of the Group prepared cash flow forecasts for the CGUs
derived from the most recent available financial budgets
approved by management.

The key assumptions used in the calculation of value-in-use
were discount rate, growth rate, budgeted revenue,
budgeted gross margins and net profit margins. The
budgeted revenue, gross margins and net profit margins
were based on past performance and the management'’s
expectation of market development.

There has been no change from the valuation technique
used in prior year. As a result of the impairment assessment
of the CGUs, management of the Group determined that no
impairment loss should be recognised in respect of
property, plant and equipment under Yangcheng Huiyang
CGU and Shanxi Qinshui CGU for the year ended 31
December 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, since the Shanxi
Qinshui CGU resumed full operations and attained profit in
2023, reversal of impairment loss of approximately
RMB6,853,000 was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2023. For Yangcheng Huiyang CGU, no
impairment loss was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2023. Management believed that any reasonably
possible change in any of the above assumptions would not
cause the carrying amount of each of the CGU to exceed
their respective recoverable amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e | RMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE
18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. FRREEE
Leasehold
lands
HE i
RMB’ 000
AR® T
Cost DN
At 1 January 2023 R-_ZTE-_=%—H—H 22,125
Addition NE 540
At 31 December 2023 R—_F-_=F+_-_H=+—8H 22 665
At 1 January 2024 RZE-_mE—H—H 22 665
Addition NE 18
At 31 December 2024 RZZTEZMFE+=_HA=+—8H 22,683
Accumulated depreciation =S
At 1 January 2023 R-ZT-_=%—H—H 2,150
Depreciation charge TEXH 549
At 31 December 2023 RZEBE_=F+_HA=+—H 2,699
At 1 January 2024 R-ZFT_WWFE—H—H 2,699
Depreciation charge TEXH 557
At 31 December 2024 RZZFE-ZMFE+=_HA=+—8H 3,256
Carrying values BREE
At 31 December 2024 RZE-_WE+=-HA=+—H 19,427
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=%+-A=+—H 19,966

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, the leasehold land use right with
carrying amount of approximately RMB7,907,000 (2023:
N/A) was pledged to secure bank borrowings granted to
the Group.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for
all leasehold lands.

The above items of right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following estimated useful lives
based on the periods of the land use rights:
Leasehold lands 50 years

The analysis of the net carrying values of right-of-use assets
by class of underlying asset is as follows:

SEPBHERRME

BE-—FE-mE+—A=+—AILEE
18. EREEE (&)

RZE-ZNME+_HA=+—H B
7 IR T 1E 29 A R #7,907,0007T(=
T =F TEANEELMER
B UREBRTAEENRITER -

AREERSEMAHE LM L
PREHERE -

Tt FRAEEEEE ANERERE
L F A AEEBE R TF G ET a5 A
FHEARNGIRITE -
HE L 504
FHEEERBEBEEEENE SH
EEFESMESIOT :

2024 2023
—EomE —ET_=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR%®FT
Ownership interests on leasehold land EF B FEE AAMEE it
held for own use in the PRC, with MBER R SR TS
remaining lease term of between NFI2F E 484
32 and 48 years 19,427 19,966
2024 2023
—E-lmFE T =fF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARE T AR T
Expense relating to short-term leases # R E A ERNH X 1,181 1,158
Total cash outflow for leases HMEMR R HERE 1,181 1,158
FEEEREEBRA A

“E-NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE—ZT -G +-_A=+—HILFE

19. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

20.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

19. BERANKIEA

2024 2023
—E-mE ZFT-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARB TR AREET T
Prepayments e IR 638 821
Prepayments relating to construction B iZ £ X M FE R IE

expenses 3,089 5,623
3,727 6,444

INVENTORIES 20. #&
2024 2023
—E-_pmE —T-=fF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARE T AREBFT
Raw materials JR A Y 7,743 4,934
Finished goods U5 3,530 2,697
11,273 7,631




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

BE—T-ME+-_A=+—HILEE

. B AR K H b & W KR

2024 2023

ZEDNFE T _=F

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®FTr

Trade receivables JE Wt BR 5K

— contracts with customers —HEE 754 2,125 2,510
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEBEERE (1,297) (1,301)
828 1,209

Bills receivables JE U 15 520 300
Other receivables and deposits HEmEWRIE N RS 4,929 10,505
Other prepayments H {th 78 {7 ;B 7,306 11,291
Value-added tax recoverable Al Y o] 12 {8 7 4,464 818
Value-added tax refunds receivables & U 1% {& %4 iR %4 10,543 7,351
28,590 31,474

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
the trade receivables, based on invoice date and net of
allowance for credit losses, is as follows:

ERURER(ZEZEHRMGKEER
BREEE NREARZEEDN

mT

2024 2023
—EDWFE T =F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%Tr
Within 1 month 118 A A 374 1,115
More than 1 month but less than 1@ A%&E3EARN
3 months 90 90
More than 3 months but less than 3 A& E6ME AR
6 months 90 =
More than 6 months but less than 618 A&E12EA R
12 months 270 -
More than 12 months 1218 A 1% 4 4
828 1,209
FEEEREEBRA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

Hz=—F

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E(Z_—F

—HE+=—A=1+—HLEE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The Group generally allows credit period of 30 to 180 days
to its customers. The Group may, on a case by case basis
and after evaluation of the business relationship and
creditworthiness, extend the credit period upon the
customers’ requests.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that were past due
but not impaired are as follows:

1. BRI K At B IR

(&
AEE—HKETFTEFI0E180H =
Eff - AEB RS EBEZRERF
HEBKBAEREERZ BRERFEX
EREEH-

B #8 HA 18 R 8 B 89 FE UR BR B 2 BR B
DA ¢

2024 2023

—®B-mE —To=F

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR%Tr

Neither past due nor impaired A8 HA N ROR B 374 1,115
Less than 1 month past due 0 ER DR 1 M A 90 90
1 to 3 months past due wHI1 = 31E A 360 =
Over 3 months past due 10 HA 8 4@ 31 A 4 4
454 94

828 1,209

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance were debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately RMB454,000 (2023: RMB94,000)
which are past due. Out of the past due balances, RMB364,000
(2023: RMB4,000) has been past due 30 days or more and
is not considered as in default, because the management
expects that the debtors is able and likely to pay for the
debts based on the debtors’ repayment history and
subsequent settlements. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessments of trade and other
receivables are set out on Note 33(b).

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

22. BITHEBRERS

2024 2023
—E-WmE T =fF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARSI ARETT
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEeEEY
— Cash at bank and in hand —RITRFHERE 48,484 45,444

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group performed impairment assessment on the bank
balances and concluded that the probability of defaults of
the counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly,
no allowance for credit losses is provided.

At 31 December 2024, the cash and cash equivalents of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB10,998,000 (2023: RMB4,130,000). RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under the PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

RIRTZHAESREBERTEBEFRF
R FHMERIAE - RITEER
FHREZBREFRKOYEHE R
SREVERTT

BHE-_T-_NMFER-_ZT_=F+=
A=+—BLEFE AEEHET
BRETRESTH YRAEHFH
BITEHIUEETR AT EH
CEBBIREME -

RZZEZNWFE+=ZA=+—H" K
SENARBHENRESEESE
EW#H A ANR10,998,000T(=F
—=F: AR¥4,130,0007T) - AR
MATERLBRKEMES  BR
BB ZINEE IR IEH MAERE - &
ERNEEERTE AEEEESE
BEREETINEER ZRITHEA
RES MK EME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE
23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. ENRR KR H it B RIE
2024 2023
ZEZNFE T =F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARSI ARETx
Trade payables JE - BR 3K 35,440 3,761
Amount due to ultimate controlling &S B 4R ¥ AR 75 3R I8
party (note 36(a)(i)) (Fft 5% 36(a)(i)) 3,581 231
Amounts due to directors JE <t E % 5k 38 (Bt 52 36(a)(i))
(note 36(a)(i)) 574 64
Accrued expenses and other payables &&=t 5 2 & H b & < 5 18
(note (i) and (ii)) (B 3F (i) R (ii)) 29,952 52,058
Payables for acquisition of property, WS 3 - #22 KR & FE
plant and equipment KIE 88,377 82,530
Loan interest payables BB R F B 1,844 1,844
Value-added and other taxes payables & {& %R&ﬁﬁﬂﬁéﬁ i 18 640 699
160,408 141,387

Note: Bt 3 -

(i) Accrued expenses and other payables included the estimated costs (i)
of dismantling and removing the items of property, plant and
equipment and restoring the site on which they are located,
amounting to approximately RMB3,302,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB3,302,000).

(i) As at 31 December 2024, contract liabilities totaling amounted to (ii)
approximately RMB2,452,000 (2023: RMB22,823,000) has been
recorded and included in accrued expenses and other payables,
which primarily relate to the advance consideration received from
customers for sales of liquefied coalbed gas and sales of piped
natural gas amounts of approximately RMB1,588,000 and
RMB864,000 (2023: RMB22,538,000 and RMB285,000) respectively,
and for which revenue is recognised at point in time. This will be
recognised as revenue when control of the goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been shipped to the customer’s specific
location.

The amounts of approximately RMB22,443,000 and RMB11,943,000
included in contract liabilities at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022 respectively have been recognised as revenue in
2024 and 2023 respectively.
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EMzz,az&oooﬁ)B@éma%E)\aE
Wrt AR REMEMNKE £
Eﬁ%% BIEEERRHEEEERXR
ﬂ%u&%}ﬂﬂ*"‘ﬂuiﬁAEM
1,588,0007E & A R #¥864,000L(= =
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-F+-_A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

23. BARMRRHMENRE

(%)
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of REBEHR BANER(ZREEREA
the trade payables, based on invoice date, is as follows: H)ZRep AT
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR®Tx
Within 1 month 118 AR 7,921 1,454
More than 1 month but less than 1@ A%&B31E AR
3 months 26,041 423
More than 3 months but less than 31& A& 1BE61E A RN
6 months 88 862
More than 6 months but less than 618 A& E1218 AR
12 months 173 252
More than 12 months 1218 A 1% 1,217 770
35,440 3,761
FEEEREEFRA A

—E-mEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE—E-ME+-_A=+—HILEE

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

24. RITR EAb 5K

2024 2023
ZEZFE T =F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%®Tr
Secured bank loans (note (a)) EEMIRTE R (M 5E(a)) 13,000 =
Unsecured other loan (note (b)) 54K 1R H i B 5K (B 3E (b)) 10,400 16,500
23,400 16,500
Analysed as: SR :
Amount due within 1 year shown —FREH 2 KB
under current liabilities GIRREBEEET) 23,400 16,500
Amount due after 1 year shown —F &I 2 KA
under non-current liabilities FIRERBEBEET) - -
23,400 16,500

Notes:

B o

Secured bank loans carry various interest rates which ranged from
3.45% to 4.50% per annum (2023: N/A). The bank loans were
secured by the building held for own use and the leasehold land use
right of the Group as set out in note 17 and 18.

Unsecured other loan represents loan due to non-controlling
shareholder of PRC subsidiary of the Group and bears interest at
fixed rate of 4.35% (2023: 4.35% to 5.14%) per annum. Interest
expenses on unsecured other loan to non-controlling shareholder of
the subsidiary amounted to approximately RMB587,000 (2023:
RMB829,000) payable to Chengrong Investment (note 36(c)) was
charged to profit or loss within “finance costs” during the year ended
31 December 2024.
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SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
issued HK$ denominated zero-coupon convertible bonds
with the fair value amounting to approximately RMB38,931,000
(equivalent to HK$45,290,000) which is made up of the
principal amount of HK$11,000,000 as part of the
consideration for acquisition of the further 20% equity
interest of Yangcheng Huiyang. The convertible bonds have
a maturity period of 2 years from the issue date and are
convertible at the option of the bondholder into 32,582,938
ordinary shares of the Company at a conversion price of
HK$0.3376 per share.

The convertible bonds contained two components: liability
and equity elements. The equity element on initial
recognition amounted to RMB30,862,990 was presented in
equity as part of the “convertible bonds reserve”. The
effective interest rate of the liability component of the
convertible bonds on initial recognition was 8.26% per
annum.

Fair value measurement

The fair values of the liability component and equity
conversion component of convertible bonds on initial
recognition were determined with reference to a
professional valuation performed by Norton Appraisals
Holdings Limited, using Goldman Sachs’ Model, with
significant unobservable inputs and therefore were
classified as level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The key
inputs applied to the valuation models on the convertible
bonds were as follows:

25. AT ESF

HE-_T-_=F+ZA=+—8H1
FEA ARABETAFENAA
R # 38,931,000 7T (18 & 7 45,290,000
BIT)RNUBLTHE A28 AR
11,000,000 7t 2 T E A 2 R &

FoORERE-—ZTZUEBGHER
20% M A 2 B KB - AR
BEFEBERTHAETMERE® B

X

BHEFEA AR ?zhz}ﬁﬂxfgiﬂ“
033768 T B # A K A 7
32,582,938 % & @ A% °

AHEEFEamERND  BER
Bamdo T EIARKERIE DB

A R #30,862,990 7T © 7 # % A 5
ElATRESFEHE] 2 —8 9 - R
MPERARAIRRESFBELS 2
BERFHER8.26% -

AV EHE

AMRESF 2 BB D RiERER
BORVIEERKZATFENZ2E
Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited
REASRENETZERMEE
E ﬁﬁ%%%’*”iﬁ&%ﬁTT&ﬂmim
ABE A28 RATFESZRE

BHEIER - BRARATRKRES
HEREZTFEHABBRNT :

B S A TR A A
—E-mEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

25. AR E S (E)

DNFREFEGE)

Date of Completion

16 January 2023
SEFRX B 5
(==—=—=

—A+7xA)

RMB’ 000

AR® T

Risk free rate i | B ) = 3.79%

Implied/Expected volatility BE TEEE TR 124.80%

Expected life TEERF R 2 years 24F

Dividend yield IR B U 2= 2R 0.00%

Discount rate* A 3R &~ 8.26%
* Being the market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible ki MEBEAATRBREFOMSHE - I

bonds and netting off the fair values of the Company’s early
redemption options and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The variable and assumptions used in calculating the fair
value of the liability component and equity component of
convertible bonds are based on the directors’ best
estimate.

No convertible bond was converted during the year ended
31 December 2024. 22,215,639 ordinary shares of the
Company were issued upon conversion of convertible
bonds on 30 June 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

26.

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The movement of the liability component of the convertible

DNFREFEGE)

BE—T-ME+-_A=+—HILEE

25. AR ES (A

AREEFRERIRFRAZES

bonds for the year is set out below: HHAT

2024 2023
—B-mE —T-=4
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®Tx
At 1 January n—H—8 2,944 -
Issue of convertible bonds BT RRES - 8,068
Conversion to shares =it a8 - (5,713)
Effective interest expense charged EMBR2EBRFERX 247 430
Exchange difference 5= 105 159
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 3,296 2,944

PROVISION FOR PRODUCTION SAFETY . BREEERE
2024 2023
—2-lmE T =F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%STR AR%Tx
At 1 January R—H—H 13,306 14,537
Provision for the year N F SR 994 207
Amount utilised for the year rEEHAZEHE (2,829) (1,438)
At 31 December R+—_HA=+—8 11,471 13,306

The provision for production safety has been determined by
the directors to meet the production safety standards,
based on certain percentage of the corresponding
subsidiaries’ revenue in accordance with PRC rules and

regulations.

EERERENHESRETER
Al ROAR - RN B AR s
ZETEOUEBE UNAGEER

TEEEREEAR QA

“E-NEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

27. DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred tax liabilities recognised

257

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position and the

movements during the year are as follows:

Fair value

HABSMD

iE fiE B 18
CRAZELEHERE

4R B B 5 R 0 5% A RE R

T

Fair value
adjustment on
prepaid lease

i T

&EREWZﬁ@JﬁD

adjustmenton  payments for
property, plant land under  Withholding Convertible
and equipment operating leases tax bonds Total
ERR 1 RERET
ke HBEALwHEE
AVERE 2ZAVERE BB ARRES @t
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET ARBTRT ARBTRT ARBTRT AR®TR
At 1 January 2023 AZE-=F—H—H (1,918) (1,604) (193) - (3,715)
Credited to profit or loss ~ sf A% 237 46 74 (37) 320
Exchange difference X = - = = (5) (5)
At31December 2023 R T==4%F
+ZHA=+—H (1,681) (1,558) (119) (42) (3,400)
At 1 January 2024 RZZE-WME—-H—H (1,681) (1,558) (119) (42) (3,400)
Credited to profit or loss ~ #f Az 237 46 105 4 429
Exchange difference BN = - = = (1) (1)
At 31 December 2024 ~ RZTZ[F
TZA=t— (1,444) (1,512) (14) ) (2,972)
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SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

27. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities recognised (Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
for financial reporting purposes:

27. EEFIE (&)

ERRBZELERBERE(E)

T BRF B HRE TS WIELERA
REER AT

2024 2023
—EBE-OFE T _=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in =~ K& A BB AR R K W FER
the consolidated statement of RIEMRIB A G
financial position (2,972) (3,400)
Deferred tax assets not recognised AERZELEHREEE

At 31 December 2024, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of (1) estimated cumulative
tax losses carried forward of approximately RMB46 million
(2023: RMB49 million) which are due to expire within 1 to 5
years under the current tax legislation and are available for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the Group entities
in which the losses arise and (2) deductible temporary
difference from excess of tax written down values over the
accounting carrying values of certain property, plant and
equipment of approximately RMB103 million (2023:
RMB110 million). The cumulative tax losses and the
deductible temporary difference have not been recognised
as a deferred tax asset as it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will
be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

There are no material deferred tax liabilities not recognised.

RZZEZWMFEF+=ZA=+—H K
EEVABEREBEUNTSENEL
MBEE: (VEEMRTRFABEES
BEBREBEEZEAREZBEREELEES
Z—ERFRNEE JHEKHELASE
BERBABCERMREINHNAR
# 46,000,000 L(ZTE=Z=F: AR
# 49,000,000 7T ) X (2) B 18 #f 85 (&
BBBETYE HERRXESNS
AEREAEEMNATIIREREELOA
R #103,000,000c( =& = = F:
A R #110,000,0007T ) > 2 5+ & 1B
BRERAMBREREZEY R HER
BEEHBEEE  HHAREHEBR
BalZERERERBTIANAES K
HEBZ RRERFUEF -

AERBZELEREAER

MERERCEANRLERBEARG -

B S A TR A A
—E-mEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 28. EARR#E
(a) Authorised and issued share capital (a) ZEREBRHITHRAX
2024 2023
—E-_MF —Eo=F
Number of Number of

shares Amount shares Amount
B4 & E £HE RHEE & 5
’000 RMB’ 000 ‘000 RMB'000
TR AR®Tx T ARETT

Authorised ordinary shares &Pk E0.0878 T 2

of HK$0.08 each: ETE TR
At 1 January »n—HA—H 2,500,000 174,064 20,000,000 174,064
Share consolidation (note i) A% 7 & B (it 51) - - (17,500,000) -
At 31 December R+=-—BA=+—8 2,500,000 174,064 2,500,000 174,064
Issued and fully paid EEITRER

— Ordinary shares of —BREE0.08

HK$0.08 each: BT @K :
At 1 January n—H—H 390,451 26,305 2,078,000 17,133
Share consolidation (note i) A% 2 & B (it 3%1) - - (1,818,250) X
Issue of consideration BIIRERN

shares (note ii) (B &Eii) - - 93,375 6,421
Issue of shares upon AREREFE R

conversion of convertible TR D

bonds (note 25) (3£ 25) - - 22,216 1,639
Issue of shares upon BRRERITER

exercise of share options 4T 7

(note 30(b)) (Bt 5£30(b)) - - 15,110 1,112
At 31 December R+=-A=+—8H 390,451 26,305 390,451 26,305
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

28. EXRf#HE(E)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(a) Authorised and issued share capital (Continued)

Notes:

(M)

(if)

(iii)

On 29 September 2022, the Board proposed to implement the
Share Consolidation pursuant to which every eight (8) Existing
Shares of par value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of
the Company would be consolidated into one (1) Consolidated
Share of par value of HK$0.08 each in the share capital of the
Company.

A special general meeting of the Company in relation to
proposed share consolidation was convened on 3 January
2023, and were passed by ordinary resolution.

On 30 September 2022 (after trading hours), the Company as
purchaser and Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng as vendor entered into
the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the
Company conditionally agreed to purchase, and Mr. Wang
Zhong Sheng conditionally agreed to sell, the Sale Shares,
representing the entire issued share capital of the Global
Billion Holdings Limited (“Global Billion”) at a total
consideration of HK$42,523,400 (equivalent to approximately
RMB38,500,000), which were satisfied by way of (i) allotment
and issue of 93,375,000 Consideration Shares and (ii) issue of
the Convertible Bonds to Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng under the
Specific Mandate.

A special general meeting of the Company was convened on
3 January 2023, and was passed by ordinary resolution. All
the conditions precedent under the Sale and Purchase
Agreement have been fulfilled and the Completion took place
on 16 January 2023 in accordance with the terms of the Sale
and Purchase Agreement.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual
assets.

(a)

=
A

—~

(i)

(iii)

EEREBBITRE(E)

RZEZZFhLA=Z+NLB =
EeEZBERERRMHE O Bt
BNOBRARABRATTRE
B0.01 B THEERNDEE A
—(WBRARBARAFFREE
0.08BILH & HHIR(D ©

AARIER=ZZTE=_=F—HA=H
MEZERDEHBHABKRRERR
O WUEBRERBB -

RZEBE-_—_FAA=Z+RH(XRS
RE®) ARRI(EAE )R
FRBEEWERER)FIVLEER
B Bl ARRAKGERE
BE MIABLEEREGERE
EEHERN  NEEEEAR
AR([BRDEHEEITHRA -
R (B 542,523,400 T (HE &
R AR ¥ 38,500,0007T) © 1R
BRI IR M E 3B A B B SR A (1)
fic 3% K % 17 93,375,0001K 1B B% 15
RNZETAVRRES A X
fF o

AARER=ZZE=_=%—HA=H
BRABRRERARE WAL @R
ERBA -BEWZBETINAAAE
ERGHEBEEENK  EEXSHE
BEEEBENERR_ZT ==

F—A+ARBEK-

TEBREEATRERTEEIK
ZEERRAARGEHZLERE
B—R2EE# - A ERARY
ARBZRBEENZTERERE

= ©

TEEEREEAR QA
“E-NEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E(Z_—F

Hx — | —

THEF A=t —HIEEE

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Share premium

The application of share premium account is
governed by the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda.

General reserve

According to the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC, each of the PRC subsidiaries is required
to appropriate at least 10% of its after-tax profit
(after offsetting prior years' losses), based on the
PRC statutory financial statements prepared in
accordance with the generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) and financial
regulations applicable to PRC enterprises, to the
general reserve fund until the balance of the fund
reaches 50% of the PRC subsidiary’s registered
capital. Thereafter, any further appropriation can
be made at the directors’ discretion.

The general reserve fund can be utilised to offset
the prior years’ losses, or be utilised to increase
the capital on the condition that the general
reserve shall be maintained at a minimum of 25%
of the registered capital after such increase.

Share options reserve

The share options reserve comprises the portion
of the grant date fair value of unexercised share
options granted to executive directors,
employees and consultants of the Group that has
been recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 4.2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 4.2.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the surplus
from share capital reduction arising from the
capital reorganisation in 2014. Contributed
surplus reserves were reduced by the acquisition
of additional equity interest of a subsidiary, and
share premium reductions in 2023.

Convertible bonds reserve

The convertible bonds reserve represent the
value of unexercised equity component of
convertible bonds issued by the Company. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 4.2.

Other reserve
The other reserve represents the balance arising
from the acquisition of additional equity interest
of a subsidiary.

BE-_E-_mME+-—A=+—HILEE

28. EAXRR B (E)
(b) RBEZMERBHNE)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

REFE

HmEREEEMBERER
SNEBHBHRRELEZE
RERE - LB REHE
A2FTE 2 BRT R BRI

EHEe
EHRBBER_ZT—NF
BEREHBHBRAER 2
Bt BREHHBEHEER
“TE=FIKREHEN B
A B) B 5B O AR AE K Bl R AR
17 )% {8 M A8 FE R 2 o

o 12 R 18 5 1 1
ABRBRESFHEEEART
BT AR E SR RTT
D 2 EE - &
BREBEWNT4I2EN
ARSI ©

Hfth 1# 15

H i feF 85 18 W B — R B /BB
NRABIREELENG
8 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 29. KRB ZBBARRE

THE COMPANY
2024 2023
—E-NME —E-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR¥ T AR T T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M HERFE 261 108
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR Z&KE 90,410 89,196
Amounts due from subsidiaries AN E NGRS 98,186 88,381
188,857 177,685
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment and other receivables A BB K H A & 5K OE 486 473
Amount due from ultimate controlling party & W & 42 42 B 75 708 1,926 3,245
Cash and cash equivalents ReLkBEeZFEYD 36,337 41,203
38,749 44,921
Current liabilities nEBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE 1~ B BB A &) 3118 97,170 83,036
Amounts due to directors e EEHIE 483 64
Accrued expenses and other payables JESH B R K H h FE 4 5K 3,708 3,261
Convertible bonds ]k ES 3,296 =
104,657 86,361
Net current liabilities nBEEFE (65,908) (41,440)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBER 122,949 136,245
Non-current liabilities F(RBEARE
Convertible bonds AR ES - 2,944
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBAE 2 42
2 2,986
Net assets EEFE 122,947 133,259
Capital and reserves EXK
Share capital & A 26,305 26,305
Reserves 1@ 96,642 106,954
Total equity HER 122,947 133,259
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors HEEER_TE_AF=A=+RX
on 26 March 2025. B #e o & 56 T2 o
Wang Zhong Sheng Chang Jian
T AB i
Director Director
EF EF
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE
29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 29. AR ZBMBMRREK(E)
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Reserves & 1E
Accumulated
Share  Convertible losses and
Share  Translation Contributed option bonds Other  refained
premium  reserve  Surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve  earnings Total
BRE TRRES 2 EER
RAEE #RERE ZHE4 fif ffE  HtBEE &5EH @i
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AE¥TR ARETRn ARETR ARETr ARETn ARETR ARBTR ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZF-=E-F-REH 142,284 2757 584,838 6,468 - - (556721) 202,626
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - - - (10200 (10,200
Other comprehensiveincome ~~ AFEEH2ERE
for the year - 10,437 - - - - - 10,437
Total comprenensive income/  AEE2ENE/(FR) 88
(expense) for the year - 10,437 - - - - (10,200) 27
Acquisition of equity interest o~ KE—-BINB R A 2 K
asubsidiary 105,145 - (150497) -8 . - (14489)
Issue of new shares Hk
- Conversion of convertible bonds  — 7 &k EESE & 5117 = = - () = = 4074
- Exercise of shares options -EREEAR 8,881 - - (368 - - - 5207
Share premium reduction B E R (247.429) - (434341) - - B2 657828 -
Special dividends approvedin -~ SAFEHENERIRE
respect of the current year - - - - - - o) (9o721)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R-E-=F+-A=1-HER
and 1 January 2024 “5-ME-A-RER 33,998 36,194 - 2814 9,820 23,942 186 106,954
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - - - (1933) (19,331
Other comprehensive income ~~ AFEEH2ARE
for the year - 9,019 - - - - - 9,019
Total comprenensive income/  AEE2ENE/(FR) 88
(expense) for the year - 9,019 - - - - (19331)  (10312)
Balance at 31 December 2024 ~ R-F-ME
t-A=t-BEs 3998 45213 - a4 980 2B (19045 96642
FEEBEREEBERA

—Z- Ifﬁfﬁiﬁ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

30. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 18 May 2011 and will remain in force for a
period of ten years. The purpose of the Scheme is to attract
and retain the best available personnel, to provide
additional incentive to employees (full-time and part-time),
directors, consultants and advisers of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group. The
Scheme was expired on 18 May 2021. A new share option
scheme of the Company (the “New Scheme”) is
conditionally adopted by the shareholders of the Company
subsequent to the end of the reporting period on 28 March
2022. There is no material difference in terms between the

Scheme and the New Scheme.

On 7 April 2022, 15,000,000 share options (which were
subsequently adjusted to 1,875,000 as a result of the share
consolidation effective on 5 January 2023) was granted to a
corporate financial advisor with an exercise price of
HK$0.056 per share with an option period of ten years from
the date of grant. The options are exercisable from date of

grant to ten years.

On 18 October 2022, 192,800,024 share options (which
were subsequently adjusted to 24,100,003 as a result of the
share consolidation effective on 5 January 2023) were
granted to the Directors and employees of the Company
with an exercise price of HK$0.057 per share and an option
period of ten years from the date of grant. The options are

exercisable from date of grant to ten years.
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30 LEREEURGAER 2

R5

Apm ey R 8 ([%r8 15
BREARATKRER-_ZE——FHHA
TABETHNEREIAE LAB
ERRBRRA LBN+FHE
AIEBER - ZstEMWEMRERS
LBREEBFAE RMAKENEER
(2B MR B BERNESA
ARBEINER W lRERNRKEHE
BRI ZAEER T - —FH
A+ N NBEMm RARAFABRRR-F
T CFZA-FTN\BREMREK
GEZFIRNYNCIE -3 - i
8l 1) o x At & B3 A 8 A IR R '
BERER-

RZE-_—_FWMA+EH " m—fut
% B 7% B8 8 % F 15,000,000 1% # A%
B(E#AE-_ZTE_=F—AAH
A E IR 5 & B M 58 & & 1,875,000
D) 1TEE AT R0.0567% T BB
BRiESHR AR TFTRABRETF - 2B
RERMERE TEHEE -+ FRNIT
f£ o

RZEBE-_—_F+AHA+=H MARQ
A E E & {E B & T 192,800,024 15 f#
BEHEEE-_ZE-_=—HF®
BEBRBRHDEHMBARR
24,100,00317) - 171 & & & % 0.057
BT BREHARAX THEHE T
F-ZBRETERTHBREEZ +
FAITE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

30 LEREEURGAER 2

30. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are

as follows:

Number of
options

after Share
Consolidation

X5 (&

(a) BREMGRTEEHEDT :

Contractual life

(Note) Vesting conditions of options
BROaEZ
BREHAR
(fgaE) BB BRESHTFH
Options granted:
BRI
7 April 2022 1,875,000 Vest immediately 10 years
—E-__FWNA+LH SISy T4
13 October 2022 24,100,003  Vest immediately 10 years
—E=F+A+=H BN 55 B +F
Total share options granted 25,975,003

ERGBREARK

TEEEREEAR QA

“E-NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

30. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows:

The following table discloses movements in the

Company’s share options under the Scheme during
the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

31 December 2024

30 LERGEEUROGAER 2
X5 (%)

(b)

BREZHE R MEFY
TEEWT

TEREBEHE T _NFEK—

To=FT-A=THL#F
B et 81T 2 AN 1R v s B 4

—E-_ME+=-A=+-—H

Number of
share options
Period during Exercise  Outstanding granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding at
which share options priceper  at1January during during during 31 December
Date of grant are exercisable share 2024 the year the year the year 2024
R-R-BF R-R-BF
-A-B  ERRie tZA=t-H
REAH BREUGES  SRORE AR BREHR  FABAE  EREAX AT
HKS
AT
T/412022 71412022 - 6/4/2032 0448 1,875,000 - - - 1,875,000
“E__EMAtH Z3CZEMmAtH
E-E-"FMAKA
131012022 130102022 - 12/10/2032 0.456 8,990,003 - - - 8,990,003
“EoCETATEH “E-CETATER
EZESETATZH
10,865,003 - - - 10,865,003
Exercisable at the end of year
RERIFE 10,865,003
Weighted average exercise price (HKS) (Note)
mETBEER(EL)(HE) 0455 0455
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

30. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows:
(Continued)

31 December 2023

30 LEREEURGAER 2
X5 (%E)

(b) BBR#EZHE R ¥i3
TEENT : (&)

—®-=%+=-A=+-H

Exercise price Number of
per share share options
Period during ~ Exercise after Share  Outstanding Effect of granted  Exercised Lapsed  OQutstanding at
which share options  price per ~ Consolidation ~ at 1 January Share during during during 31 December
Date of grant are exercisable share (Note) 2023 Consolidation theyear  theyear  theyear 2023
Bfiafie R-F-=f% RIEZ=fF
BRITEE —-A-A Rihast Erkiiz tZA=1-A
RHBH BRETARE BRAKE (M) AR LYE  EREZE EMBAE FREAX AR
HKS HK$
BT BT
7/42022 7/412022 - 6/4/2032 0.056 0448 15000000  (13,125,000) - - - 1,875,000
ZEZZEMALA ZEZEMALE
EZZZ_FRARA
13/10/2022 13102022 - 12/10/2032 0.057 0456 192,800,024  (168,700,021) - (15,110,000) - 8,990,003
ZE--E+B+=R  ZE--£tAt=H
EIR=_%TATZA
207,800,024 (181,825,021) - (15,110,000) - 10,865,003

Exercisable at the end of year

RERTTE

Weighted average exercise price (HKS) (Note)
METHTEE (L) () 0.057

10,865,003

0,455

TRREEREEERAAF
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30. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise

prices of share options are as follows:
(Continued)

Note:

On 5 January 2023, the Share Consolidation become effective
pursuant to which every eight (8) existing Shares of par value of
HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company will be
consolidated into one (1) Consolidated Share of par value of HK$0.08
each in the share capital of the Company. As a result of the Share
Consolidation and in accordance with (1) the terms and conditions of
the Share Option Scheme and(2)the GEM Listing Rules, immediately
upon the Share Consolidation becoming effective, the exercise price
and the number of Consolidated Shares to be issued upon exercise
of the outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme is
adjusted with effect from the effective date of the Share
Consideration. The weighted average exercise price of the share
options after adjustment is HK$0.455 and the number of
Consolidated Shares to be issued upon full exercise of the share
options will be 25,975,003.

No share options (2023: 15,110,000) were exercised
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

No new share options were granted to eligible
participants under the Scheme during the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

The fair values of the share options at grant date were
calculated using the Black-Scholes Merton Option
Pricing Model.

No expense is recognised for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024 in relation to share options
granted by the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

30 LERGEEUROGAER 2
R5 (&

(b) BBIR#EZHE & ¥i3

THEENT : (&)

B &

R-ZTE-_=F—AHA BHAHE
BB ARRRBRAFENG)KRE
fREECOIB T2 HEBRHGE AN
ARARAF —(1)REKRMEE0.08% T
ZEHRBRHD ARBRHEHNTE &
R (1) B A% 428 51 21 89 16 30 R 4G 14 R (2)
GEMEmMBA BEBRG A HER
B OEBRRITEBRRESSET
MARITEZBRERE FETHNE G
BHBESETAZ RBRHDAME
MERER  EHAEBBREZ NETF
17 {5 &8 /4 0.455 7 7T 1M 1A BE A% 1 78 &1
TERBETRTNEGHBROEES A
25,975,003 f% °

BE-_T-_WF+=-A=+—
HEFE BB _=F:
15,110,000 {7 ) B8 P #E JE 1T {5 o

BEZT-_MFER_FT=Z=F
+ZA=+—BLtFE HE
BEZTEREGERZHEER
o T B AR A o

RIE 4 F A B 2 T AE TR
FR18 7 55 — & 8 H7 B9 4 7 (R 1
HEHE -

REE-_ZTE-_=ZFK=-F_NH
F+ZA=1+—BHLFE " #
ERADARENOERERER
% o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

31. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT

PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
vest immediately.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
participate in a mandatory central pension scheme
organised by the PRC Government for certain of its
employees, the assets of which are held separately from
those of the Group. Contributions made are based on a
percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the scheme. The employer’s
contributions vest fully once they are made.

Under the above schemes, retirement benefits of existing
and retired employees are payable by the relevant scheme
administrators and the Group has no further obligations
beyond the annual contributions.

The aggregate amounts of employer’s contributions by the
Group in respect of retirement benefits schemes dealt with
in profit or loss for the year are disclosed in note 11(a) to
these consolidated financial statements.

The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its
employees in respect of the subsidiaries outside Hong
Kong and the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 in
respect of the retirement of its employees.

31.

TE 8RR ARG E

AEBREARESEBKLEE
HEZEE BEFBAHNEQTE
SET BRI R 8 B R E S E
([RS8l - _ESTEEH
BUYEAXATEZ EEMEIEKRE
Zo-RMERESTE BERERE
BEZEREBHEBRAZ5%M
BEEFEEHBER FAZIEH
WA BB %30,000% T - 38 f8 & &t
IR BN REREMA ©

RRABRPEKRLZMBRRAE
ATREREZ2ERATERFEM 2R
BIERREREFE - ZAAEZE
EEASEZEENHATA - RE
ZAT B ZRA AEEZAERE
BZHS L RERHR XREN
RREBEME - BEH-RNIELR
VHEBEEREEMA -

Rig LastE - RAERERKEE Z
BRARENBEBFEHEEARAX
ff NEBERSFHFIIILER M
AEfE-

A B AR KB B 2 B
HRBERENZ AR EE
BRI S5 BEREME11(a) T
HE -

AN BB E S R B AN B
NAlZEEB R EMEMERESE
- ARAEFRAE RZZTZN
FRZFEZ=F+ZZA=+—8"
AEEBTVEEMNEBEEERKZ
EpNEEAS =R

B S A TR A A
—E-mEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

X —

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #E(Z_—F

—HE+=—A=1+—HLEE

32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholders returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of total
debt to equity. Total debt comprises the Group’s other
borrowings and lease liabilities as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position. Equity
comprises equity attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #(E

32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT(Continued)

The total debt to equity ratio as at 31 December 2024 and

32. EAXRE R

WZ_ZE_WM

—ECNEFT A=+ —HIEFE

EHE(E)

FR-F-_=F1t_-A

2023 are as follows: St+—RHAzeaEHERSE XD
S &
2024 2023
—E-MmEF —E - =F
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’'000
B 5 AR®TR AR%Tr
Bank and other borrowings RIT R E b fE K 24 23,400 16,500
Convertible bonds Al 2 % (& 5 25 3,296 2,944
Total debt FCRERE 26,696 19,444
Equity attributable to equity KRB ERE
shareholders of the Company JEfh = 127,269 165,017
Total debt to equity ratio REEHERE X 20.98% 11.78%
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital IR B 578 X PR 7 A 7] A1 56 46 hn E’J
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, ERAHME-BE_T_MOFR=
policies or processes for managing capital during the years =+ A=+—HLEFE T
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. BEANMER BENEFLESE
@J o

TRERAEREEERA
—ZE= Iﬁﬁﬁ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

33. €T A
(a) eMIEDSE

AEERBEHRRNSEE R

financial instruments of the Group as at the end of the TAZREBERT :
reporting period are as follows:
2024 2023
—E_ME —E =4
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARSI ARETx
Financial assets cREE
At amortised cost: LA 8 85 AKX 2R 51 BR
Trade and other receivables JE LT B 5% e EL b JE W 5k I8 6,277 12,014
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEeEEY 48,484 45 444
Financial liabilities - =R
At amortised cost: A2 85 B AN 51 BR -
Trade and other payables JE 1t BR 5% B EL Ath JiE < R IE 157,316 117,865
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EMER 23,400 16,500
Convertible bonds AR E S 3,296 2,944

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other payables, bank and other borrowings
and lease liabilities. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk
and other price risk arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner. There has been no change to the types of the
Group’s exposure in respect of financial instruments
or the manner in which it manages and measures the
risks.
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il F& 5 SRR ~ SR 1T M E At {8 5K
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade
receivables, bills receivables, other receivables,
amount due from a related company and bank
balances. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

(i)

Trade receivables

At the end of the reporting period, 67% (2023:
43%) of the total trade receivables was due from
a customer which is with good creditability, the
Group considers that the credit risk is low.

The Group has concentration of credit risk by
geographical location as the entire balance of its
trade receivable as at 31 December 2024 and
2023 were in the PRC.

In order to minimise risk, the management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Credit evaluations of its customers’ financial
position and condition are performed on each
major customer periodically. These evaluations
focus on the customers’ past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the
customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate. The
Group does not require collateral in respect of its
financial assets. Trade debtors are usually due
within 30 to 180 days from the date of billing.

.ERITAEE)

(b) ¥H¥EBREEEEREIREK
(&)
EERBRHEFE

%fﬁ SEASENHFHE
REAKNEL BREAEER
XUMBERNER - A& B
EERR T ZRNERER
R ES ?F ﬁﬁﬂrﬁlﬁl - fE
Yo — ) B Bt 2 B R IB K SR 1T 4%
2 K%ll?ﬁihﬁ&ﬂﬁ#ﬁ
ek B A E SRR e AR R
HeBMEEAANEERAR -

(i) EWERHL
RBEHAR B 5 EWK
THEEEHE7T% (- T — =
F:43%) REWEBR
FEENEFPRIE K&

BEREEERRIK-

AEBERWEMEM S B
BREESETRR  HAH
R-F_WHER_FT_=

¢+ A=+—RZEK
R ERER LR T
By o

REERERR EEE
BRI —BHEERR I
HEBRGEERBETHSE

ER-AEEEEHEX
T2EP ZW BRI K& Ik

HEITEETE  ZET
HEHEEFLBAZMNEH
HREZERRBAIZEZMA
BN U EREFETEER
B R B P & & RAER
BrAER - AEEWERR
HeMEEERERR -
FEWEESR —RBEREERH
#H30E 180 H W EFHA -
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—E-mEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-_Z-_NF+-A=1+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group also performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade receivables individually
or based on provision matrix. Except for items
that are subject to individual evaluation, which
are assessed for impairment individually, the
remaining trade receivables are grouped under a
provision matrix based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to repayment
histories for recurring customers and current past
due exposure. Impairment of RMBNil (2023:
RMBNIl) is recognised during the year. Details of
the quantitative disclosures are set out below in
this note.

Bank balances

The credit risk of the Group on liquid funds is
limited because the majority of the counterparties
are international banks and state-owned banks
with good reputation.

Other receivables and amount due from a related
company

Apart from the credit-impaired other receivables
as disclosed in the note below, the credit risk on
other receivables and amount due from a related
company is limited because of the natures of
these balances, credit quality of the counterparties
and the historical settlement record.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL

SEPBHERRME

December 2024 #HE-ZT-_NF+-_A=+—HILFE

33. @MIA(E)

(b) ¥BEARBEZERRBXR
(%)

1= B 2 B K2 6L 18 A7 1% (48
TRINTAEEARZABE
EBEREFENEREENEE

assessment: EN =
Gross
Internal 12-month or carrying
2024 Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount
1R2EAREH
—E-IF e RBEETR RAHMEERE RREAE
RMB’ 000
AR¥BTR
Financial assets at amortised costs
RBERAIGNERMEE
Bank balances and cash 22 N/A 12-month ECL 48,484
RITHEBERE NiE A 12EAEREEER
Trade receivables 21 (note i) Lifetime ECL 2,125
& U BR 5K (Bt ) HEHEERE
Bills receivables 21 (note i) Lifetime ECL 520
FEREE (PM&E1) THEHEERE
Other receivables 21 (note ii) 12-month ECL 2,599
H it & Y2 KR (PM & i) 12EAARBPEERR
(note iii) Lifetime ECL 7,178
(Bft = i) rHRBEERE

B S A TR A A
—E-mEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

33, @R T A (&)

(b)

BHERABEEREERBEE
(%)

1= B 2 B K 6l 18 77 1% (48

Gross
Internal 12-month or carrying
2023 Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount
1218 A2 8
—E-=F st AHEETR HHEEEE RHAE
RMB’000
AREBT T
Financial assets at amortised costs
RBERASENEREE
Bank balances and cash 22 N/A 12-month ECL 45,444
RITERRRSE NiE A 12EAEHEEER
Trade receivables 21 (note i) Lifetime ECL 2,510
& o B X (PM&E1) rHREHESERR
Bills receivables 21 (note i) Lifetime ECL 300
Bl F & (PM&E1) rHEHESERR
Other receivables 21 (note ii) 12-month ECL 10,247
H fth & U ;R (PM & ii) 12 A AR EEEE
(note iii) Lifetime ECL 5115
(Bft & i) THEBMEEER
Notes: B aE -

(if)

(iii)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for items that are subject to individual evaluation,
which are assessed for impairment individually, the Group
determines the ECL on these items by past due status.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, these balances are neither not past
due or have fixed repayment.

The directors of the Company considers credit risks have
increased significantly and those debts past due more than 90
days are considered as credit-impaired.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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()

(i)

(iii)

REEERMS  AKECEREE
B s RS E RN M LR - BEH
EHERERAESREG - RAE
TENGBENEBECDEBFHRE
S REBRBHBEREEZEFRE
MIRMEEEE -

BRAREERBRERMS  AEEE
BafETHEERRE ML ER
URETEZEN - R_T-_WER
—T-=f+-A=+-8 %I
fR 0 R 360 B B N AR B SR B R o

ARAEFRAEEARD R
§ - 3% % 0 10 89 78 890 A K 3
RRAE TG E A -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPBHERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

33. @R T A (&)

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment
for its customers because these customers have
common risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms. The following
table provides information about the exposure to
credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed
based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired).

(b) ¥BEARBEZERRBXR

(%)

1= B 2 B K2 6 18 77 1 (48
f’E%$EI{DfTHA”‘£¥E’J—
CASEERESANK
‘ﬁ%EWEE\JE'E’JEHZE AR%F
EPAEARRRER  AJRB

EFREBEANGRINMEBEE
HIRIAMEE N - TRIZHAR
FRUEBEXREERRNEN &
FRBRLBEE2MBEHEES

BAmBERER(REREE
AR R o

2024 2023

—E-MF —EC-=F
Average Trade Average Trade
Gross carrying amount loss rate receivables loss rate  receivables
[EECYE FHPBEAE BRER THEXE REREX
Current (not past due) B AR (K 8 8) 0% 374 0% 1,115
Less than 1 month past due #3441 —1{@ A 0% 90 0% 20
1 to 6 months past due BH—=EA 0% 90 0% =
7 to 12 months past due BHEET=@A 0% 270 0% -
Over 1 year past due BHER—F 99% 1,301 99% 1,305
2,125 2,510

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

BErEREDREBEEBARE
HERANBERRENRG
A ERBEFEARASLSE
N A SRR EERHEL
HE-BEEETEMRT&A
B UHERENRFEEB AN
EEAE # -

B S A TR A A
—E-mEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EZE T [YF

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

-

+—A=t+—HILEE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

During the years ended 31 Dece

mber 2024 and 2023,

the Group provided impairment allowance for trade
receivables, based on the provision matrix. The
impairment allowance amounted to RMB1,297,000
(2023: RMB1,301,000) as at 31 December 2024.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables

under the simplified approach.

33, @R T A (&)
(b) ¥HEBREEEEREREK

-
(42

1= B R B % 6l (B 57 1% (&

HE_ZT_MFER-_ZT=-_=F
+T-A=+t—BLEE X&
] AR 5 7 15 4B FE Tk FE UKOBR SR ET
RRAEEHE R_ZT_NF
+-A=+—8B REREA
AR ¥4 297,000(=ZF ==
F: AR¥1,301,0007T) °

T RIRAR & @5 B8 Wk
RERNEHERAEEHRE
@JO

Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
HEHNEE
BER(EHR
FEERHE)
RMB’000
AR® T T
As at 1 January 2023 and RZE_=F—H—B8kK
31 December 2023 —E_=fT-A=+—H 1,301
Written off of trade receivables JE LT B 5K i 8 (4)
As at 31 December 2024 R_FE_WOF+_A=+—H 1,297
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. @@ T A (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) ¥BEAEABEEBEERBE
policies (Continued) (%)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERRRBEFGE)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss R B R B H i 8 U IR B RR
allowances that has been recognised for other WEEREYHR-
receivables.
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
2HEHEE
BiE(BHE
EERMHE)
RMB’000
AR T
As at 1 January 2023 R-ZF_=¥—HA—H 4,470
Impairment loss recognised EERBEEIE 942
Impairment loss reversed VRN R (289)
Written off of other receivables H th & Uk FXIE Bl 5 (289)
As at 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F+-A=+—HK
31 December 2024 —EHWFE+-A=+—H 4,834
FEEEREEBRA A

213

—E-mEER



214 |

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE
33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. @@ T A (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) WERABEEEERBEREK
policies (Continued) (#%&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) =B R R R B EFF (&
Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables Hih B RIBEERENEY
are mainly due to: DEEZEBRR:
2024 2023
“EDmE —ET-o=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’'000

AR®BTFRE ARBTRT

Changes in average loss rate/Net ~ F¥HEBA XK E) Hi8

remeasurement of loss allowance BREEMIEFE - 942
Settlement in full of other receivables & £ 4 1< i@ 1+ 4F E R/ E HY
which were impaired in H b & Y518
previous years - (289)
Write-off of other receivables T 58 H b & U R IE - (289)
- 364
Liquidity risk HEBE L ERE

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to board of directors’ approval. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient amount
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

HE-_Z-_NF+-A=+—HLFE

33. @R T A (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) ¥BEARBEZERRBXR

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued) (&
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEBE2EE(E)

The following tables set out the weighted average
effective interest rate and the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities based on

TREIAKE ZFFITES R
BERBERARZNEFHE
%f‘JT&ﬁ%TD WE - TER

"]5'5 BMIRBEERE(RES

contractual undiscounted cash flows (including B ER (IR ZEB) IR R
interest payments computed using contractual rates & ,Hﬂ RZBITHNEHEZHE
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the NROERAEEETEHEZR
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can FHEmMERE :
be required to pay:
2024 2023
E-mE 5z
Morethan  More than Total Morethan  More than Total
Within ~ 1yearbut 2yearshut contractual Within1~ 1yearbut ~ 2yearshut  contractual
Effective  1yearor  lessthan lessthan undiscounted  Carrying Effective yearor  lessthan lessthan undiscounted Carying
interest rate ~ on demand 2 years Syears  cash flows amount interestrate  on demand 2years 5years  cash flows amount
1k af 15/ afl
8% 1FNL  2ENL REBRE JARE  1ENE  2FNE AEBRS
ERAE  EXERE  oFMm SENAM REHE REE ERAE RER  2ENR  SENA ELE FHE
%  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 % RMB000 RMBOOO  RAMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO
% ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR % ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETI
Non-derivative FiLEBER
Financial liabilities
Trade payables EfER NARER 35,440 = = 35,440 B0 NATER 3,761 = = 3,761 3,761
Amount duetoutimate  ER FEERAFAFE
controling party NATER 3,581 - - 3,581 3581 NATER 231 - - 21 21
Amounts du todirectors ~ EREZHE NAFER 574 - - 574 54 NATEE 64 - - 64 64
Accuedexpensesand R R REMER
other payables #E NA RER 29,344 - - 29,344 234 NATER 31219 = = 31219 31219
Payables for acquisitonof  KEHZ - BE Rl
property, plant ZERFE
and equipment NIA RER 88,377 - - 88,377 88377 NATER 82530 - - 82,530 82,530
Bank and other borowings  RATRERER 3.45%4.50% 24,09 - - 24,09 23400 4.35% 17220 = = 17220 16,500
Convertible bonds TARES 8.26% 3301 - - 3,307 3,296 8.26% = 3,198 - 3,198 2,944
184,719 - - 184,719 184,012 135,088 3,198 - 138,283 187,309
TEEEREEERA

—Z- Ifﬁfﬁiﬁ
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates to
primarily to its fixed-rate borrowings and lease
liabilities. The cash flow interest rate risk of the Group
relates primarily to their variable-rate bank deposits.
The management considers that the exposure to
interest rate risk on bank deposits is insignificant. For
borrowings which are fixed-rate instruments, the
Group is insensitive to any change in interest rates. A
change in interest rates at the end of the reporting
period would not affect profit or loss. The cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of the interest rate to be promulgated by
the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”") arising from the
Group’s RMB denominated lease liabilities. The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group did not have any floating rate borrowings
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 and accordingly,
no sensitivity analysis on interest rate exposure is
presented.

Currency risk

The Group entities operate mainly in Hong Kong and
the PRC with most of its transactions settled in their
respective functional currencies. Certain of the
Company's bank balances are denominated in United
States Dollars (“US$”), however, the directors of the
Company consider the Group’s exposure to US$
currency risk is minimal since HK$ is pegged to USS$.
The directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s exposure on other foreign currency risk is
insignificant, accordingly no sensitivity analysis has
been presented. The management of the Group
continuously monitors the foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging foreign currency risk should
the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

33, @R T A (&)

(b) B EEABEEEERKE
(#&)
FE @B

AEEzXFEMNXERE
HEEE F*&ffﬁﬁﬁ
- AEEZRERENXME
rEEREFBRITERE
M-BEERR RITFERZ
MEREBRAELNEKR - AE
BnEREETAZERZE
AMEEPHRETK - HEH
ReHNEXEHreagEBRE -
BeRENXRAREEEFR
AEENARBHEZEER
BEREEZHEPBEARR?
TATD Rz M EFE - K
%Eﬁ%ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬂ?%ﬁﬁ
R-AM EEHEEERNX
@ﬁ*ﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬂ
HEAREER

T_MER_T_=F
=+—H AEEIE
FEEE BA#eEz7
KRB 2 BEE D -

ﬁﬁﬁ+%

%F °&$H
Kﬁm% PEEEE AR
HTRITA ﬁ%LA%E(f%EJ)
E CAMARAEETRRE
MRABTEETLEHN  X&EE
E%m%ﬁ 5 K [ B B/ o AN

NRIEERB ASEEHBEMN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. @@ T A (&)

(b) ¥BEARBEZERRBXR

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued) (%)
Other price risk Hin B E R
Oil and gas price risk ABRXARERE R

Apart from the financial instruments disclosed above,
the Group’s activities expose it to market risk relating
to oil and gas price risks.

The Group is engaged in a wide range of gas related
activities. The global oil and gas market is affected by
international political, economic and global demand
for and supply of oil and gas. A decrease in the world
prices of cruel oil and gas could adversely affect the
Group's financial position. The Group has not used
any derivative instruments to hedge against potential
price fluctuations of crude oil and refined and gas
products. The management will consider hedging oil
and gas exposure should the need arise.

BEXHHEBEZ BT AN
AEBEYEBEHOAEER
S E B R A R (E R R 48
B2 B A -

AEEREZHEAARBEE
e 2RABRRRRRTSX
BERBOS  &FREZRAH R
AARBERATE - RE LXK
AR ZEHRERTHRAIHAE
Bz AR ER AR E -
AEBIREREMITET
B #h R ERRE MK
AARREMZBEBR RS -
HERER EEEREER
i am R RARERER -

B S A TR A A
—E-mEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE
33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2024 and 2023. Accordingly, no further
information of fair value measurement of financial
instruments is disclosed.

34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following significant capital commitments

33, @R T A (&)
(c) eMIBEZATHEMNE

RZE_NWNERER T - =%
+—_A=+—8 AEBEZK
R EIHK ARz I A
ZCEMEEEATFEBESE X
ZERE A TEFEESMT
BERNTFEFENE—FEFR-

34, BEARALE

AEBEERINEARARNGEFBHRE

contracted but not provided for in the consolidated financial BECERERRENT :
statements:
2024 2023
ZE-OWNFE 2 —_T_=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%Tr
Acquisition of property, plant and WHEME  HRLRE
equipment (including construction (BREEREIR)

in progress)

15,636 10,809
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

35. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 35. 8 RERERKE
OF CASH FLOWS

(i) Changes in liabilities arising from financing () MEZBHELEZEERH
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in TRINTAAFEAEERE A
liabilities arising from financing activities during the BELECAGEE
year:
Amount due
Bank and to ultimate Total liabilities
other  Loan interest Convertible controlling ~ Amountsdue  from financing
borrowings payables bonds party to directors activities
#7R Ef&# RERBEL
AffER  EAERAR TERES BRARE ERESHE 3=
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

KRBT KRBT KRBT KRBT KRBT KRBT

At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%-F-H 19,500 4538 - 1,243 44 25,325
Interest expense recognised BRANERL - 829 43 - - 1,259
Financing cash flows (note) BEREREM) (3,000) (3523) (5713) (7117) () (12.958)
Acquisition of equity interest of - B AR K
a subsidiary - - 8,068 104 - 8,172
Exchange adjustments Ef AR - - 159 (399) % (215)
At 31 December 2023 and RZFZ=§+ZA=1-H
1 January 2024 R-ZE-m%-A-H 16,500 1,844 2,944 231 64 21,583
Interest expense recognised BERRE M - 852 247 - - 1,099
Financing cash flows (note) BEReRe() 6,900 (852) - 3529 499 10,076
Bxchange adjusiments EiAE - - 105 (179) 11 (63)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+=A=1-H 23,400 1,844 3,29 3,581 574 32,695
Note: The cash flows represent (i) net of the proceeds from and B3 - fi EREREOMBRRITREME
repayment of bank and other borrowings and related loan RETBRBEREERITREAME
interest paid, and (ii) the proceeds from and repayment of TM«KJSUH BE N ERFE - K(ii)
convertible bonds, net of payment of issue costs. AMREFMERBERERETR

IRES - IR BT R o

TRERAEREEERA
“esmeza | 219



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE
36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
directors are of the view that the following are related
parties of the Group:

Name of party Relationship

WKERRBRERREEAR Effectively owned 17% equity
(transliterated as Shanxi Qinshui interest in Wanzhi Logistics as a
Prefecture Chengrong Investment  non-controlling shareholder of the
Limited) (“Chengrong Investment”)  subsidiary.

(a) Balances with related parties

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group and the
Company had the following balances with related
parties:

(i) Amounts due to ultimate controlling party/
directors/non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

(ii) Other borrowings

Name of related party

S &8

3. EXBEBAIRS

BE-_T-_NER-_T-_=F+=
A=+—BLEE - EFRA T
BEARAEB ZBEM T
FBERFEB BRE

WKBREREEER FAMBLRAFEKR

EERT RRERBEES
(IEREE]) VDR B 17% B A

(a) EREEEETS 2 A ER

RZEBE_NWNFEER T _=F
+—A=1+—H8 A&EBE LK
A &) B 7 Hsrjj_ﬁ—rﬂ ﬁ?

() BEHRRKERE EE -~
Kt 8 2 B8] Z FE 72 R IR R =4
B
ZERBRTEAREER -
RERBREREE-

(i) HE

2024 2023
—E-mE —E_=fF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®BTFRE ARBTRT

Chengrong Investment 2 & 1% &

10,400 16,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. E X AKX Z (&)

(Continued)

(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) IEEBAEZHM
Remuneration for key management personnel of the AEBFXFEEFBEABZH M
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s (BEDAIRHFEI3RMFE14
directors and the chief executive as disclosed in note BREZENARFESE &M
13 and certain of the highest paid employees as THRABRETHERFMNES
disclosed in note 14, is as follows: ZRE)WAT :

() The Group entered into the following material related (c) BZ_T_MNFR-_T_=F
party transactions during the years ended 31 +ZA=+—BLEFEE K&
December 2024 and 2023: BEEIM NFE NG R

5
2024 2023
—EopmE —ET-=F
Name of related party Nature of transaction RMB’000 RMB’000
BEE A8 REMHE AR®TR AR%Tr
Chengrong Investment Loan interest expense
BERE ERA B X 587 829
FEEBEREEBERA ‘ 221
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e U BRRMKE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

36. EXHBARS (&

*

(d) Acquisition of additional equity interest of a

subsidiary

Acquisition of Additional Equity Interest of
Yangcheng Huiyang

On 16 January 2023, the Company completed the
acquisition of further 20% equity interest of Yangcheng
Huiyang after fulfilment of the sales and purchase
agreement. On the same day, 93,375,000
Consideration Shares, and the Convertible Bonds in
the aggregate principal amount of HK$11,000,000
were issued by the Company to the vendor, Mr. Wang
Zhong Sheng, the chairman and chief executive
director of the Company. Details of the acquisition is
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 30
September 2022, 12 December 2022, 3 January 2023
and 16 January 2023.

Connected Transaction — Acquisition of Additional
Equity Interest of Yangcheng Huiyang

On 28 March 2023, Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntai, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, submitted a
bid for acquiring the remaining 20% equity interest
(held by Yangcheng Yangtai) in Yangcheng Huiyang
with a bidding price of RMB6,723,800 through
participating in the bid invitation, auction and listing
organised by the Shanxi Property Trading Market* ( L
A E#R S M), The acquisition was completed
on 19 April 2023, and the Group has been interested
in aggregate in the entire equity interest of Yangcheng
Huiyang, and Yangcheng Huiyang became an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Yangcheng Yangtai is a substantial shareholder of
Yangcheng Huiyang, and therefore a connected
person of the Company at the subsidiary level. As
such, the Acquisition also constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

For identification purposes only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. ZARIFEFEMEB AR 21
OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 RZEZ_WMER_FT_=F+=A
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: =t+—H XRFEFEMBERAAZ
ES-RUNNE
Proportion of ownership interest
ALl
2024 2023
gl 3 it S 3
Name of subsidiary Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up share/
establishment/ registered capital
operations Direct Indirect Direct Indirect  Principal activities
WEARER EREY/ BEATRAMRE/
R/ BEh% EMERFE EE & E#% Mg TEEEH
WEEGHIERERERER AR PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100% - Investment holding
(transliterated as Shanxi Yangcheng A HK$83,000,000 REAR
Shuntai Energy Development Company &R
Limited) (“Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntai”) 83,000,000/ 7T
(notes (a))
WEEHIERERERER AR
(ML AEBRIEZR]) (5 (a)
Shanxi Qinshui (notes (a) and (d)) PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100% - Manufacture and sales of
W70k (P 3 () R () A HK$350,000,000 liquefied coalbed gas
EMER EERBERILEER
350,000,000/ 7T
ML ERERER AR PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100% - Sales of liquefied
(transliterated as Hebei Shuntai Energy & RMB87,280,000 coalbed gas
Company Limited) (note (a)) AR HERILEER
A IEZ R AR R A (M3 (a)) AR #87,280,0007
WAEEMRERAR PRC Registered capital of - 83% - 83%  Provision of liquefied
(transliterated as Shanxi Wanzhi H RMBG60,000,000 coalbed gas
Logistics Limited) (“Wanzhi Logistics”) i & A logistics services
(note (c)) AR %60,000,00070 RER(CEER MRS
WESSNRERAR(ESNR])
(& (c)
Hong Kong Chung Wo Energy Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Investments Limited )i 13T REAR

BRPNEREFRAERAR

FEREREEBFRA A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-T-JF+-_A=+—HILtFE

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. Z AR FEMB AR Z2H1E

OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
Proportion of ownership interest
R A&t Al
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Name of subsidiary Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up share/
establishment/ registered capital
operations Direct Indirect Direct Indirect  Principal activities
WEARER EREL/ BRARBARE/
RY/BEh% EmERFE E# & B#% Bk TEEE
BRESGIEREERABAR PRC Registered capital of - 100% - 100%  Exploration, development
(transliterated as Yangcheng Huiyang & RMB30,000,000 and production of
New Energy Development A A coalbed methane
Company Limited) A& 30,000,007 B FBEREERER
(“Yangcheng Huiyang”) (note (b))
BHEBGMERERARAR
(5 =] (M (b))
wfE (R eI ENRBERAR PRC Registered capital of = 100% = 100%  Manufacturing and sales
(transliterated as Nuoxin (Xian County) RMB47,564,900 of PE gas pipelines
Engineering Materials Company Limited) A A EERBEBRLBER
(“Nuoxin Engineering”) (note (b)) AR %47 564,900 g

Wi (BE) BRI R ARAA
(FEETRDMNE®D)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. ZARIFEFEMEB AR 21

OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company EERABLEERAIARAIZHEBER
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected ARFEXERNEE I EENEE
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other E-BEERE REHEMKERF
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in ZHABEERREARITK -

particulars of excessive length.

Notes: M 5

(a) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned foreign (@) WREFEEIEAMARIEBEELE -
enterprise.

(b)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability enterprise. (b) WREFBEEFMAEBREMELE-

(c) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a Sino-foreign equity joint (c) WREBEPEZEFEIAMRPINEGERE -
venture.

(d)  The registered capital of Shanxi Qinshui was HK$350,000,000, of (d) WA IKZ &M E A & 350,000,000 7%
which HK$240,000,000 (2023: HK$240,000,000) has been paid up T BEET-_NME+=-_A=+—8"
as at 31 December 2024. H #1240,000,000 (= T = = 4 :

240,000,0007% 7T) B & ft °

hEREREEERA T
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EHZ—Z

38.

39.

—MFE+—_A=+—RHLFE
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION
Share premium reduction

At a special general meeting of the Company held on 6
March 2023, it was approved that the share premium
account will be reduced. Details of the share premium
reduction is set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 16 January 2023, 9 February 2023 and 6 March
2023, and the circular of the Company dated 9 February
2023.

LITIGATION

On 12 August 2021, FEEERBRRE A FChina United
Coalbed Methane Co., Ltd. (“CUCBM?) (the “Plaintiff”) filed a
civil lawsuit (case number: (2021)520105K%]192964) with
Chaoyang District People’s Court in Beijing against
Yangcheng Shun An (FE#JlE%) and Shanxi Yangcheng
Shuntai (ILUFERGHEDE) (the “Defendants”), both being
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. The Plaintiff
demanded payment of approximately RMB22,311,000 for
unpaid upfront exploration fees, other expenses under the
Cooperation Contract, (as defined below) and a penalty of
approximately RMB5,293,000 (the “Penalty”) for breach of
the said contract.

The case originated on 17 March 2014, when Yangcheng
Shun An and the Plaintiff signed the “Coalbed Methane
Resource Exploration and Development Cooperation
Contract” (the “Cooperation Contract”), where Yangcheng
Shun An would pay for expenses in respect of exploration
operations. The upfront exploration amounted to
RMB30,000,000 pursuant to the Cooperation Contract, of
which RMB10,000,000 (the “Exploration Fee”) was paid to
the Plaintiff after the said contract became effective. As of
16 March 2017, due to the lack of recorded coalbed
methane reserves within the contract area by the Ministry of
Land and Resources, the Cooperation Contract was
terminated with a remaining amount of RMB20,000,000
being unpaid.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

38.

39.

FEHFREXS
Rl Rk B 4D 8 B

REARBR T _=F=AHE
T Z R EFRI ARG £ HE R A
0 (B Bk o BB A 0 )4 (B 2 S 15 8
RARBBEHAS-_FT-_=F—H
TREB - ZE_=F-_AABRZC
E_=F=ARNBAZRMARER
AAPA-_FT_=F_ANBZA
IQIO

BN

RZZTEZ—FNA+=H " RBE
BEREBREEARI(HEERER]
(TREDAIEEmEABGE AR ER
REBHEAQBZZ2ENB ARG
JEZ RILTEBHIER(THE])RSE

E*f\(lﬂ#fﬁﬁ (2021) ;R 0105 R #1]
92964) - REBXRIZEEAR(EH

ETY)S'ZH?KS'ZHE’\JHI HR B
ARkEMERNARK22311,000
T URERAERAMNIRHARE
5,293,000 T ([EH&]) °

ZRUHEBEN-_Z—NF=A++
H BHRIEZEFEZEE(EERE
BRMWGEHRZEEEER) (&S
B BHIEZ AL SHEREED
ER -GEERAOTHABAHESE
A A A R #30,000,0007 © HF A
R #10,000,000t([HHEZE ) E R
EREBMEINTRE - HEZT
—+tF=A+ "B BHRELER
HRBEEARFANKEERFERL
8 AEARERILE FHRESEA
R # 20,000,000 7T & 3 £+ »
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE

39. LITIGATION (Continued)

On 28 June 2023, the Chaoyang District People’s Court of
Beijing issued a first-instance judgment demanding that
Yangcheng Shun An compensate the Plaintiff for
exploration fees and other expenses totaling approximately
RMB22,067,000, but rejected the Penalty claim.

On 7 July 2023, case number: (2023) R03 R # 16192,
Yangcheng Shun An appealed to the Beijing Third
Intermediate People’'s Court, requesting a legal judgment to
reject all claims of the Plaintiff and to return the
RMB10,000,000 of the Exploration Fees to Yangcheng Shun
An. The grounds for appeal were that the Cooperation
Contract had undergone substantial changes in its content
and that the Plaintiff had no evidence to prove it used the
Exploration Fees and, therefore had no right to demand the
payment of related expenses incurred pursuant to the
Cooperation Contract from Yangcheng Shun An. However,
on 16 January 2014, the Beijing Third Intermediate People’s
Court had made a legal judgment (Second-instance
judgment) to reject all the appeal. As Yangcheng Shun An
was absorbed and merged by Yangcheng Huiyang,
Yangcheng Huiyang and Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntai should
bear the responsibility cooperatively.

As of 31 December 2024, the relevant amount payable of
approximately RMB22,000,000 has been recorded and
included in payables for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment as stated in Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

39. =R (&)

RZEBE-_=FAZ+NA\HBH: IR
MG E ARER EH —F R -
EXREHIELEERSHERE RH
fit 2 A & # 4 AR #¥22,067,000
T EBEREBEBAEREOSHFABK -

RZZE_=FtAtH BHIEZR
EEME=ZFFARERIE R LR
(R : (2023) L0342 16192)
ERELZERAR BEREMNZ
AR K - WA G E R R & B
& A R#10,000,0007C ° + & &
HAEAEARMNAREREEARE
It REYTEBFBEFHEZLEHF
E AhEERBSIEEREXRS
WIEZ ZSHEBER - Al R
Z-—mOMFE—-—A+ B dERmE=
PRARZEZRELEZHR(ZE
HR)  BEI2H EHF - AREHE
B R U A GG B R - BS54 = 5 B
WL PR RS I IE 2= fE R R EE (F -

HE-_ZT_WF+=_A=+—8H"
WANER G B 5 R R MY FE23 Fr - 4B
8 FE 1 ;1B 49 A K % 22,000,000 7T
EARLEGAKBEYE  #EBRR
B FRIE -

B S A TR A A
—E-mEER
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T EHBERE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE—ZT -G +-_A=+—HILFE
RESULTS E
For the year ended 31 December
BEt-B=t+-ALEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“EBEComE —TE-=F Z—T-— —E-—F Z—E-FF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TET TET
Revenue Yz 243,568 239,421 326,509 215,125 179,329

(Loss)/profit from operations ~ KEEBKEL Y

(B8),/ &7 (28,684) (3,495) 109,797 14,152 (4,948)
Finance costs BisER (1,099) (1,259) (2,575) (7,788) (8,127)
Reversal of impairment/ MmE - HERRE
(impairment loss) on property, A {E &M@,/
plant and equipment (REEE) - 6,853 22,129 (26,376) (23,355)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRFi A0 (B1R), & A (29,783) 2,099 129,351 (20,012) (36,430)
Income tax (expense)/credit MEHRGEX),/ Er (4,863) 56 (7,240) 346 206
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE(ER),/ &7 (34,646) 2,155 122,111 (19,666) (36,224)
Attributable to : INIES T
Equity shareholders of ARRERRE
the Company (34,645) 2,530 127,293 (2,236) (40,627)
Non-controlling interests IR R (1) (375) (5,182) (17,430) 4,403
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE(BR)/ &7 (34,646) 2,155 122,111 (19,666) (36,224)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
At 31 December
R+=A=t+-8
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-mE -—T-= —ET- S Z—E_FTF

HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TRT TR TR TR

Total assets BEE 327,749 338,338 464,169 467,940 502,648
Total liabilities Be (204697)  (177.537)  (220,158)  (353271)  (383.854)
123,052 160,801 244,011 114,669 118,794
Attributable to: ToI% 75 Rk :
Equity shareholders of ARAEHRE
the Company 127,269 165,017 295,981 161,622 147,739
Non-controlling interests kR (4,217) (4,216) (51,970) (46,953) (28,945)
123,052 160,801 244,011 114,669 118,794
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